
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




DRAFT STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, March 22, 2021 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  1 


Location:   Online Attendance: GoToMeeting ID 142-953-661. 


Members Present: Citizen Member David Erdman (Chair), Alderperson Regina Hirsch, 


Alderperson Greg Jenson, Mayor Tim Swadley, Citizen Member Dustin 


Thoren 


Excused: Citizen Member John Kallas 


Absent: Alderperson Ben Heili (Vice-Chair) 


Others Present: Stoughton Director of Finance & Comptroller Jamin Friedl, Stoughton Utilities 


Assistant Director Brian Hoops, Alderperson Jean Ligocki, Stoughton Utilities 


Operations Specialist Martin Seffens, Stoughton Utilities and WPPI Energy 


Services Manager Amy Wanek, Stoughton Utilities Director Jill Weiss 


Call to Order:  Utilities Committee Chairperson David Erdman called the regular Stoughton Utilities 


Committee Meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 


Utilities Committee Consent Agenda:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton 


Utilities Committee consent agenda items.   


Motion by Hirsch, the motion seconded by Jenson, to approve the following consent agenda items as 


presented:  


a. Draft Minutes of the February 15, 2021 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


b. Stoughton Utilities February Payments Due List Report 


c. Stoughton Utilities December Financial Summary 


d. Stoughton Utilities January Financial Summary 


e. Stoughton Utilities January Statistical Report 


f. Stoughton Utilities January Activities Report 


g. Stoughton Utilities February Activities Report 


h. Communications 


The motion carried unanimously 5 to 0. 


Status of the Utilities Committee recommendation(s) to the Stoughton Common Council:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff presented and discussed the following items from the Stoughton Utilities Committee that were 


approved and/or placed on file by the Stoughton Common Council: 


Consent Agenda:  


1. Minutes of the November 16, 2020 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


2. Stoughton Utilities November Payments Due List Report 


3. Stoughton Utilities December Payments Due List Report 


4. Stoughton Utilities January Payments Due List Report 


5. Stoughton Utilities October Financial Summary 


6. Stoughton Utilities November Financial Summary 


7. Stoughton Utilities October Statistical Report 


8. Stoughton Utilities November Statistical Report 


9. Stoughton Utilities December Statistical Report 



bhoops

Highlight







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, February 15, 2021 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  1 


Location:   Online Attendance: GoToMeeting ID 443-556-925. 


Members Present: Citizen Member David Erdman (Chair), Alderperson Ben Heili (Vice-Chair), 


Alderperson Regina Hirsch, Alderperson Greg Jenson, Citizen Member John 


Kallas, Mayor Tim Swadley, Citizen Member Dustin Thoren 


Excused: None 


Absent: None 


Others Present: Stoughton Director of Finance & Comptroller Jamin Friedl, Stoughton Utilities 


Assistant Director Brian Hoops, Stoughton Utilities and WPPI Energy Services 


Manager Amy Wanek, Stoughton Utilities Director Jill Weiss 


Call to Order:  Utilities Committee Chairperson David Erdman called the regular Stoughton Utilities 


Committee Meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 


Utilities Committee Consent Agenda:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton 


Utilities Committee consent agenda items.   


Staff highlighted ongoing sustainability efforts, including working with City of Stoughton staff to review the 


Office of Energy Innovation Grant Program.  It was ultimately decided by staff that a grant application was 


unlikely to be awarded due to insufficient funding available for some projects, or lengthy returns on 


investment for others. 


Staff highlighted a recent cyber security breach at a Florida water utility, where a malicious actor was able 


to access the utilities supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) system through an unsecured 


remote access.  Staff discussed SU’s cyber security efforts. 


Staff highlighted the success of the December curbside donation drive, which collected 2,400 pounds of 


nonperishable food items for Stoughton area food pantries. 


Motion by Hirsch, the motion seconded by Jenson, to approve the following consent agenda items as 


presented:  


a. Draft Minutes of the November 16, 2020 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


b. Stoughton Utilities November Payments Due List Report 


c. Stoughton Utilities December Payments Due List Report 


d. Stoughton Utilities January Payments Due List Report 


e. Stoughton Utilities October Financial Summary 


f. Stoughton Utilities November Financial Summary 


g. Stoughton Utilities October Statistical Report 


h. Stoughton Utilities November Statistical Report 


i. Stoughton Utilities December Statistical Report 


j. Stoughton Utilities December Statistical Report 


k. Stoughton Utilities November Activities Report 


l. Stoughton Utilities December Activities Report 


m. Communications 


The motion carried unanimously 7 to 0. 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, February 15, 2021 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  2 


Status of the Utilities Committee recommendation(s) to the Stoughton Common Council:  Stoughton 


Utilities staff presented and discussed the following items from the Stoughton Utilities Committee that were 


approved and/or placed on file by the Stoughton Common Council: 


Consent Agenda:  


1. Draft Minutes of the October 19, 2020 Regular Utilities Committee Meeting 


2. Stoughton Utilities October Payments Due List Report 


3. Stoughton Utilities September Financial Summary 


4. Stoughton Utilities September Statistical Report 


Business:  


1. None 


Discussion followed. 


Ordinance to Create Sections 74-2 (h) and (i) of the City of Stoughton Code of Ordinances, Relating 


to the Replacement of Indirect Sanitary Sewer Service Lateral Connections:  Stoughton Utilities staff 


presented and discussed a draft ordinance that would require privately-owned sanitary sewer service 


connection lines be connected directly to the public system, and where any indirect service connections are 


discovered, provides a method to require such indirect connections be relocated  to directly connect to the 


public system.  This ordinance is intended to address scenarios where a home or building on one parcel 


has a sanitary sewer service line that connects to service line that provides service to a home or building on 


a neighboring parcel.  Utilities staff is aware of several locations where such connections exist, and 


examples of the issues that can arise from such indirect connections were given.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by Hirsch, the motion seconded by Thoren, to approve creating Sections 74-2 (h) and (i) of the City 


of Stoughton Code of Ordinances, relating to the replacement of indirect sanitary sewer service lateral 


connections, and recommend approval of the adopting ordinance to the Stoughton Common Council.  The 


motion carried unanimously 7 to 0.   


Approval of the Fiber Optic Agreement and Grant of Indefeasible Right of Use (IRU) Between the City 


of Stoughton and TDS Metrocom:   Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed a draft agreement 


in which TDS Metrocom has agreed to provide Stoughton Utilities with dedicated, unlit strands of fiber optic 


cable to all Stoughton Utilities facilities for a negotiated, reduced up-front cost.  Staff further explained that 


the document provided in the meeting pack was a draft that was believed to be nearly final, however 


continued discussions with legal counsel indicate that there may be revisions required.  Discussion followed. 


Motion by Erdman, the motion seconded by Heili, to table this item until an upcoming special meeting to be 


scheduled upon recommendation of approval by legal counsel.  The motion carried unanimously 7 to 0.   


Stoughton Utilities Round-Up Program:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Stoughton 


Utilities Round-Up Program.  A brief description and history of staff’s efforts to recruit new organizations to 


apply for funding was provided to the committee.  This is the second of two donations to be made using 


2020 program funding, with an applicant pool of 18 local non-profit organizations.  Discussion followed.   


Motion by Jenson to donate $1,000 from the Stoughton Utilities Round-Up Program fund to the Stoughton 


Village Players.  The motion failed due to the lack of a second. 


Motion by Hirsch, the motion seconded by Thoren, to donate $500 to Folks Wagons, Inc. and $500 to Society 


of St. Vincent de Paul St. Ann Conference from the Stoughton Utilities Round-Up Program fund.  The motion 


carried unanimously 7 to 0. 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, February 15, 2021 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  3 


Approval of the Common Facilities Agreement Between the City of Stoughton and American 


Transmission Company LLC:   Stoughton Utilities staff presented and discussed the Common Facilities 


Agreement (CFA) between the City of Stoughton and American Transmission Company, LLC (ATCLLC).  


Staff explained that the Stoughton Electric Utility shares common facilities with ATCLLC at our East 


Substation and West Substation, and that the CFA specifies a method of requesting, performing, and 


compensating for improvements and replacements of common facilities at joint use substations.  The current 


CFA was last updated on December 12, 2007.  Discussion followed. 


Motion by Hirsch, the motion seconded by Kallas, to approve the Common Facilities Agreement between 


the City of Stoughton and American Transmission Company LLC, and authorize the execution of the revised 


agreement.  The motion carried unanimously 7 to 0. 


Notice of Potential Audit Deficiency Findings During 2020 Financial Audit:  Stoughton Utilities and City 


of Stoughton staff presented and discussed several ongoing issues that would likely result in deficiency 


findings from our financial auditors.  These potential deficiencies were related to inventory management and 


reconciliation due to the ongoing systemwide pole replacement project, and accounts payable approvals 


and routing delays at year-end.  Staff discussed the memo included in the meeting packet that described 


the causes of these issues and how they are being addressed going forward.  Staff stated that the financial 


auditors found staff’s explanations satisfactory and that staff does not expect these issues to rise to the level 


of a significant deficiency or a material weakness in the audit management letter.  Staff explained that the 


utility did not incur any interest or penalties due to these issues.  Discussion followed. 


Wisconsin Public Service Commission Electric Billing Audit:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and 


discussed the recent billing audit of the electric utility conducted by the Wisconsin Public Service 


Commission (WPSC).  The WPSC conducts these audits to ensure that proper billing and collections 


procedures are in place and being followed so that customers’ bills are accurate and processes are 


consistent with the WPSC Administrative Code and Wisconsin State Statutes.   


Staff informed the committee that the WPSC billing audit of Stoughton Utilities began in February 2019 and 


concluded in May 2020.  One billing requirement required a corrective action plan to be submitted to the 


WPSC and modifications made to municipal street lighting customers’ billing statements.  In February 2021, 


the WPSC reviewed the corrective actions taken, determined that all audit findings had been resolved, and 


officially closed out the billing audit.  Discussion followed. 


Lead Service Line Replacement Program Status Update:  Stoughton Utilities staff presented and 


discussed efforts that have occurred in the 18 months since the utility was notified of the lead action 


exceedance.  Many efforts have been completed or are currently underway as staff proceeds with the 


planned program to replace lead service lines throughout the City of Stoughton.  Staff presented and 


discussed the continuation of our public education program to the community on lead service lines and the 


upcoming systemwide lead replacement project being undertaken in 2021, discussed the grant application 


submitted to the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources for funding to replace customer-owned lead 


service lines, discussed the upcoming 2021 lead service line replacement project and the status of project 


design and bidding, and discussed current efforts being taken by staff to identify lead service lines and 


provide homeowners with the required notice of mandatory replacement.  Discussion followed. 


Utilities Committee Future Agenda Items:  Staff informed the committee that upcoming regular meeting 


topics will include lead service line replacement program status updates and bid award, updates to the status 


of SU’s Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) grant application, a collections status update, 







STOUGHTON UTILITIES COMMITTEE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
Monday, February 15, 2021 – 5:30 p.m. 
Stoughton, WI  
Page No.  4 


and a presentation on utility, city, and community sustainability efforts.  The dark fiber agreement will be 


brought forward for approval at a future special meeting.  Discussion followed. 


Adjournment:  Being no further business before the committee, the Chair adjourned the regular Stoughton 


Utilities Committee Meeting at 6:50 p.m.   


Respectfully submitted 


Brian R. Hoops 


Stoughton Utilities Assistant Director 







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


01:51PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


1 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 3/4/2021


Thursday, March 04, 2021


Description


7430Company:


VO for check batch: 310205/VO for check batch: 


310205


EP002136 516 WELLS FARGO BANK2/8/2021  47,797.96


WPPI-Renewabl Energy/WPPI-Renewabl 


Energy/WPPI-Buy Back Solar Credit/WPPI-Buy 


Back Solar Credit/WPPI-Large Power/WPPI-Large 


Power/WPPI-Support Services/WPPI-Support 


Services/WPPI-Support Services/WPPI-Support 


Services/WPPI-Support Services/More...


HC002137 009 WPPI2/9/2021  808,501.84


Charter-Feb Ach/Charter-Feb Ach/Charter-Feb 


Ach/Charter-Feb Ach/Charter-Feb Ach/Charter-Feb 


Ach/Charter-Feb Ach/Charter-Feb Ach


HC002138 547 Charter Communications-Ach2/28/2021  431.08


Alliant Energy - Feb Ach/Alliant Energy - Feb 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Feb Ach/Alliant Energy - Feb 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Feb Ach/Alliant Energy - Feb 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Feb Ach/Alliant Energy - Feb 


Ach/Alliant Energy - Feb Ach/Alliant Energy - Feb 


Ach+


HC002139 003 Alliant Energy - Ach2/28/2021  2,602.27


Federal Taxes-Feb Ach/Federal Taxes-Feb 


Ach/Federal Taxes-Feb Ach/Federal Taxes-Feb 


Ach/Federal Taxes-Feb Ach/Federal Taxes-Feb 


Ach/Federal Taxes-Feb Ach/Federal Taxes-Feb Ach


HC002140 025 Payroll Federal Taxes- Ach2/28/2021  31,004.18


State Taxes - Feb Ach/State Taxes - Feb Ach/State 


Taxes - Feb Ach/State Taxes - Feb Ach


HC002141 008 Payroll  State Taxes - Ach2/28/2021  5,981.08


EBC - Feb Ach/EBC - Feb Ach/EBC - Feb Ach/EBC 


- Feb Ach/EBC - Feb Ach/EBC - Feb Ach/EBC - 


Feb Ach/EBC - Feb Ach


HC002142 002 Employee Benefits Corp - Ach2/28/2021  661.48


TDS Metrocom - Feb Ach/TDS Metrocom - Feb 


Ach/TDS Metrocom - Feb Ach/TDS Metrocom - Feb 


Ach/TDS Metrocom - Feb Ach/TDS Metrocom - Feb 


Ach/TDS Metrocom - Feb Ach/TDS Metrocom - Feb 


Ach


HC002143 007 TDS Metrocom - Ach2/28/2021  495.25


Client Analysis-Feb Ach/Client Analysis-Feb 


Ach/Client Analysis-Feb Ach/Client Analysis-Feb 


Ach/Client Analysis-Feb Ach/Client Analysis-Feb 


Ach/Client Analysis-Feb Ach/Client Analysis-Feb 


Ach


HC002144 020 Wells Fargo Bank-Ach2/28/2021  10,940.68







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


01:52PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


2 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 3/4/2021


Thursday, March 04, 2021


Description


Dept of Rev-Feb Ach/Dept of Rev-Feb Ach/Dept of 


Rev-Feb Ach/Dept of Rev-Feb Ach


HC002145 010 WI Dept. of Revenue Taxpayment-Ach2/28/2021  17,941.30


Gordon Flesch-Feb Ach/Gordon Flesch-Feb 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-Feb Ach/Gordon Flesch-Feb 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-Feb Ach/Gordon Flesch-Feb 


Ach/Gordon Flesch-Feb Ach/Gordon Flesch-Feb 


Ach


HC002146 856 GORDON FLESCH COMPANY, INC.2/28/2021  779.99


AT&T - Feb Ach/AT&T - Feb Ach/AT&T - Feb 


Ach/AT&T - Feb Ach


HC002147 952 AT&T2/28/2021  175.69


Delta Dental - Feb Ach/Delta Dental - Feb Ach/Delta 


Dental - Feb Ach/Delta Dental - Feb Ach/Delta 


Dental - Feb Ach/Delta Dental - Feb Ach


HC002148 001 Delta Dental - Ach2/28/2021  1,746.80


Us Cellular - Feb Ach/Us Cellular - Feb Ach/Us 


Cellular - Feb Ach/Us Cellular - Feb Ach/Us Cellular 


- Feb Ach/Us Cellular - Feb Ach


HC002149 004 Us Cellular - Ach2/28/2021  1,624.59


First Data-Feb Ach/First Data-Feb Ach/First 


Data-Feb Ach/First Data-Feb Ach/First Data-Feb 


Ach/First Data-Feb Ach/First Data-Feb Ach/First 


Data-Feb Ach


HC002150 421 FIRST DATA CHARGES2/28/2021  30.52


J Parisi-Deposit Refund/J Parisi-Deposit RefundCK027364 061 JOSH PARISI2/4/2021  428.71


Inkworks-CTC Incentives/Inkworks-TDS Pole 


Replacements/Inkworks-TDS Pole 


Replacements/Inkworks-CTC 


Incentives/Inkworks-LSL Door 


Hangers/Inkworks-LSL Door Hangers


CK027365 166 INKWORKS, INC.2/4/2021  896.04


S Vagedes-Deposit Refund/S Vagedes-Deposit 


Refund


CK027366 185 SARA VAGEDES2/4/2021  240.90


Brogin-Deposit Refund/Brogin-Deposit RefundCK027367 295 BROGIN INVESTMENTS STEVE BROWN2/4/2021  142.82


Colorcon-Customer Refund/Colorcon-Customer 


Refund


CK027368 874 COLORCON FINANCE DEPT2/4/2021  7,356.20


City Stoton-Feb A Def Comp/City Stoton-Feb A Def 


Comp


CK027369 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON2/4/2021  4,698.75


WRWA-Membership Renewal/WRWA-Membership 


Renewal


CK027370 548 WISCONSIN RURAL WATER ASSOC.2/4/2021  585.00







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


01:52PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


3 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 3/4/2021


Thursday, March 04, 2021


Description


Gordon Flesch-Copy Mach maint/Gordon-void eft 


100338/Gordon Flesch-Copy Mach 


maint/Gordon-void eft 100338/Gordon-void eft 


100338/Gordon Flesch-Copy Mach 


maint/Gordon-void eft 100338/Gordon Flesch-Copy 


Mach maint/Gordon Flesch-Copy Mach 


maint/More...


ZC027371 856 GORDON FLESCH COMPANY, INC.2/4/2021  0.00


M Dahle-Customer Refund/M Dahle-Customer 


Refund


CK027372 094 MARJORIE DAHLE OR LYNN FIORE2/4/2021  6.00


Insight-fuel/Insight-fuel/Insight-fuel/Insight-fuel/Insig


ht-fuel/Insight-fuel


CK027373 451 INSIGHT FS2/4/2021  745.96


M Danforth-Customer Refund/M Danforth-Customer 


Refund


CK027374 590 MARY DANFORTH2/4/2021  6.05


D Westby-Customer Refund/D Westby-Customer 


Refund


CK027375 591 DEREK WESTBY2/4/2021  268.28


M Hamilton-Plumbing Work/M Hamilton-Plumbing 


Work


CK027376 839 MATT HAMILTON2/4/2021  6,500.00


Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/


Resco-Inventory/Resco-Supplies/Resco-Inventory/R


esco-Inventory/Resco-Supplies/Resco-Supplies/Re


sco-Supplies/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Res


co-Supplies/Resco-Supplies


CK027377 400 RESCO2/4/2021  13,784.38


Strand-Zink Power/Strand-Dvorak 


Development/Strand-Zink Power/Strand-19 


Construction/Strand-19 Construction/Strand-19 


Construction/Strand-20 Construction/Strand-19 


Construction/Strand-21 LSL Replac/Strand-21 LSL 


Replac/Strand-20 Construction/More...


CK027378 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.2/4/2021  22,236.49


Commonwealth-Lead Lines/Commonwealth-Lead 


Lines


CK027379 683 COMMONWEALTH HERITAGE GROUP, INC.2/4/2021  3,817.38


Core & Main-Curb box/Core & Main-Curb boxCK027380 816 CORE & MAIN LP2/4/2021  100.00


Boardman-License Agreement/Boardman-License 


Agreement


CK027381 865 BOARDMAN & CLARK LLP2/4/2021  252.00


Hydro Corp-Cross Conn/Hydro Corp-Cross ConnCK027382 967 HYDRO CORP2/4/2021  791.00


Dance Dimension-Cust Refund/Dance 


Dimension-Cust Refund


CK027383 997 DANCE DIMENSIONS SHAWNE STRATTON2/4/2021  61.30







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


01:52PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


4 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 3/4/2021


Thursday, March 04, 2021


Description


Stafford-Attorney Fees/Stafford-Attorney 


Fees/Stafford-Attorney fees/Stafford-Attorney 


fees/Stafford-Attorney fees/Stafford-Attorney 


Fees/Stafford-Attorney fees/Stafford-Attorney 


Fees/Stafford-Attorney Fees/Stafford-Attorney Fees


CK027384 186 STAFFORD ROSENBAUM LLC2/4/2021  8,326.50


Stella Jones-Inventory/Stella Jones-Inventory/Stella 


Jones-Inventory/Stella Jones-Inventory


CK027385 620 STELLA JONES CORPORATION2/4/2021  22,184.00


City Stoton-Reimbursement/City 


Stoton-Reimbursement


CK027386 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON2/11/2021  830.75


Schweitzer-Upgrades/Schweitzer-UpgradesCK027387 222 SCHWEITZER ENGINEERING LABORATORIES, INC.2/11/2021  11,100.00


Siemens-Upgrade projects/Siemens-Upgrade 


projects


CK027388 443 SIEMENS INDUSTRY, INC.2/11/2021  87,640.00


VO for check batch: 310205/VO for check batch: 


310205


CK027389 516 WELLS FARGO BANK2/11/2021  9.89


Dept of Admin-Pub Ben/Dept of Admin-Pub BenCK027390 539 DEPT OF ADMIN-WISMART VENDOR #396028867 E2/11/2021  16,583.23


WPPI-Reimbursement/WPPI-ReimbursementCK027391 653 WI PUBLIC POWER, INC.2/11/2021  739.47


Border States-Supplies/Border States-SuppliesCK027392 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY2/11/2021  879.35


Hooper-Pole Rep/Hooper-Pole Rep/Hooper-Pole 


Rep/Hooper-Pole Rep/Hooper-Pole 


Rep/Hooper-Pole Rep/Hooper-Pole 


Rep/Hooper-Pole Rep/Hooper-Pole 


Rep/Hooper-Pole Rep/Hooper-Pole 


Rep/Hooper-Pole Rep/Hooper-Pole 


Rep/Hooper-Pole Rep/Hooper-Pole Rep/More...


CK027393 386 HOOPER CORPORATION2/11/2021  482,766.59


Martelle-Sodium Hypo Bulk/Martelle-Sodium Hypo 


Bulk


CK027394 487 MARTELLE WATER TREATMENT2/11/2021  682.50


Jims-Trimming GA_3-P1/Jims-Trimming 


GA_3-P1/Jims-Trimming GA_3-P2/Jims-Trimming 


GA_3-P2/Jims-Trimming GA_1/Jims-Trimming 


GA_1/Jims-Trimming EA_4/Jims-Trimming EA_4


CK027395 780 JIMS TREE SERVICE INC2/11/2021  3,692.50


MPIC-Property Ins/MPIC-Property 


Ins/MPIC-Property Ins/MPIC-Property 


Ins/MPIC-Property Ins/MPIC-Property Ins


CK027396 881 MUNICIPAL PROPERTY INSURANCE CO.2/11/2021  53,734.00







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


01:52PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


5 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 3/4/2021


Thursday, March 04, 2021


Description


Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/


Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/


Resco-Supplies/Resco-Supplies/Resco-Supplies/Re


sco-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Supplies/Res


co-Inventory/Resco-Inventory/Resco-Supplies/Resc


o-Supplies


CK027397 400 RESCO2/11/2021  2,294.22


R Gomez-Customer Refund/R Gomez-Customer 


Refund


CK027398 602 RAUL GOMEZ2/11/2021  69.58


B Hansen-Customer Refund/B Hansen-Customer 


Refund


CK027399 944 BARBARA OR SCOTT HANSEN2/11/2021  55.97


Diggers Hotline-Jan Locates/Diggers Hotline-Jan 


Locates


CK027400 143 DIGGERS HOTLINE, INC.2/11/2021  1,324.60


P Frisch-Deposit Refund/P Frisch-Deposit RefundCK027401 192 PATRICK FRISCH2/11/2021  536.39


Baker Tilly-Professional svcs/Baker 


Tilly-Professional svcs/Baker Tilly-Professional 


svcs/Baker Tilly-Professional svcs/Baker 


Tilly-Professional svcs/Baker Tilly-Professional svcs


CK027402 648 BAKER TILLY VIRCHOW KRAUSE, LLP2/11/2021  6,700.00


GLS - Jan Locates/GLS - Jan Locates/GLS - Jan 


Locates/GLS - Jan Locates/GLS - Jan Locates/GLS 


- Jan Locates


CK027403 727 GLS UTILITY LLC2/11/2021  7,302.50


City-Parisi 20 Contract 5 Ret/City-Parisi 20 Contract 


5 Ret


CK027404 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON2/11/2021  2,295.74


Hooper-On Call/Hooper-On Call/Hooper-On 


Call/Hooper-On Call/Hooper-On Call/Hooper-On 


Call/Hooper-On Call/Hooper-On Call/Hooper-On 


Call/Hooper-On Call/Hooper-On Call/Hooper-On 


Call


CK027405 386 HOOPER CORPORATION2/11/2021  23,177.01


City Stoton-Feb Retirement/City Stoton-Feb 


Retirement/City Stoton-Feb B Def Comp/City 


Stoton-Feb B Def Comp/City Stoton-Feb 


Retirement/City Stoton-Feb Retirement/City 


Stoton-Feb Retirement/City Stoton-Feb Retirement


CK027406 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON2/18/2021  20,527.73


General Heating-Maint.CK027407 900 GENERAL HEATING & AIR CONDITION., INC.2/18/2021  1,110.00


Folks Wagon-Donation/Folks Wagon-DonationCK027408 914 FOLKS WAGONS, INC.2/18/2021  500.00







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


01:52PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


6 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 3/4/2021


Thursday, March 04, 2021


Description


St Vincent-Donation/St Vincent-DonationCK027409 935 ST. VINCENT DE PAUL - ST. ANN2/18/2021  500.00


City Stoton-Jan Legal Shield/City Stoton-Jan Legal 


Shield/City Stoton-Feb Delta Vision/City Stoton-Feb 


Delta Vision/City Stoton-Feb Health ins/City 


Stoton-Feb Health ins/City Stoton-Feb Health 


ins/City Stoton-Feb Health ins/City Stoton-Feb 


Health ins+


CK027410 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON2/18/2021  68,545.10


New Era-AP Checks/New Era-AP Checks/New 


Era-AP Checks/New Era-AP Checks/New Era-AP 


Checks/New Era-AP Checks


CK027411 138 NEW ERA GRAPHICS, INC.2/18/2021  181.51


Diggers-Locates/Diggers-LocatesCK027412 143 DIGGERS HOTLINE, INC.2/18/2021  3,604.80


Resco-Inventory/Resco-Supplies/Resco-Supplies/R


esco-Inventory


CK027413 400 RESCO2/18/2021  1,589.04


Strand-21 LSL Repacement/Strand-21 LSL 


Repacement/Strand-21 LSL Repacement/Strand-21 


LSL Repacement


CK027414 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.2/18/2021  21,781.20


Vining Sparks-Safekeeping/Vining 


Sparks-Safekeeping


CK027415 584 VINING SPARKS IBG, L.P.2/18/2021  54.00


Gasvoda-Repairs/Gasvoda-RepairsCK027416 592 GASVODA & ASSOCIATES, INC.2/18/2021  4,523.00


Hooper-On Call/Hooper-On Call/Hooper-Pole 


Replacement/Hooper-Pole Replacement


CK027417 386 HOOPER CORPORATION2/18/2021  178,622.92


Stoton Lumber-Port a Pot/Stoton Lumber-Port a pot 


wash/Stoton Lumber-Port a pot wash/Stoton 


Lumber-Port a Pot


CK027418 436 STOUGHTON LUMBER CO., INC.2/18/2021  755.00


Evoqua-Supplies/Evoqua-SuppliesCK027419 862 EVOQUA WATER TECHNOLOGIES, LLC2/18/2021  157.40


Inkworks-Letterhead/Inkworks-Letterhead/Inkworks-


Letterhead/Inkworks-Letterhead/Inkworks-Letterhea


d/Inkworks-Letterhead/Inkworks-Letterhead/Inkwork


s-Letterhead


CK027420 166 INKWORKS, INC.2/18/2021  200.75


E S R I -User Licensing/E S R I -User Licensing/E S 


R I -User Licensing/E S R I -User Licensing/E S R I 


-User Licensing/E S R I -User Licensing


CK027421 373 E S R I INC.2/18/2021  12,965.04







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


01:52PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


7 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 3/4/2021


Thursday, March 04, 2021


Description


F Redfield-Customer Refund/F Redfield-Customer 


Refund


CK027422 156 FRITZ OR DEBORAH REDFIELD2/26/2021  21.60


K Tes-Customer Refund/K Tes-Customer RefundCK027423 567 KIMTHY TES OR SUSAN PHU2/26/2021  167.13


D Bersing-Customer Refund/D Bersing-Customer 


Refund


CK027424 627 DAVID BERSING2/26/2021  31.70


Core-Supplies/Core-Supplies/Core-Supplies/Core-S


upplies


CK027425 816 CORE & MAIN LP2/26/2021  195.48


D Norland-Customer Refund/D Norland-Customer 


Refund


CK027426 110 DANIEL NORLAND2/26/2021  345.36


Resco-Inventory/Resco-InventoryCK027427 400 RESCO2/26/2021  4,447.80


Strand-WWTP extras/Strand-WWTP extrasCK027428 448 STRAND ASSOCIATES INC.2/26/2021  1,586.42


Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/In


sight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insi


ght-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insigh


t-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-Fuel/Insight-


Fuel/Insight-Fuel


CK027429 451 INSIGHT FS2/26/2021  1,473.10


B Rice-Customer Refund/B Rice-Customer RefundCK027430 643 BRIAN RICE2/26/2021  92.44


Border States-Supplies/Border 


States-Supplies/Border 


States-Supplies/Border-Inventory/Border 


States-Supplies/Border-Inventory


CK027431 327 BORDER STATES ELECTRIC SUPPLY2/26/2021  4,895.46


City Stoton-Stormwater/City Stoton-StormwaterCK027432 131 CITY OF STOUGHTON2/26/2021  59,442.44


Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Tre


nching/Midwest-Trenching/Midwest-Trenching/Midw


est-Trenching


CK027433 290 MID-WEST TREE & EXCAVATION, INC2/26/2021  1,492.70


Elec Test-Glove Tests/Elec Test-Glove Tests/Elec 


Test-Glove Tests/Elec Test-Glove Tests


CK027434 324 ELECTRICAL TESTING LAB., LLC.2/26/2021  420.00


B Wilson-Customer Refund/B Wilson-Customer 


Refund


CK027435 703 BARBARA WILSON2/26/2021  27.63


Boardman-Professional 


svcs/Boardman-Professional svcs


CK027436 865 BOARDMAN & CLARK LLP2/26/2021  3,673.00


Sauber-Hydraulic motor/Sauber-Hydraulic motorCK102022 091 SAUBER MFG. CO.2/4/2021  5,986.75







AmountCheck


Nbr Type Date Vendor ID / NamePaid


Date:


Time:


User:


01:52PM


SGUNSOLUS


Page:


Report:


Company:


8 of 8


03699W.rpt


7430


Stoughton Utilities


Check Register Summary - Standard


Period: - As of: 3/4/2021


Thursday, March 04, 2021


Description


Forster-FA_1/Forster-Tech Assistance/Forster-Tech 


Assistance/Forester-FA_1/Forester-FA_1/Forster-F


A_1/Forster-EA_1/Forester-EA_1/Forester-EA_1/Fo


rster-EA_1/Forster-BA_1/Forester-GA_4/Forester-G


A_4/Forster-BA_1/Forster-GA_3 


P2/Forester-DA_4/More...


CK102023 157 FORSTER ELEC. ENG.,INC.2/4/2021  24,746.75


N Shore Bk-Feb A Def Comp/N Shore Bk-Feb A 


Def Comp


CK102024 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.2/4/2021  300.00


MEUW-Member Dues/MEUW-Member 


Dues/MEUW-21 Online fees/MEUW-21 Online 


fees/MEUW-21 Online fees/MEUW-21 Online 


fees/MEUW-Member Dues/MEUW-Member 


Dues/MEUW-21 Online fees/MEUW-21 Online fees


CK102025 995 MEUW2/4/2021  14,600.75


SEERA-CTC Funds/SEERA-CTC FundsCK102026 603 SEERA-WIPFLI LLP2/18/2021  5,569.44


N Shore Bk-Feb B Def Comp/N Shore Bk-Feb B 


Def Comp


CK102027 731 NORTH SHORE BANK FSB-DEFERRED COMP.2/18/2021  300.00


MEUW-Safety & Training/MEUW-Lineman Univ 


2021/MEUW-Lineman Univ 2021/MEUW-Safety & 


Training/MEUW-Safety & Training/MEUW-Safety & 


Training/MEUW-Safety & Training/MEUW-Safety & 


Training


CK102028 995 MEUW2/18/2021  6,480.00


Company Total  2,178,470.20







Date:


Time:


User:


Monday, February 08, 2021


09:58AM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000124'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


Import ID: 009010 Import # : 0000000124


 96.29933 000000  - 663 STOUGHTON BUMPER TO B626 01/07/2021TRUCK 1 REPAIRS 52007430


 98.93930 000000  - ADOBE INC 01/07/2021Software Licensing - Adobe Acrobat 52507430


 35.98930 000000  - ADOBE INC 01/07/2021Software Licensing - Adobe Acrobat 52507450


 44.97840 000000  - ADOBE INC 01/07/2021Sales tax refund - requested 52507460


 9.89930 000000  - ADOBE INC 01/07/2021Software licensing - Server user and file auditing 52507430


 300.81930 000000  - AMZN MKTP US 8L2BL1KT3 01/14/2021General office supplies 36807450


 3.58933 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 01/08/2021TRUCK 1 REPAIRS 52007430


 9.20594 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 01/22/2021BOLTS FOR STOCK 52007430


 6.28631 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 01/22/2021WELL 6 ANCHORS 87007450


 26.36593 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 01/06/2021MISC LINE TOOLS 52007430


 48.50932 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 01/11/2021SNOW BLOWER PARTS 87007450


 9.88652 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 01/14/2021TREATMENT EQUIP PARTS 87007450


 3.98631 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 01/18/2021PIPE PLUGS 87007450


 3.72833 000000  - ASLESON'S TRUE VALUE HDW108 01/13/2021DRIP TRAP ROLL PINS 87107460


 147.78593 000000  - C M HYDRAULIC TOOL SUPP983 01/07/2021INSERT BLADE 41007430


 147.78594 000000  - C M HYDRAULIC TOOL SUPP983 01/07/2021INSERT BLADE 41007430


 69.00934 000000  - CAPITAL EQUIPMENT994 01/20/2021FORK LIFT MAINT 41007430


 755.06930 000000  - CDW GOVT #6145270 01/06/2021Computer Hardware - Laptop - BHoops 52507430


 274.56930 000000  - CDW GOVT #6145270 01/06/2021Computer Hardware - Laptop - BHoops 52507450


 343.22840 000000  - CDW GOVT #6145270 01/06/2021Software Licensing - Adobe Acrobat 52507460


 49.24926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/04/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257430


 22.77926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/04/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257450


 15.18854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/04/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257460


 49.24926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/18/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257430


 22.77926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/18/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257450


 15.18854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/18/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257460


 49.24926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/21/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257430


 22.77926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/21/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257450


 15.18854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/21/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257460


 49.24926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/25/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257430


 22.77926 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/25/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 10257450


 15.18854 000000  - CINTAS CORP809 01/25/2021Software Licensing - Office 365 - Apps for Business 10257460


 1,592.73833 000000  - CRANE ENGINEERING SALES855 01/12/2021PARTS FOR GREASE PUMP 82007460


 183.46107.14 000000 200222XX - 1CRESCENT ELECTRIC 087134 01/21/2021TDS MATERIALS-CRESCENT 41007430


 183.46593 000000  - CRESCENT ELECTRIC 087134 01/25/2021MISC LINE SUPPLIES 41007430


 588.00232 001099  - CRESCENT ELECTRIC 087134 01/20/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-CRESCENT 41007430


 1,852.98833 000000  - DORNER COMPANY483 01/07/2021PLUG VALVE PARTS 82007460


 698.80107.14 000000 200922XX - 1FIRST SUPPLY LLC #2010550 01/12/2021REPLACEMENT BACKFLOW PREVENTER 87007450


 1,049.50930 000000  - FIRST SUPPLY MADISON 01/25/2021WATER INVENTORY-FIRST SUPPLY 41007450


 791.00107.14 000000 210905XX - 1HYDRO DESIGNS354 01/04/2021CROSS CONNECTIONS 74007450


 3.00930 000000  - IL TOLLWAY -PAY BY PLATE 01/25/2021TOLLS 52007430


 19.60930 000000  - IL TOLLWAY-WEB-UNPD TOLL 01/25/2021TOLLS 52007430







Date:


Time:


User:


Monday, February 08, 2021


09:58AM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000124'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 280.50932 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 01/12/2021CUSTODIAL 40007430


 102.00932 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 01/12/2021CUSTODIAL 40007450


 127.50834 000000  - IN  SUNDANCE BIOCLEAN, IN322 01/12/2021CUSTODIAL 40007460


 1,323.00930 000000  - LAMP RECYCLERS INC- 01/05/2021STREET LAMP RECYCLING 40007430


 130.82930 000000  - LAMP RECYCLERS INC- 01/05/2021FLUORESCENT LAMP RECYCLING 40007430


 47.57930 000000  - LAMP RECYCLERS INC- 01/05/2021FLUORESCENT LAMP RECYCLING 40007450


 59.46840 000000  - LAMP RECYCLERS INC- 01/05/2021FLUORESCENT LAMP RECYCLING 40007460


 543.10834 000000  - LW ALLEN207 01/07/2021GAS MONITOR CALIBRATION 82007460


 399.51833 000000  - LW ALLEN207 01/07/2021DIGESTER RECIRCULATION PUMP 82007460


 222.63675 000000  - MENARDS MONONA WI652 01/08/2021CURB STOP MATERIALS 87007450


 11.72652 000000  - MENARDS MONONA WI652 01/08/2021CHEMICAL INJECTION SUPPLIES 87007450


 78.65930 000000  - MSFT   E0400D27QN 01/04/2021Software Licensing - Office 365 - Skype for Business Online 52507430


 28.60930 000000  - MSFT   E0400D27QN 01/04/2021Software Licensing - Office 365 - Skype for Business Online 52507450


 35.75840 000000  - MSFT   E0400D27QN 01/04/2021Credit card processing - Online MyAccount 52507460


 19.14930 000000  - MSFT   E0400D2W1Y 01/04/2021Software Licensing - Office 365 - Apps for Business 52507430


 6.96930 000000  - MSFT   E0400D2W1Y 01/04/2021Software Licensing - Office 365 - Apps for Business 52507450


 8.71840 000000  - MSFT   E0400D2W1Y 01/04/2021Software Licensing - Office 365 - Skype for Business Online 52507460


 1,110.52833 000000  - NCL OF WISCONSIN INC830 01/21/2021LAB SUPPLIES 83007460


 43.00923 000000  - NORTHERN LAKE SERVICE- IN974 01/08/2021OUTSIDE LAB WORK 83007460


 268.10923 000000  - NORTHERN LAKE SERVICE- IN974 01/11/2021OUTSIDE LAB WORK 83007460


 611.74833 000000  - OCECO INC994 01/20/2021PARTS FOR DIGESTER DRIP TRAP 82007460


 123.37903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 01/05/2021Credit card processing - Online MyAccount 52507430


 17.62903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 01/05/2021Credit card processing - Online MyAccount 52507450


 26.43840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 01/05/2021Credit card processing - Online MyAccount 52507460


 8.83233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 01/05/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and recurring 52507430


 81.09903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 01/05/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and recurring 52507430


 11.58903 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 01/05/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and recurring 52507450


 17.37840 000000  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 01/05/2021Credit card processing - Desktop and recurring 52507460


 5.81233 001099  - PAYFLOW/PAYPAL419 01/05/2021Computer Hardware - Laptop - BHoops 52507430


 1,463.00930 000000  - PAYPAL  ZOHOCORPORA 01/11/2021Software licensing - Server user and file auditing 52507430


 532.00930 000000  - PAYPAL  ZOHOCORPORA 01/11/2021Software licensing - Server user and file auditing 52507450


 665.00840 000000  - PAYPAL  ZOHOCORPORA 01/11/2021Sales tax refund - received 52507460


 23.57930 000000  - STAPLS7321782648000001 01/07/2021General office supplies 36807430


 8.48930 000000  - STAPLS7321782648000001 01/07/2021General office supplies 36807450


 11.31840 000000  - STAPLS7321782648000001 01/07/2021General office supplies 36807460


 3.79930 000000  - STAPLS7321782648000001 01/07/2021Well No 6 Replacement Exhaust Louver Motor 36807430


 218.08930 000000  - STAPLS7323496294000001 01/29/2021General office supplies 36807430


 78.50930 000000  - STAPLS7323496294000001 01/29/2021General office supplies 36807450


 104.67840 000000  - STAPLS7323496294000001 01/29/2021General office supplies 36807460


 34.91930 000000  - STAPLS7323496294000001 01/29/2021UNIFORM CLEARING 36807430


 279.56926 000000  - STEELTOESHOESCOM994 01/14/2021SAFETY BOOTS 40007430


 459.60232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 01/06/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-IRBY 41007430


 1,137.60232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 01/06/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-IRBY 41007430


 5,574.90232 001099  - STUART C IRBY355 01/21/2021ELECTRIC INVENTORY-IRBY 41007430







Date:


Time:


User:


Monday, February 08, 2021


09:58AM


SGUNSOLUS


Stoughton Utilities


Posting Preview Report


{PSSPurchCard.RefNbr} =  '0000000124'Select By:


Account Sub Amount ProjecMerchantVendor ID Post Date Emp IDCompany Description


 38.61107.14 000000 200222XX - 1STUART C IRBY355 01/21/2021TDS MATERIALS-IRBY 41007430


 47.40107.14 000000 200222XX - 1STUART C IRBY355 01/21/2021TDS MATERIALS-IRBY 41007430


 11.08107.14 000000 200222XX - 1STUART C IRBY355 01/21/2021TDS MATERIALS-IRBY 41007430


 1,111.62107.14 000000 200222XX - 1STUART C IRBY355 01/18/2021TDS MATERIALS-IRBY 41007430


 387.50107.14 000000 200222XX - 1STUART C IRBY355 01/18/2021TDS MATERIALS-IRBY 41007430


 11.36642 000000  - THE UPS STORE 3617164 01/05/2021SAMPLE SHIPPING 84007450


 11.36642 000000  - THE UPS STORE 3617164 01/12/2021SAMPLE SHIPPING 84007450


 11.36642 000000  - THE UPS STORE 3617164 01/26/2021SAMPLE SHIPPING 84007450


 11.36642 000000  - THE UPS STORE 3617164 01/21/2021SAMPLE SHIPPING 87007450


 82.97652 000000  - TRACTOR SUPPLY #2236994 01/08/2021CHEMICAL INJECTION SUPPLIES 87007450


 528.15652 000000  - USA BLUE BOOK571 01/20/2021CHEMICAL INJECTION PUMP PARTS 87007450


 5.40593 000000  - USPS PO 5679700726824 01/06/2021TREE TRIMMING RFPS 40007430


 6,098.38934 000000  - UTILITY SALES & SERVICE269 01/07/2021TRUCK 16 ANNUAL INSPECTION 40007430


 2,255.15934 000000  - UTILITY SALES & SERVICE269 01/25/2021TRUCK 12 ANNUAL INSPECTION 40007430


 2,133.67934 000000  - UTILITY SALES & SERVICE269 01/28/2021TRUCK 5 ANNUAL INSPECTION 40007430


 8,904.47934 000000  - UTILITY SALES & SERVICE269 01/06/2021TRUCK 2 INSPECTION AND BOOM REPAIRS 40007430


 38.90633 000000  - WAL-MART #1176507 01/28/2021AIR COMPRESSOR FOR WELL 4 84007450


 26.00642 000000  - WI STATE HYGIENE LAB675 01/14/2021FLUORIDE ANALYSIS 74007450


 47,807.85Total:







Stoughton Utilities 
Financial Summary 


December 2020 
Overall Summary: 
2020 operating income is $1,320,300, up $537,000 or 69%, from 2019. Electric 
accounts for $429,000 of the $537,000 increase. 
 
Non-operating income in 2020 was $179,500, down $323,100 from 2019. $126,500 of 
the decrease was due to lower investment returns. $74,600 of the decrease is due to an 
insurance recovery in 2019 that did not happen again in 2020. The remainder of the 
decrease in non-operating income is lower tax increment district contributions in 2020. 
 
Net Income for 2020 was $1,499,800, up $213,900 from 2019’s $1,285,900 net income. 
 
Electric Summary: 
2020 operating income was $631,600, up $429,000 from the prior year. Operating 
revenue was up only 0.1%, or $12,900, from 2019. KWh sales in 2020 were down 4.4 
million, or 3.1% from 2019. Commercial and industrial revenues were down $330,000 in 
2020 but were offset by increased residential sales of $356,000. Power costs were 
down $235,900, or 2%, from 2019.  
 
Non-power operating expenses were down $180,200 YTD, or 5.0%. $91,000 of the 
reduced expenses was related to GASB 68 retirement costs. Ignoring the GASB 68 
entry, non-power operating costs were down $89,200 from 2019, or 2.9%. $59,000 of 
the reduced expense were from reduced labor costs related to employee vacancies. 
The remaining reduced expense was from taxes, PILOT, and the miscellaneous 
operational expenses. Underground maintenance expenses were up $161,500 in 2020 
due to the TDS project, but it was offset by a reduction of overhead line expenses of 
$136,400. 2019 had a major tree trimming expense that caused overhead line expense 
to be much larger than 2020. 
 
The rate of return for 2020 is 5.16% compared to 2.87% in 2019. Although the current 
rate of return is above the allowed percentage of 4.9%, this is due to the significant 
amount of TDS construction advances on hand at year-end. After factoring those 
amounts into the equation, the ending rate of return is at 4.9%. Unrestricted cash 
balances are $6.4 million (5.3 months of sales).  
 
Water Summary: 
Operating revenues were up $16,000 or 0.7%, for 2020 compared to 2019. Total 
gallons sold YTD ran 1.8% lower than 2019. Residential sales was up $51,200, or 4.4%, 
from the prior year. Industrial sales were down $34,300, or 10.8% from the prior year. 
 
Operating expenses were up $7,000, or 0.4%, compared to the prior year. The 
expenses were muted by a $16,700 reduction in depreciation expense, largely due to 
the SCADA system being fully depreciated in 2019.   







 
The rate of return is 4.2% compared to 4.65% in 2019. Unrestricted cash balances are 
$1.0 million (5.3 months of sales). 
 
Wastewater Summary: 
2020 operating revenues were up $72,000 YTD, or 3.4%, from 2019. Regular sales 
were up $136,000 but surcharge revenues were down $63,900. The additional sales 
revenue was from residential and industrial customers.  
 
Operating expenses were $1,855,300, which was down $26,900, or 1.4%, from the prior 
year. Depreciation was $48,100 lower than the prior year due to the communication 
equipment becoming fully depreciated in 2020. Non-depreciation operating expense 
increased $21,200, or 2.1%, due to labor cost increases. Unrestricted cash balances 
were $0.7 million (3.9 months of sales).  
 
Submitted by: Ryan Wiesen 







Electric Water Wastewater Combined


Assets


Cash & Investments 8,457,354$         2,327,177$         2,245,478$         13,030,010$       


Customer A/R 1,518,043           231,094              238,658              1,987,795           


Other A/R 89,661                 12,261                 5,592                   107,514              


Other Assets 1,425,334           330,481              206,289              1,962,104           


Plant in Service 31,055,760         17,362,621         32,381,992         80,800,372         


Accumulated Depreciation (15,246,829)        (5,770,238)          (12,977,465)        (33,994,533)        


Plant in Service - CIAC 3,825,984           7,962,587           -                      11,788,571         


Accumulated Depreciation-CIAC (2,052,849)          (2,492,383)          -                      (4,545,232)          


Construction Work in Progress 981,323              11,148                 9,794                   1,002,264           


GASB 68 Deferred Outflow 1,000,371           344,049              412,751              1,757,171           


Total Assets 31,054,151$       20,318,797$       22,523,088$       73,896,036$       


Liabilities + Net Assets


Accounts Payable 1,502,709$         86,424$              62,580$              1,651,714$         


Payable to City of Stoughton 539,739              458,608              20,611                 1,018,959           


Interest Accrued 22,482                 14,454                 16,063                 52,998                 


Other Liabilities 1,717,025           127,760              128,388              1,973,174           


Long-Term Debt 3,813,098           3,704,723           3,658,266           11,176,087         


Net Assets 22,285,442         15,528,069         18,229,530         56,043,041         


GASB 68 Deferred Inflow 1,173,656           398,757              407,651              1,980,064           


Total Liabilities + Net Assets 31,054,151$       20,318,797$       22,523,088$       73,896,036$       


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Balance Sheets


 As of December 31, 2020







 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:


Sales 14,504,827$            2,286,519$              2,131,307$              18,922,653$            


Other 132,634                    46,018                      69,152                      247,805                    


   Total Operating Revenue: 14,637,461$            2,332,537$              2,200,459$              19,170,458$            


Operating Expense:


Purchased Power 10,596,835              -                             -                             10,596,835              


Expenses (Including Taxes) 1,769,490                1,083,460                1,046,543                3,899,492                


PILOT 445,995                    437,266                    -                             883,261                    


Depreciation 1,193,582                468,240                    808,765                    2,470,587                


   Total Operating Expense: 14,005,902$            1,988,966$              1,855,308$              17,850,176$            


     Operating Income 631,559$                 343,571$                 345,151$                 1,320,282$              


Non-Operating Income 284,499                    41,040                      120,930                    446,469                    


Non-Operating Expense (89,016)                     (79,676)                     (98,304)                     (266,996)                  


      Net Income 827,043$                 304,935$                 367,778$                 1,499,756$              


 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:


Sales 14,499,815$            2,279,312$              1,995,350$              18,774,478$            


Other 124,756                    37,205$                    133,074$                 295,036                    


   Total Operating Revenue: 14,624,572$            2,316,517$              2,128,425$              19,069,514$            


Operating Expense:


Purchased Power 10,832,755              -                             -                             10,832,755              


Expenses (Including Taxes) 1,942,152                1,066,072                1,025,313                4,033,537                


PILOT 452,940                    431,034                    -                             883,974                    


Depreciation 1,194,203                484,888                    856,914                    2,536,005                


   Total Operating Expense: 14,422,050$            1,981,994$              1,882,227$              18,286,271$            


     Operating Income 202,522$                 334,523$                 246,197$                 783,243$                 


Non-Operating Income 370,478                    251,411                    236,713                    858,603                    


Non-Operating Expense (132,408)                  (113,318)                  (110,270)                  (355,997)                  


      Net Income 440,592$                 472,616$                 372,640$                 1,285,849$              


December 31, 2019


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement


December 31, 2020


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement







 


Electric Water


Operating Income (Regulatory) 785,957$            476,665$            


Average Utility Plant in Service 30,296,569         16,963,661         


Average Accumulated Depreciation (14,611,097)        (5,524,213)          


Average Materials and Supplies 315,333              40,319                


Average Regulatory Liability (77,564)               (119,802)             


Average Customer Advances (686,166)             (2,500)                 


Average Net Rate Base 15,237,075$       11,357,464$       


December 2020 Rate of Return 5.16% 4.20%


December 2019 Rate of Return 2.87% 4.65%


December 2019 Rate of Return 2.87% 4.65%


Authorized Rate of Return 4.90% 5.00%


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Rate of Return


Year-to-Date December 31, 2020







Electric December 2020


Unrestricted (5.3 months sales) 6,377,050$           


Bond Reserve 460,722$              


Redemption Fund (P&I) 525,535$              


Depreciation 25,000$                


Designated 1,069,046$           


Total 8,457,353$           


Water December 2020


Unrestricted (5.3 months sales) 1,007,341$           


Bond Reserve 340,710$              


Redemption Fund (P&I) 303,450$              


Depreciation 25,000$                


Construction 110,332$              


Designated 540,344$              


Total 2,327,177$           


Wastewater December 2020


Unrestricted (3.9 months sales) 692,624                


DNR Replacement 1,164,904             


Redemption Fund (P&I) 242,432                


Depreciation 33,283                  


Designated 112,235                


Total 2,245,478             


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Cash and Investments Summary


 As of December 31, 2020


$6,377,050 , 75%


$460,722 , 6%


$525,535 , 6%


$25,000 , 0% $1,069,046 , 13%


Electric Cash - December 2020 


Unrestricted (5.3 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Designated


$1,007,341 , 43%


$340,710 , 15%
$303,450 , 13%


$25,000 , 1%


$110,332 , 5%


$540,344 , 23%


Water Cash - December 2020


Unrestricted (5.3 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Construction Designated


692,624 , 31%


1,164,904 , 52%


242,432 , 11%


33,283 , 1%


112,235 , 5%


Wastewater Cash - December 2020


Unrestricted (3.9 months sales) DNR Replacement
Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation
Designated







Stoughton Utilities 
Financial Summary 


January 2021 YTD 
 
Overall Summary: 
YTD 2021 operating income is $179,500, up $72,400 from 2020. The January financials 
when compared to prior years should be taken with a heavy grain of salt as they are 
prone to being skewed by timing of expenses, exaggerated percentage changes, 
seasonal changes, etc. 
 
Electric Summary: 
2021 operating income was $105,000, up $54,100 from the prior year YTD. 2020 
operating revenues were $52,300, or 4.6%, higher than 2020. However, about $26,000 
of additional revenue is related to revenue timing between 2020 and 2021 and will even 
out in February. Operating expenses were down 0.2% from 2020 due to lower labor 
costs. 
 
The rate of return was 0.72% compared to 0.32% for YTD 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances are $5.6 million (5.0 months of sales).  
 
Water Summary: 
Operating revenues were up $1,900, or 1%, from prior YTD 2020. Total gallons sold in 
January were about 0.8% higher than 2020.  
 
Operating expenses were down $8,700, or 5.7%, compared to the prior year. The 
reduced cost is due to timing of expenses between 2020 and 2021. I except the 
expense gap to narrow in future months.  
 
The rate of return was 0.40% compared to 0.32% for YTD 2020. Unrestricted cash 
balances are $1.0 million (5.5 months of sales). 
 
Wastewater Summary: 
2020 operating revenue was $168,200 and down $600, or 0.4% from 2020. 
 
Operating expenses were down $8,200, or 5.5%, from 2020. $4,100 of the reduce 
expense was from lower forecasted depreciation. Significant plant balance became fully 
depreciated in 2020, which has lowered forecasted depreciation for 2021. The 
remainder of reduced expenses is due to timing issues. 
 
Unrestricted cash balances were $0.8 million (4.5 months of sales).  
 
Submitted by: 
Ryan Wiesen 







Electric Water Wastewater Combined


Assets


Cash & Investments 7,841,075$         2,428,109$         2,345,937$         12,615,121$       


Customer A/R 1,576,548           254,786              240,613              2,071,948           


Other A/R 133,233              -                      -                      133,233              


Other Assets 1,334,751           288,186              171,706              1,794,643           


Plant in Service 31,062,213         17,362,621         32,381,992         80,806,825         


Accumulated Depreciation (15,353,974)        (5,812,980)          (13,045,798)        (34,212,752)        


Plant in Service - CIAC 3,825,984           7,962,587           -                      11,788,571         


Accumulated Depreciation-CIAC (2,052,849)          (2,492,383)          -                      (4,545,232)          


Construction Work in Progress 569,331              13,701                 9,794                   592,826              


GASB 68 Deferred Outflow 1,000,371           344,049              412,751              1,757,171           


Total Assets 29,936,683$       20,348,676$       22,516,994$       72,802,354$       


Liabilities + Net Assets


Accounts Payable 187,869$            64,395$              45,062$              297,326$            


Payable to City of Stoughton 544,687              474,599              -                      1,019,287           


Interest Accrued 29,087                 20,917                 23,395                 73,398                 


Other Liabilities 1,688,009           109,908              112,235              1,910,152           


Long-Term Debt 3,813,098           3,704,723           3,658,266           11,176,087         


Net Assets 22,500,277         15,575,377         18,270,385         56,346,040         


GASB 68 Deferred Inflow 1,173,656           398,757              407,651              1,980,064           


Total Liabilities + Net Assets 29,936,683$       20,348,676$       22,516,994$       72,802,354$       


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Balance Sheets


 As of January 31, 2021







 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:


Sales 1,136,805$              185,887$                 167,574$                 1,490,266$              


Other 47,524                      5,670                        644                            53,838                      


   Total Operating Revenue: 1,184,329$              191,557$                 168,218$                 1,544,104$              


Operating Expense:


Purchased Power 802,542                    -                             -                             802,542                    


Expenses (Including Taxes) 135,094                    65,620                      71,985                      272,699                    


PILOT 39,250                      37,333                      -                             76,583                      


Depreciation 102,417                    42,062                      68,333                      212,812                    


   Total Operating Expense: 1,079,303$              145,015$                 140,318$                 1,364,635$              


     Operating Income 105,027$                 46,542$                    27,900$                    179,469$                 


Non-Operating Income 119,841                    7,228                        20,288                      147,358                    


Non-Operating Expense (10,033)                     (6,463)                       (7,332)                       (23,828)                     


      Net Income 214,835$                 47,308$                    40,856$                    302,999$                 


 Electric  Water  Wastewater  Total 


Operating Revenue:


Sales 1,111,296$              184,273$                 168,030$                 1,463,599$              


Other 20,780                      5,371$                      826$                         26,977                      


   Total Operating Revenue: 1,132,076$              189,644$                 168,856$                 1,490,576$              


Operating Expense:


Purchased Power 802,921                    -                             -                             802,921                    


Expenses (Including Taxes) 136,909                    74,087                      76,043                      287,039                    


PILOT 39,250                      37,000                      -                             76,250                      


Depreciation 102,117                    42,645                      72,500                      217,262                    


   Total Operating Expense: 1,081,197$              153,732$                 148,543$                 1,383,472$              


     Operating Income 50,879$                    35,912$                    20,313$                    107,104$                 


Non-Operating Income 171,470                    9,943                        19,199                      200,612                    


Non-Operating Expense (10,981)                     (7,262)                       (8,192)                       (26,435)                     


      Net Income 211,369$                 38,593$                    31,320$                    281,281$                 


January 31, 2020


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement


January 31, 2021


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Year-to-Date Combined Income Statement







 


Electric Water


Operating Income (Regulatory) 105,027$            46,542$              


Average Utility Plant in Service 30,654,219         17,255,621         


Average Accumulated Depreciation (15,124,732)        (5,698,127)          


Average Materials and Supplies 441,048              42,573                


Average Regulatory Liability (66,484)               (85,574)               


Average Customer Advances (1,344,916)          (5,000)                 


Average Net Rate Base 14,559,135$       11,509,493$       


January 2021 Rate of Return 0.72% 0.40%


January 2020 Rate of Return 0.32% 0.32%


December 2020 Rate of Return 5.16% 4.20%


Authorized Rate of Return 4.90% 5.00%


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Rate of Return


Year-to-Date January 31, 2021







Electric January 2021


Unrestricted (5.0 months sales) 5,670,977$           


Bond Reserve 460,722$              


Redemption Fund (P&I) 588,927$              


Depreciation 25,000$                


Designated 1,095,449$           


Total 7,841,075$           


Water January 2021


Unrestricted (5.5 months sales) 1,024,306$           


Bond Reserve 340,710$              


Redemption Fund (P&I) 350,074$              


Depreciation 25,000$                


Construction 110,342$              


Designated 577,677$              


Total 2,428,109$           


Wastewater January 2021


Unrestricted (4.5 months sales) 757,081                


DNR Replacement 1,162,587             


Redemption Fund (P&I) 280,751                


Depreciation 33,283                  


Designated 112,235                


Total 2,345,937             


STOUGHTON UTILITIES


Cash and Investments Summary


 As of January 31, 2021


$5,670,977 , 72%
$460,722 , 6%


$588,927 , 8%


$25,000 , 0% $1,095,449 , 14%


Electric Cash - January 2021 


Unrestricted (5.0 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Designated


$1,024,306 , 42%


$340,710 , 14%
$350,074 , 14%


$25,000 , 1%


$110,342 , 5%


$577,677 , 24%


Water Cash - January 2021


Unrestricted (5.5 months sales) Bond Reserve Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation Construction Designated


757,081 , 32%


1,162,587 , 50%


280,751 , 12%


33,283 , 1%


112,235 , 5%


Wastewater Cash - January 2021


Unrestricted (4.5 months sales) DNR Replacement
Redemption Fund (P&I) Depreciation
Designated







Total Sales Total KwH Total Sales Total KwH Demand Demand
2020 KwH Purchased 2020 2021 KwH Purchased 2021 Peak 2020 Peak 2021


January 11,728,250 12,391,530 11,877,586 12,568,526 21,586 21,527


February


March


April


May


June


July


August


September


October


November


December


TOTAL 11,728,250 12,391,530 11,877,586 12,568,526


Total Sales Total Gallons Total Sales Total Gallons Max Daily High Max Daily Highs
2020 Gallons Pumped 2020 2021 Gallons Pumped 2021 2020 2021


January 34,224,000 40,776,000 34,489,000 38,064,000 1,719,000 1,435,000


February


March


April


May


June


July


August


September


October


November


December


TOTAL 34,224,000 40,776,000 34,489,000 38,064,000


Total Sales Total Treated Total Sales Total Treated Precipitation Precipitation
2020 Gallons Gallons 2020 2021 Gallons Gallons 2021 2020 2021


January 25,995,000 33,824,000 23,902,000 28,478,000 1.92 1.69


February


March


April


May


June


July


August


September


October


November


December


TOTAL 25,995,000 33,824,000 23,902,000 28,478,000 1.92 1.69


2021 Statistical Worksheet


STOUGHTON  UTILITIES


Electic


Water


Wastewater












 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Chapter 78, Zoning Code as follows:  Amend Section 78-611, Repeal and Remove Table 


78-611 and Repeal and Recreate Appendix B of the Stoughton Municipal Code 


Committee 


Action:    


Plan Commission recommends approval 7 - 0 


Fiscal Impact:       None 


File Number: O-9- 2021 First Reading:  


Second Reading: 


March 23, 2021 


April 13, 2021 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


 


1. Amend Sec. 78-611 – Classification of plant species.   


For the purpose of this chapter, plant materials are classified into 13 groupings: "climax tree", 


"tall deciduous tree", "medium deciduous tree", "low deciduous tree", "tall evergreen tree", 


"medium evergreen tree", "low evergreen tree", "tall deciduous shrub", "medium deciduous 


shrub", "low deciduous shrub", "medium evergreen shrub", "low evergreen shrub", and non-


contributory plants. Species suitable for landscaping use and compatible with Dane County 


climate and soil factors are listed in Table 78-611 Appendix B, below. The zoning 


administrator City Forester and/or City Tree Commission shall review proposals for, and the 


applicability of, species not contained in this list and is authorized to approve appropriate 


similar species. See Appendix B for a very detailed listing of plant species and characteristics. 


 


2. Repeal and Remove Table 78-611: Classification of Plants  


 


Climax Trees  


(75 Landscaping Points)  


 Low Deciduous Trees  


(10 Landscaping Points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name   Botanical Name  Common Name  


Acer saccharum  Sugar Maple   Amelanchier sp.  Serviceberry  


Ginkgo biloba  Ginko  
 


Crataegus sp.  
Hawthorn: Cockspur, Downy, 


Washington  


Quercus sp.  Oak: Red, White, Pin   Malus sp.  Crabapple sp.  


Tall Deciduous Trees  


(30 Landscaping Points)  


 Tall Evergreen Trees  


(40 Landscaping Points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name   Botanical Name  Common Name  


Acer sp.  Maple: Red, Silver   Abies concolor  White Fir  


Gleditsia 


triancanthos  
Honeylocust  


 
Pinus sp.  Pine: Red, White, Scots  


Populus 


grandidentata  
Bigtooth Aspen  


 
Tsuga Canadensis  Canada Hemlock  


Tilia sp  Linden: Basswood, Littleleaf, Redmond     







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


Medium Deciduous Trees  


(15 Landscaping Points)  


 Medium Evergreen Trees  


(20 Landscaping Points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name   Botanical Name  Common Name  


Betula sp.  Birch: River, Paper   Thuja occidentalis  American Arborvitae  


Prunus sp.  Cherry: Choke, Pin     


Salix sp.  Willow     


Low Evergreen Trees  


(12 Landscaping Points)  


 Low Deciduous Shrubs  


(1 Landscaping Point)  


Botanical Name  Common Name   Botanical Name  Common Name  


Juniperus sp.  Juniper: Mountbatten, Redcedar  
 Berberis 


thunbergii  
Japanese Barberry  


Thuja sp.  Arborvitae: Pyramidal, Techny   Spiraea sp.  Spirea: Froebel, Snowmound  


Tall Deciduous Shrubs  


(5 Landscaping Points)  


 Tall-Medium Evergreen Shrubs  


(5 Landscaping Points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name   Botanical Name  Common Name  


Cornus sp.  Dogwood: Grey, Pagoda  
 Juniperus 


chinensis  
Juniper: Pfitzer  


Syringa sp.  Lilac: Chinese, Hyacinth   Taxus sp.  Yew: Japanese  


Viburnum sp.  
Viburnum: Arrowwood, Wayfaringtree, 


Nannyberry  


 
  


Medium Deciduous Shrubs  


(3 Landscaping Points)  


 Low Evergreen Shrubs  


(3 Landscaping Points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name   Botanical Name  Common Name  


Corylus americana  American Filbert, Hazelnut   Juniperus sp.  Juniper: Sargent, Creeping, Andorra  


Cotoneaster sp.  Cotoneaster     


Forsynthia sp  Forsythia: Border, Early, Weeping     


Rosa sp.  Rose: Virgina, Rugosa     


 


3. Repeal and Recreate Appendix B Landscaping Charts 


 


APPENDIX B  LANDSCAPING CHARTS AND CHECKLISTS 


Detailed Classification of Plant Species  


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Climax Trees (75 landscaping points)  


Botanical Name  
Common 


Name  


Growth  


Rate  
Form  Adaptation and Remarks  


*Acer saccharum 
RF  Sugar Maple  S  Round  


Rich soil; salt-sensitive; oval when young; yellow, orange or scarlet 


fall color.  


"Green Mountain"  Scorch-resistant; leathery leaves.  


*Carya ovata RF  
Shagbark 


Hickory  
  Native and very adaptable, salt-sensitive, fruit-nut, lawn tree.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


Ginkgo bilboa  Ginkgo  


S  


Pyramidal  
Very urban, dioecious, females produce smelly fruits, golden yellow 


fall color.  


"Fastigiata"  
Sentry 


Ginkgo  
Columnar  Seedless.  


Juglans nigra RF  


Walnut  


Eastern 


Walnut  


Black 


Walnut  


F   


Best in public open spaces or lawns; not to be used as a street tree; 


poisonous to other plants within the drip zone; susceptible to 


caterpillars and leaf-spot disease.  


*Quercus alba RF  White Oak  S  Round  


Extremely sensitive to soil compaction; tolerant of urban conditions; 


dry soil; subject to iron chlorosis; red fall color; very difficult to 


transplant; excellent lawn or shade tree.  


*Quercus bicolor 
RF  


Swamp 


White Oak  
S  Round  


Very tolerant of urban conditions; moist to wet, intolerant of alkaline 


soil; tolerates poor drainage; difficult to transplant; yellow fall color.  


*Quercus 


macrocarpa RF  


Bur Oak  


Mossycup 


Oak  


S  Round  
Sensitive to soil compaction; tolerant of urban conditions; dry to wet 


soil; no fall color; very difficult to transplant.  


*Quercus palustris  Pin Oak  M  Pyramidal  


Sensitive to soil compaction; tolerant of urban conditions; moist, acid 


soil; pendulous lower branches; red fall color; iron chlorosis on 


alkaline soil; lawn tree; cultivar "Sovereign" best for streets.  


*Quercus rubra RF  


(also known as 


Quercus Borealis)  


Northern 


Red Oak  


Red Oak  


M  Round  


Sensitive to soil compaction; tolerant of urban conditions; pyramidal 


when young; red fall color; well-drained soil; fast-growing for oaks; 


excellent lawn, shade, and street tree.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native   S=Slow   M=Medium   F=Fast  


    


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Tall Deciduous Trees (30 landscaping points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name  
Growth  


Rate  
Form  Adaptation and Remarks  


Acer nigrum  Black Maple  M  Oval  
Does well in poor, dry soils; red to bright gold fall color; 


excellent for lawn, shade, or street.  


*Acer rubrum RF  


   


   


Red Maple  


Scarlet Maple  


Swamp Maple  


   


   


   


F  


Round  
Moist, acid soil; tolerates poor drainage; smooth gray bark; 


yellow, orange, or red fall color; salt-sensitive.  


"Armstrong"  Fastigiate  No fall color; light gray bark.  


"Autumn Flame"   Early scarlet fall color.  


"Bowhall"  Oval  Orange fall color  


"Red Sunset"   Late, scarlet fall color.  


"Schlesingeri"   Red-orange fall color.  


*Acer saccharinum 
RF  


Silver Maple  


Soft Maple  


White Maple  


River Maple  


F  Vase  


Heart and fast-growing; most soil; tolerates poor drainage; 


fine-textured; weak-wooded (develops heart rots after fifty 


years, limbs may fall); yellowish or no fall color  


"Blair"   
Very 


Fast  
 Strong branch structure; storm-resistant.  


"Pyramidale"  
Upright Silver 


Maple  
 Pyramidal  Improved branch structure.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


"Silver Queen"  
Seedless Sugar 


Maple  
 Round  Seedless  


"Wieri"  
Cutleaf Sugar 


Maple  
  Shredded leaves; pendulous branches.  


Aesculus hippocas 


tanum  
Horsechestnut  M  Round  


Urban; course; showy, white May flowers; litter problem; no 


fall color; difficult to transplant; pest or disease problems may 


limit use.  


Alnus glutinosa  
European Alder  


Black Alder  
F  Oval  Rich or wet soils; produces catkins; possible winterkill.  


Betula lutea RF  Yellow Birch  M  Round  
Drooping branches; moist well-drained soils; yellow-orange 


bark; rusty yellow fall color.  


Catalpa speciosa  
Northern 


Catalpa  
F  Oval  


Poor, dry soil; showy, white June flowers; coarse; litter 


problem; no fall color.  


*Celtis occidentalis 
RF  


Common 


Hackberry  
M  Vase  


Tolerates alkaline soils; "pebbled" bark; yellowish fall color; 


pest or disease problem may limit use.  


*Fagus grandifolia 
RF  


American Beech  S  Oval  


Moist, rich soil; smooth, gray bark; yellow-bronze fall color; 


difficult to transplant; salt-sensitive; sensitive to soil 


compaction.  


Fagus sylvatica  European Beech  S  Round  
Moist, rich soil; less difficult to transplant than American 


Beech; several cultivars available; excellent lawn tree.  


*Gleditsia 


triancanthos 


inermius  


   


   


Thornless  


Honeylocust  


F  


Vase  


Tolerates poor drainage; thornless, as are all of the following; 


pest or disease problem may limit use; salt-tolerant; yellow 


fall color.  


"Imperial"  Round  
Podless; low-growing; flat-topped; pest or disease problem 


may limit use.  


"Shademaster"  Irregular  
Podless; vase shape in age; pest or disease problem may limit 


use.  


"Skyline"  Upright  
Podless; tends to form central leader; good golden fall color; 


pest or disease problem may limit use.  


"Sunburst"  Irregular  
Podless; yellow new foliage; poor branch structure; pest or 


disease problem may limit use.  


*Gymnocladus 


dioica  


Kentucky 


Coffeetree  
M  Upright  


Moist, rich soil; coarse and rugged; dioecious; yellowish fall 


color.  


Juglans cinerea RF  Butternut  S   
Needs good soil and consistent moisture; fairly good shade 


tree; susceptible to butternut decline.  


Larix decidua  
European Larch  F  


Pyramidal  
Full sun; graceful, fine-textured; transplant in spring before 


buds open; yellow fall color.  


"Pendula"   Interesting weeping branches.  


Larix kaempferi  Japanese Larch  F  
Wide-


Pyramidal  
Similar to European Larch, more picturesque.  


Larix laricina RF  
American Larch  


Tamarack  
M  


Narrow-


Pyramidal  
Hardy; drought tolerant; used in shelterbelts.  


Liriodendron 


tulipifera  
Tuliptree  F  Upright  


Rich, moist soil; unique leaves and interesting June flowers; 


yellow fall color; purchase from northern source.  


*Platanus 


occidentalis  


Sycamore  


American 


Planetree  


F  Pryamidal  


Moist soil; tolerates poor drainage; mottled bark; coarse, 


maple-like leaves; no fall color; pest or disease problem may 


limit use.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


Populus alba  


"Pyramidalis"  
White Poplar  F  Fastigate  


Moist soil; tolerates poor drainage; mottled bark; coarse, 


maple-like leaves; no fall color; pest or disease problem may 


limit use.  


Populus deltoides RF  


   


Eastern Poplar  


Very 


fast  


Fastigiate  
Hardy, fast growing; golden yellow fall color; tolerates 


drought; brittle; may produce "cotton"; too large for homes.  


"Robusta"  Upright  Seedless.  


"Siouxland"   Larger greener leaves; seedless; uniform in shape; hardy.  


"Cottonless"   Seedless; many similar species available.  


Populus grandi-  


dentata RF  


Bigtooth  


Aspen  
F  Narrow  


Moist, sandy, gravelly soils; not shade tolerant; yellow fall 


color.  


*Prunus serotina RF  Black Cherry  M  Oval  
Dry soil; white flowers and black fruits in drooping racemes; 


orange fall color; pest or disease problem may limit use.  


Taxodium distichum  Baldcypress  F  Pyramidal  
Moist, intolerant of alkaline soil; tolerates poor drainage; sun; 


bronze fall color; fine texture; purchase from northern source.  


*Tilia americana RF  


American 


Linden  


Basswood  


Linden Tree  


Linn Tree  


M  Round  Sensitive to soil compaction; salt-sensitive; coarse; rich soils.  


Tilia cordata  
   


Littleleaf 


Linden  


   


S  


   


Pyramidal  


Urban; moist soil; fragrant flowers; poor branch structure, 


needs training while young; yellow fall color.  


"Chancellor"  Uniform, upright habit.  


"Greenspire"  Improved branching habit.  


Tilia x euchlora  


"Redmond"  


Redmond 


Linden  
M  Pyramidal  Urban; dark green foliage.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native  S=Slow   M=Medium   F=Fast  


    


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Medium Deciduous Trees (15 landscaping points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name  
Growth  


Rate  
Form  Adaptation and Remarks  


Aesculus x carnea  


"Briotii"  


Ruby Horsechest-  


nut  
S  Round  Rich, most soil; red flowers.  


Aesculus glabra  Ohio Buckeye  S  Round  Rich, moist soil; yellow-green flowers; orange fall color.  


Alnus glutinosa  European Alder  F  Oval  
Wet; tolerates poor drainage; catkins; cone fruits; no fall 


color.  


*Betula nigra RF  River Birch  M  Vase  
Wet to dry, intolerant of alkaline soils; tolerates poor 


drainage; pinkish, peeling bark.  


*Betula papyifera RF  Paper Birch  M  Oval  
Cool, moist soil; white, peeling bark; golden yellow fall 


color; pest or disease problem.  


Betula pendula  


"Gracilis"  


Cutleaf European 


Birch  
M  Weeping  


Cool, moist soil; dissected leaves; yellow fall color; pests & 


disease.  


Betula platyphylla 


japonica  


Japanese White 


Birch  
M  Pyramidal  White bark; some resistance to bronze birch borer.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


Cercidiphyllum 


japonicum  
Katsuratree  M  Columnar  


Moist soil; dioecious; form controlled by pruning, wide 


spreading if multi-trunked; yellow to red fall color.  


Cladrastis lutea  
American 


Yellowwood  
S  Round  


Moist, rich soil; smooth, light gray bark; fragrant, white June 


flowers in large clusters; yellow fall color.  


Magnolia acuminata  Cucumbertree  F  Pyramidal  
Inconspicuous, greenish flowers; pink to red fruits; coarse 


foliage; no fall color.  


*Nyssa sylvatica  Black Gum  S  Pyramidal  
Moist soil; tolerates poor drainage; dense habit; dioecious; 


orange to scarlet fall color; difficult to transplant.  


Phellodendron 


amurense  
Amur Corktree  M  Round  


Urban; dry soil; dioecious; compound leaves; corky bark; 


yellow fall color.  


Prunus maackii  Amur Chokecherry  M  Round  Amber exfoliating bark; does well in containers.  


Prunus padus 


commutata  


Harbinger  


European Bird  


Cherry  


S  Round  Sun; early to leaf out in spring; pest or disease problem.  


*Prunus pennsyl-  


vanica RF  
Pin Cherry  M  Upright  


Poor, dry soil; sun; graceful; shortlived; suckering; red fruits; 


orange to red fall color.  


Prunus sargentii  Sargent Cherry  M  Upright  Sun, well-drained soil; early, pink flowers; red fall color.  


Salix alba tristis  
Golden Weeping 


Willow  
F  Weeping  


Wet soil; tolerates poor drainage; bright yellow twigs; fine-


textured; litter problem.  


Ulmus parvifolia  Chinese Elm  M  Vase  Disease resistant; exfoliating bark.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native   S=Slow   M=Medium   F=Fast  


    


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Low Deciduous Trees (10 landscaping points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name  
Growth  


Rate  
Form  Adaptation and Remarks  


Acer ginnala  Amur Maple  M  Round  Sun, shade; red fruit; red fall color.  


*Alnus rugosa  Speckled Alder  F  Round  Wet soil; tolerates poor soil; lenticeled bark.  


*Amelanchier 


arborea RF  
Downy Serviceberry  S  Upright  


Dry soil; shade; gray bark; white flowers; yellow to 


red fall color; edible fruits.  


Amelanchier x 


grandiflora  
Apple Serviceberry  S  Spreading  Semi-shade; large, white flowers, edible fruits.  


*Amelanchier 


laevis  
Allegany Serviceberry  S  Upright  


Moist soil; shade; white flowers; orange to red fall 


color, edible fruits.  


*Carpinus 


caroliniana RF  
American Hornbeam  S  Spreading  


Moist soil; shade; smooth, gray muscle-like trunks; 


orange fall color.  


Cercis canadensis  Eastern Redbud  M  Spreading  
Sun or shade; purplish-pink flowers; yellow fall color; 


purchase form northern source.  


*Cornus 


alternifolia  
Pagoda Dogwood  M  Spreading  


Cool, moist soil; shade; blue-black berries on red 


stalks; early, maroon fall color.  


*Crataegus crus-


galli  


"Inermis"  


Thornless Cockspur 


Hawthorn  
 Spreading  


Urban; sun; persistent, brick red fruits; orange to red 


fall color; no thorns.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


Crataegus laevigata  


"Paulii"  
Paul's Scarlet Hawthorn  


S  Upright  


Heavy soil; sun; double, scarlet flowers in late May; 


no fall color; pest or disease problem.  


"Superba"  
Crimson Cloud 


Hawthorn  
Single, scarlet flowers; resistant to leaf spot.  


Crataegus x lavallei  Lavalle Hawthorn  S  Upright  Urban; sun; glossy foliage; bronzy-red fall color.  


*Crataegus mollis  Downy Hawthorn  S  Upright  
Sun; large, red, early-ripening fruit; yellow fall color; 


pest or disease problem.  


Crataegus 


phaenopyrum  
Washington Hawthorn  M  Upright  


Urban; sun; latest blooming; small, persistent, orange-


red fruits in clusters; orange fall color.  


*Crataegus 


punctata  
Dotted Hawthorn  S  Spreading  


Moist, heavy soil; sun; picturesque; pest or disease 


problem may limit use.  


Crataegus x "Toba"  Toba Hawthorn  S   
Sun; double, pink, fragrant flowers; glossy leaves; red 


fruits; dwarf-15.  


Elaeagnus 


angustifolia  
Russianolive  F  Round  


Dry, alkaline soil; sun; fragrant, inconspicuous 


flowers; silver-gray foliage; no fall color; pest or 


disease problem may limit use.  


Magnolia x 


loebneri  


"Merrill"  


Dr. Merrill Magnolia  M  Pyramidal  
Rich soil; sun; white, many-petaled flowers; difficult 


to transplant.  


Magnolia x 


soulangiana  
Saucer Magnolia  S  Round  


Rich soil; sun; large pink flowers; difficult to 


transplant.  


Malus species & 


cultivars  
Flowering Crabapples    


All require sun and well-drained soil. They all possess 


a high degree of resistance to the apple scab disease.  


Malus "Adams"  
Adams Flowering 


Crabtree  
M  Spreading  


Slightly susceptible to fire blight; rose-red flowers; 


5/8" diam., persistent, deep red fruits.  


Malus baccata 


jackii  
Jack Flowering Crabtree  M  


Upright 


spreading  


Slightly susceptible to fire blight; white flowers; tiny 


1/3-1/2"diam., dark red fruits.  


Malus "Bob White"  
Bob White Flowering 


Crabtree  
M  Rounded  


Moderately susceptible to fire blight; white flowers; 


5/8" diam., persistent, yellow fruits.  


Malus "Candied 


Apple"  


Weeping Candied Apple 


Flowering Crabtree  
 Weeping  


Slightly susceptible to scab; pink flowers; 5/8" diam., 


persistent cherry-red fruits; foliage tinged with red.  


Malus "Centurian"  
Centurian Flowering 


Crabtree  
 


Narrow-


Upright  


Disease resistant; rose-red flowers; 5/8" diam., 


persistent, cherry-red fruits.  


Malus "David"  
David Flowering 


Crabapple  
M  Rounded  


Slightly susceptible to fire blight and scab; white 


flowers; 1/4-1 1/2" diam., reddish fruits for in 


alternate years.  


Malus "Dolgo"  
Dolgo Flowering 


Crabtree  
M  


Upright-


Spreading  


Slightly susceptible to fire blight and scab; white 


flowers; 1 1/4-1 1/2" diam., persistent red fruits.  


Malus "Donald 


Wyman"  


Donald Wyman 


Flowering Crabtree  
M  Rounded  


Disease-resistant; white flowers; 3/8" diam.; 


persistent red fruits.  


Malus "Dorothea"  
Dorothea Flowering 


Crabtree  
S  Horizontal  


Moderately susceptible to scab; clear pink semi-


double flowers; 1/2" diam., yellow fruits.  


Malus "Gibb's 


Golden Gage"  


Gibb's Golden Gage 


Flowering Crabtree  
 Rounded  


Disease resistant; white flowers; 1" diam., persistent, 


yellow fruits.  


Malus "Indian 


Summer"  


Indian Summer 


Flowering Crabtree  
 Rounded  


Disease resistant; rose-red flowers; 5/8-3/4" diam., 


red fruits.  


Malus "Mary 


Potter"  


Mary Potter Flowering 


Crabtree  
S  Horizontal  


Moderately susceptible to fire blight and scab; white 


flowers; 1/2" diam., red fruits; 10' height.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


Malus "Ormiston 


Roy"  


Ormiston Roy 


Flowering Crabtree  
M  Rounded  


Slightly susceptible to fire blight; white flowers, 3/8" 


diam., persistent, yellow fruits.  


Malus "Profusion"  
Profusion Flowering 


Crabtree  
M  


Rounded-


Spreading  


Slightly susceptible to fire blight; rose-red flowers; 


1/2" diam., deep red fruits; bronze-green foliage.  


Malus "Red Jewel"  
Red Jewel Flowering 


Crabtree  
 Horizontal  


Moderately susceptible to scab; white flowers; 1/2" 


diam., persistent, bright red fruits.  


Malus "Robinson"  
Robinson Flowering 


Crabtree  
 


Upright-


Spreading  


Disease resistant; rose-red flowers; 3/8" diam, 


persistent, bright red fruits, bronze-green foliage.  


Malus "Sentinel"  
Sentinel Flowering 


Crabtree  
 


Narrow-


upright  


Slightly susceptible to fire blight and scab; pale pink 


flowers; 1/2" diam., persistent, bright red fruits.  


Malus "White 


Cascade"  


White Cascade 


Flowering Crabtree  
S  Weeping  


Disease resistant; white flowers, 1/2" diam., yellowish 


fruits.  


*Ostrya virginiana 
RF  


Hophornbeam  S  Pyramidal  
Dry soil; shade; catkins; elm-like leaves; yellow fall 


color.  


*Prunus americana 
RF  


American Plum  F  Horizontal  
Dry soil; sun; suckering habit; white flowers; yellow 


to orange fall color.  


Prunus cerasifera 


"Newportii"  
Newport Plum  M  Round  Sun; reddish-purple summer foliage.  


*Prunus virginiana 
RF  


Chokecherry  


M  Upright  


Dry, infertile soil; suckering habit; white flowers; 


yellow to orange fall color.  


"Canada Red" or 


"Shubert"  
Shubert Chokecherry  


Sun; foliage changes from green to purple in early 


summer.  


Pyrus calleryana 


and cultivars  
Callery Pear  M  Oval  Sun; early, white flowers; late red fall color.  


Saliz matsudana 


"Tortuosa"  


Corkscrew or Contorted 


Willow  
F  Upright  


Wet soil; tolerates poor drainage; sun; twisted 


branches; pest or disease problem may limit use.  


Saliz pentandra  Laurel Willow  M  Round  Wet soil; sun; foliage glossy, dark green; dense habit.  


Sorbus alnifolia  Korean Mountainash  S  Oval  
Cool soil; simple leaves; small flowers and fruits; 


orange to red fall color; pest or disease problem.  


Sorbus aucuparia 


and cultivars  
European Mountainash  M  Oval  Cool soil; orange fruits; pest or disease problem  


*Sorbus decora  Showy Mountainash  S  Upright  
Cool Soil; large, reddish fruits; pest or disease 


problem.  


Syringa reticulata  Japanese Tree Lilac  S  Horizontal  
Sun; large, pyramidal, cream-white flower clusters in 


June; tan fruits.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native   S=Slow   M=Medium   F=Fast  


  


 


 


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Tall Evergreen Trees (40 landscaping points)  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


Botanical Name  Common Name  
Growth  


Rate  
Height  Adaptation and Remarks  


Abies concolor  White Fur  M  70'  Dry soil; heat; gray-green foliage.  


Picea abies  Norway Spruce  F  75'  Deep soil; dark green foliage; long cones; pendulous branchlets.  


*Picea glauca RF  White Spruce  M  50'  Moist soil; sun; light green needles.  


Picea omorika  Serbian Spruce  S  50'  Sun; narrow habit; pendulous branchlets.  


Picea pungens 


glauca  


Blue Colorado 


Spruce  
S  60'  Sun; urban; blue needles; stiff, formal habit.  


Pinus cembra  Swiss Stone Pine  S  50'  Sun; narrow habit.  


Pinus nigra  Austrian pine  M  50'  Sun; urban; stout, dark green needles, pest or disease problem.  


*Pinus resinosa RF  Red Pine  F  50'  Dry soil; sun; reddish bark; yellow-green winter color.  


*Pinus strobus RF  Eastern White Pine  M  75'  
Moist soil; sun; picturesque; soft, green foliage, pest or disease 


problem.  


Pinus sylvestris  Scots Pine  F  50'  Dry soil; sun; orange bark; bluish needles.  


Pseudotsuga 


menziesii  
Douglas Fir  M  70'  Half-shade; flat, dark green needles.  


*Tsuga  


Canadensis RF  
Canada Hemlock  M  75'  Moist soil; soft, feathery foliage.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native  S=Slow  M=Medium  F=Fast  


    


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Medium Evergreen Trees (20 landscaping points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name  
Growth  


Rate  
Height  Adaptation and Remarks  


*Thuja  


occidentalis RF  
American Arborvitae  M  40'  Wet soil; half-shade; light green, soft, scale-like foliage.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native  S=Slow   M=Medium   F=Fast  


    


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Low Evergreen Trees (12 landscaping points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name  
Growth  


Rate  
Height  Adaptation and Remarks  


Juniperus chinnensis 


"Keteleeri"  
Keteleer Juniper  S  20'  Dry soil; sun; green foliage; large fruits.  


Juniperus chinnensis 


"Mountbatten  
Mountbatten Juniper  S  20'  Dry soil; sun; narrow, columnar form; large fruits.  


* Juniperus virginiana RF  Eastern Red Cedar  


S  20'  


Dry soil; sun; brownish winter color.  


"Burkii"  
Burke Eastern Red 


Cedar  
Fine-textured, gray-green foliage.  


"Canaertii"  
Canaert Eastern Red 


Cedar  
Dark green, tufted foliage.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


"Glauca"  
Silver Eastern Red 


Cedar  
Silver-gray foliage; informal habit.  


"Hillii"  
Hill Dundee Eastern Red 


Cedar  
Gray-green foliage turns purple in winter, no fruits.  


*Picea glauca RF  


"Densata"  
Black Hills Spruce  S  20'  Dry soil; sun; narrow, dense habit.  


Taxus cuspidata  Japanese Yew  S  20'  
Shade; urban, deep green needles; often sold as 


Taxus cuspidata "Capitata"  


*Thuja occidentalis RF  


"Fastigiata"  
Pyramidal Arborvitae  M  25'  Narrow columnar form.  


*Thuja occidentalis RF  


"Techny"  
Techny Arborvitae  S  20'  Deep green foliage, year round.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native  S=Slow  M=Medium  F=Fast  


  


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Tall Deciduous Shrubs (5 landscaping points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name  Form  Adaptation and Remarks  


*Amelanchier sp.  


(See also low trees)  
Serviceberry  Upright  


Shade; alkaline soil; white flowers; edible purple fruits; 


smooth, gray bark; yellow to orange fall color; fireblight a 


problem.  


Caragana arborescens  Siberian Peashrub  Erect, Oval  Dry, alkaline soils; yellow flowers; green twig.  


Chionanthus virginicus  Fringetree  Spreading  Moist soil; shade; white flowers; blue fruits; coarse.  


*Cornus alternifolia  Pagoda Dogwood  Spreading  
Moist soil; shade; white flowers; blue fruits; horizontal 


branches; early, maroon fall color.  


Cornus mas  
Corneliancherry 


Dogwood  
Oval  


Shade; urban; yellow flowers in April; flower buds may be 


injured or killed during some winters; edible red fruits.  


*Cornus racemosa  Gray Dogwood  Erect  
Dry or wet soils; shade; white flowers; white fruits; purple 


fall color.  


Cornus sericea  Redosier Dogwood  Spreading  
Wet, moist soils; tolerates poor drainage; white flowers; 


white fruits; red twigs; often sold a C. stolonifera.  Cornus sericea baileyi  
Bailey Redosier 


Dogwood  
Erect  


Cotoneaster multiflora  
Manyflowered 


Cotoneaster  
Mounded  


Sun; well-drained soil; white flowers; red fruits; very wide-


spreading; pests/diseases.  


Elaeagnus umbellata  Autumnolive  Spreading  
Poor, dry soil; sun; fragrant flowers; edible, red fruits; 


twiggy.  


Euonymus alata  Winged Euonymus  Spreading  
Sun or shade; well-drained soil; corky, winged twigs; pink 


to rose fall color.  


*Euonymus 


atropurpurea  
Eastern Wahoo  Tree-like  


Moist soil; shade; tiny, purplish flowers; orange to purple 


fall color.  


Euonymus europaea  
Spindletree of European 


Euonymus  
Tree-like  


Dry-soil; urban; striped bark; persistent pink fruit; orange to 


purple fall color.  


"Aldenhamensis"  
Aldenham European 


Euonymus  
 Bright pink fruit; shrubby form  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


"Redcap"  
Redcap European 


Euonymus  
 Bright red fruit.  


Exochorda racemosa  Pearlbush  Leggy  Sun; pearl-like flower buds; tan fruit capsules.  


*Hamamelis virginiana  Common Witchhazel  Spreading  Shade; yellow October flowers.  


Hydrangea paniculata  


"Grandiflora"  
Peegee Hydrangea  Upright  


Moist soil; white to pink flowers in August; persistent, tan 


flower clusters.  


Kolkwitzia amabilis  Beautybush  Upright  
Alkaline soil; sun; pink flowers in June; shredded bark; 


leggy.  


Ligustrum amurense  Amur Privet  Erect  Dry soil; white flowers; black fruits; hedge plant.  


Ligustrum vulgare  


"Cheyenne"  
Cheyenne Privet  Erect  Dry soil; urban; white flowers; black fruits; hedge plant.  


Lonicera x bella  


"Candida"  


White Belle 


Honeysuckle  


Upright-


mounded  


Dry soil; white flowers; red fruits; may become weedy, pest 


problem.  


Lonicera tatarica 


zabelii  
Zabel Honeysuckle  Rounded  


Dry soil; urban; red flowers; dense, red fruits; may become 


weedy, pest or disease problem, may be sold as L. 


korolkowii zabelii.  


Magnolia stellata  Star Magnolia  Rounded  
Rich soil; white flowers; orange fruits; finest textured 


magnolia.  


*Physocarpus 


opulifolius  
Eastern Ninebark  Vase  


Dry soil; semi-shade; white flowers; red, capsular fruit; 


shredded bark; course.  


Prunus tomentosa  Manchu Cherry  Rounded  Dry soil; sun; white flowers; edible, red fruits.  


Prunus triloba  Double Flowering Plum  Rounded  Sun; double, pink flowers; no fruit.  


Rhamnus frangula 


"Columnaris"  


Tallhedge Glossy 


Buckthorn  
Columnar  Moist soil; shade; red to black fruits; holds leaves late.  


*Rhus glabra  Smooth Sumac  Suckering  
Dry soil; sun; persistent red fruits; smooth stems; scarlet fall 


color.  


Rhus typhina  Staghorn Sumac  Suckering  
Dry soil; sun; persistent red fruits; felty stems; orange to red 


fall color.  


Rhus typhina 


"Dissecta"  


Shredleaf Staghorn 


Sumac  
Picturesque  


Dry soil; sun; red fruits; dissected leaves, orange to red in 


fall.  


Salix caprea  
Goat Willow or French 


Pussy Willow  
Oval  Wet or dry soil; sun; large silver catkins in early spring.  


Shepherdia argentea  Buffaloberry  Irregular  
Dry soil; sun; yellowish flowers; dioecious; edible red 


fruits; silvery foliage.  


*Staphylea trifolia  American Bladdernut  Upright  
Moist soil; shade; whitish flowers; green to brown, bladder-


like fruits; white-striped bark.  


Syringa x chinensis  Chinese Lilac  Vase  Dry, alkaline soil; purple-lilac flowers; fine texture.  


Syringa x 


hyacinthiflora cvs.  
Hyacinth Lilacs  Upright  Sun; white, pink, lilac, purple flowers; early blooming.  


Syringa x prestoniae 


cvs.  
Preston Lilacs  Rounded  Sun; pink to purple flowers; late-blooming; coarse textured.  


Syringa reticulata  Japanese Tree Lilac  Tree-like  
Sun; white flowers in June; tan fruits; cherry-like bark; 


often sold as S. amurensis japonica.  


Syringa vulgaris cvs  Common Lilac  Upright  
Well-drained soil; sun; white, pink, lilac, purple, fragrant 


flowers; pest or disease problem may limit use.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


Tamarix ramosissima  Tamarisk  Irregular  
Dry soil; sun; tiny, pink flowers; very fine texture; often 


sold as T. pentandra.  


Viburnum dentatum  Arrowwood Viburnum  Vase  
Moist soil; shade; white flowers in June; blue fruits; maroon 


fall color.  


Viburnum lantana  
Wayfaringtree 


Viburnum  
Upright  


Dry soil; shade; white flowers; red to black fruits; late 


maroon fall color.  


*Viburnum lentago  Nannyberry Viburnum  Upright  
Moist or dry soil; sun or shade; white flowers; black fruits; 


leggy; maroon fall color; pest or disease problem.  


*Viburnum 


prunifolium  
Blackhaw Viburnum  Spreading  


Dry soil; shade; white flowers; black fruits; single or multi-


trunked; maroon fall color.  


Viburnum sieboldii  Siebold Vibernum  Tree-like  
Rich soil; white flowers; red to black fruits; large, coarse 


leaves.  


Vibernum trilobum  


American 


Cranberrybush 


Vibernum  


Upright  
Moist soil; shade; lacy, white flowers; persistent, edible 


fruits.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native  


  


   


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Medium Deciduous Shrubs (3 landscaping points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name  Form  Adaptation and Remarks  


Aronia arbutifolia  Red Chokeberry  Erect  
Wet soil; shade; tolerates poor drainage; white flowers; red 


fruits; red fall color.  


Cornus alba 


"Argenteomarginata"  


Creamedge 


Dogwood  
Mounded  Moist soil; white flowers; white fruit; variegated foliage.  


*Corylus americana  
American Filbert 


or Hazelnut  
Rounded  Dry soil; shade; catkins in March; orange fall color.  


Cotoneaster divaricatus  
Spreading 


Cotoneaster  
Mounded  


Dry alkaline soil; red fruits; fine texture; late maroon fall 


color; not fully hardy in zone indicated-needs a special site or 


ideal conditions.  


Cotoneaster lucidus  Hedge Cotoneaster  Upright  
Dry soil; shade; black fruits; orange to maroon fall color; 


good hedge plant; C. acutifolius is similar.  


Euonymus alatus 


"Compacta"  


Dwarf Winged 


Euonymus  
Spreading  Sun or shade; pink and orange fruits; red fall color.  


Forsynthia x intermedia 


cvs.  
Border Forsythia  Vase  


Sun; urban; large, pale to yellow flowers; flower buds may 


be injured or killed at temperatures lower than -14°F.  


Forsythia ovata  Early Forsythia  Mounded  
Sun; urban; smaller, earlier, yellow flowers; flower buds may 


be injured or killed at temperatures lower than -25°F.  


Forsythia suspensa  Weeping Forsythia  Mounded  


Sun; urban; yellow flowers; slender, drooping twigs; flower 


buds may be injured or killed at temperatures lower than -


15°F.  


*Ilex verticillata  Winterberry  Upright  Wet, acid soil; tolerates poor drainage; dioecious; red fruits.  


Ligustrum obtusifolium 


regelianum  


Regel's Border 


Privet  
Spreading  


Dry soil; shade; white flowers; blue-black fruits; late, purple 


fall color.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


Malus sargentii "Tina"  Sargent Crabapple  Spreading  Disease resistant; 5' mature height.  


Myrica pensylvanica  Bayberry  Upright  
Dry soil; sun; gray, fragrant fruits; dioecious; semi-


evergreen; suckering.  


Philadelphus x virginalis 


"Glacier"  


Glacier 


Mockorange  
Rounded  Sun; double, white, fragrant flowers.  


Prunus x cistena  
Purple-leaved Sand 


Cherry  
Rounded  Dry soil; sun; white flowers; purple foliage all season.  


Rhodotypos scandens  Jetbead  Spreading  Dry soil; shade; white flowers; sparse red fruits; fine texture.  


Rosa hugonis  Father Hugo Rose  Vase  Poor soil; sun; yellow flowers; sparse red fruits; fine texture.  


Rosa rugosa cvs.  Rugosa Rose  Rounded  
Dry soil; sun; white, yellow, pink, or red flowers; large 


edible red fruits; fall color; wrinkled leaves; tolerant of salt.  


*Rosa setigera  Prairie Rose  
Sprawling-


mounded  


Sun; pink flowers in July; red fruits; orange fall color; can be 


used as a climber.  


Spiraea prunifolia  
Bridalwreath 


Spirea  
Upright  Sun; double, white flowers; orange to red fall color.  


Spiraea thunbergii  Thunberg Spirea  Vase  Sun; white flowers; yellow to orange fall color; fine-textured.  


Spiraea x vanhouttei  Vanhoutte Spirea  Vase  Sun; white flowers; arching branches.  


Syringa meyeri "Palibin"  Palibin Lilac  Rounded  
Sun; purple flowers; dense; fine-textured; good informal 


hedge plant often sold as S. palibiniana.  


Viburnum carlesii.  
Koreanspice 


Viburnum  
Rounded  


Shade; urban; pink to white, fragrant flowers; blue-black 


fruits; red fall color.  


*Viburnum cassinoides  
Witherod 


Viburnum  
Rounded  


Wet, acid soil; tolerates poor drainage; white flowers; pink to 


red to blue fruits; red fall color.  


Weigela florida  
Old-fashioned 


Weigela  
Spreading  Well-drained soil; pink, funnel-shaped flowers.  


Weigela x 'Vanicekii'  Vanicek Weigela  Spreading  Well-drained soil; red flowers.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native  


  


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Low Deciduous Shrubs (1 landscaping point)  


Botanical Name  Common Name  Form  Adaptation and Remarks  


Acanthopanax 


sieboldianus  
Fiveleaf Aralia  Upright  


Dry soil; shade; urban; leaves palmately compound; 


thorny.  


*Amelanchier stolonifera  Running Serviceberry  Suckering  
Dry soil; shade; white flowers; edible fruits; orange fall 


color.  


*Aronia melanocarpa  Black Chokeberry  Suckering  
Wet soil; shade; white flowers; black fruits; red fall 


color.  


Berberis thunbergii  Japanese Barberry  Mounded  
Dry soil; shade; red fruits; orange fall color; thorns; good 


hedge plant.  


"Atropurpurea"  Redleaf Japanese Barberry   Sun; red summer foliage.  


"Crimson Pygmy"  Crimson Japanese Barberry  
Low-


mound  
Sun; red summer foliage; 2' tall.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


Buxus microphylla 


koreana  
Korean Littleaf Box  Rounded  Shade; broadleaf evergreen; good hedge plant.  


Chaenomeles japonica 


alpina  


Dwarf Japanese 


Floweringquince  
Spreading  


Dry soil; urban; orange flowers; yellow, edible fruits; 


dense; 1' tall; flower buds may be injured or killed during 


some winters.  


Cotoneaster apiculatus  Cranberry Cotoneaster  Mounded  Dry soil; red fruits; red fall color.  


Deutzia x lemoinei 


"Compacta"  
Compact Lemoine Deutzia  Rounded  Well-drained soil; white flowers.  


*Diervilla lonicera  Dwarf Bushhoneysuckle  Mounded  Dry soil; shade; yellow flowers; good bank cover.  


Forsythia viridissima 


"Bronxensis"  
Bronx Forsythia  


Low-


mound  
Sun; small yellow flowers; fine texture; purple fall color.  


Hydrangea arborescens 


"Annabelle"  
Annabelle Hydrangea  Mounded  


Moist soil; shade; white, clustered flowers; dense; 


blooms on new wood.  


Hydrangea arborescens 


"Grandiflora"  
Snowhill Hydrangea  Mounded  


Smaller flower clusters and less dense than Hydrangea 


arborescens "Annabelle."  


*Hypericum kalmianum  Kalm's St. Johnswort  Rounded  Dry soil; sun; yellow flowers; shiny brown twigs.  


Lonicera x xylosteoides 


"Clavey's Dwarf"  


Clavey's Dwarf 


Honeysuckle  
Rounded  Dense growth; good hedge or screening plant.  


Lonicera xylosteum 


"Nanum"  


Emerald Mound 


Honeysuckle  
Mounded  Lower growing than preceding; 2'-3'.  


Mahonia aquifolium 


"Mayhan"  
Mayhan Oregongrape  Suckering  


Shade; urban; yellow flowers; blue fruits; holly-like 


evergreen foliage; not fully hardy in zone - need special 


site or ideal conditions.  


Philadelphus coronarius 


"Aureus"  
Golden Mockorange  Rounded  Sun; white flowers; yellow summer foliage.  


Philadelphus x lemoinei 


"Mont Blanc"  
Mont Blanc Mockorange  Mounded  Sun; single; white, fragrant flowers; dense.  


Physocarpus opulifolius 


"Nanus"  
Dwarf Common Ninebark  Rounded  


Dry soil; shade; creamy-white flowers; red capsular 


fruits; shredded bark.  


*Potentilla fruticosa cvs.  Bush Cinquefoil  Mounded  
Dry soil; sun; yellow and white flowers; blooms all 


summer.  


Prunus glandulosa 


"Sinensis"  


Pink Dwarf 


Floweringalmond  
Rounded  


Sun; light soil; double, pink flowers; no fruits; narrow 


leaves.  


Rhododendron x 


kosteranum  
Mollis Hybrid Azaleas  Spreading  Moist, acid soil; pink flowers; red fall color.  


Rhododendron x "PJM 


Hybrid"  
PJM Hybrid Rhododendron  Rounded  


Moist, acid soil; shade; lavender flowers; evergreen 


leaves turn purple in autumn.  


*Rhus aromatica  Fragrant Sumac  
Mounded  


Dry soil; sun; red fruits; fragrant foliage; turns orange-


maroon in fall.  


"Gro-Low"  Gro-low Fragrant Sumac  Uniform 2½' height; glossy leaves.  


Ribes alpinum  Alpine Currant  Rounded  Shade; urban; good hedge plant.  


Rosa virginiana  Virginia Rose  Suckering  
Dry soil; pink flowers; red fruits; red stems; good bank 


cover.  


Salix repens argentea  Silver Creeping Willow  Spreading  Moist soil; sun; silvery foliage.  


Spiraea x arguta 


"Compacta"  
Compact Garland Spirea  Mounded  Sun; white flowers; fine texture.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


Spiraea x billiardii  Billiard Spirea  Upright  Sun; pink flowers, in July and August.  


Spiraea x bumalda 


"Anthony Waterer"  
Anthony Waterer Spirea  Rounded  Dry soil; sun; raspberry red flowers; unattractive fruits.  


Spiraea x bumalda 


"Froebelii"  
Froebel Spirea  Rounded  


Dry soil; sun; raspberry red flowers; orange to maroon 


fall color.  


Spiraea japonica alpina  Daphne Spirea  
Low-


mound  
Sun; pale pink flowers in July; 10" height.  


Spiraea nipponica 


"Snowmound"  
Snowmound Spirea  Mounded  


Sun; white flowers; blue-green foliage; possible disease 


problem.  


Symphoricarpos rivularis  Snowberry  Vase  
Dry soil; shade; tiny pink flowers; showy white fruits; 


often sold as S. albus laevigatus.  


Symphoricarpos 


orbiculatus  
Indiancurrant Coralberry  Suckering  Dry soil; shade; pink fruits; good bank cover.  


Viburnum opulus 


"Compactum"  


Compact European 


Cranberrybush Viburnum  
Rounded  Shade; white flowers; persistent, red fruit; dense habit.  


Viburnum opulus 


"Nanum"  


Dwarf European 


Cranberrybush Viburnum  
Globe  Shade; no flowers or fruits; twiggy.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native  


  


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Tall to Medium Evergreen Shrubs (5 landscaping points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name  Height  Form  Adaptation and Remarks  


Juniperus chinensis      


 "Ames"  Ames Juniper  9'  Broad pyramid  Sun; bluish green foliage.  


 "Blaauw"  Blaauw Juniper  4'  Upright-vase  Sun; grayish blue foliage.  


 "Herzii"  Herz Blue Juniper  15'  
Ascending-


Spreading  
Sun; silvery blue foliage.  


 "Maney"  Maney Juniper  6'  Upright, bushy  Sun; bluish green foliage.  


 "Old Gold"  Old Gold Juniper  4'  Spreading  Sun; green with gold tips.  


 "Pfitzerana"  Pfitzer Juniper  6'  Wide-spreading  Sun; green foliage; no fruits.  


 "Pfitzerana Glauca"  Blue Pfitzer Juniper  5'  Spreading  Sun; blue-gray foliage.  


*Juniperus communis 


depressa  
Oldfield Common Juniper  4'  Spreading  


Dry soil; sun; light green; brownish in 


winter.  


Juniperus sabina "Von 


Ehren"  
Von Ehren Savin Juniper  4'  Spreading  


Dry soil; sun; light green; brownish in 


winter.  


Juniperus squamata 


"Meyeri"  
Meyer Singleseed Juniper  5'  Picturesque  Sun; blue foliage.  


Picea glauca RF "Conica"  Dwarf Alberta Spruce  7'  Pyramidal  
Shelter from winter sun; light green 


foliage.  


Pinus mugo  Mugo Pine  4'  Mounded  Dry soil; sun; green foliage.  


Taxus cuspidata 


"Expansa"  
Spreading Japanese Yew  6'  Spreading  


Shade; urban; dark green foliage; needs 


ideal conditions.  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


Taxus cuspidata "Nana"  Dwarf Japanese Yew  4'  Mounded  
Shade; urban very dark green foliage; 


needs ideal conditions.  


Taxus x hunnewelliana  Hunnewell Yew  6'  Spreading  Shade; green  


Taxus x media cvs.  Anglojapanese Yew  1-10'  
Round or 


upright  


Shade; very dark green; needs ideal 


conditions.  


Thuja occidentalis RF 


"Robusta"  
Ware American Arborvitae  8'  Broad Pyramid  


Wet soil; half-shade; dark green foliage. 


Often sold as T.o. "Wareana"  


Thuja occidentalis RF 


"Woodwardii"  


Woodward Globe 


American Arborvitae  
6'  Globe  Wet soil; half-shade; bright green.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native  


  


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Low Evergreen Shrubs (3 landscaping points)  


Botanical Name  Common Name  Height  Form  Adaptation and Remarks  


Juniperus chinensis 


procumbens  


Japanese Garden 


Juniper  
2'  Creeping  Sun; blue-green, year-round foliage.  


Juniperus chinensis sargentii  Sargent Juniper  1'  Creeping  Sun; green; or blue-green in cv. "Glauca"  


*Juniperus horizontalis  Creeping Juniper  1'  Creeping  
Dry soil; sun; variable color-brown in 


winter.  


 "Bar Harbor"  Bar Harbor Juniper  8"  Creeping  
Dry soil; sun; bluish green foliage; salty in 


winter.  


 "Douglasii"  Waukegan Juniper  18"  Creeping  Dry soil; sun; steel blue; purplish in winter.  


 "Plumosa"  Andorra Juniper  18"  Radial-creeping  
Dry soil; sun; gray-green; purplish in 


winter.  


 "Prince of Wales"  
Prince of Wales 


Juniper  
4—6"  Prostrate  


Dry soil; sun; bright green; bronzed in 


winter.  


 "Wiltonii"  Blue Rug Juniper  4—6"  Flat-trailing  Dry soil; sun; silvery blue.  


 "Youngstown"  Youngstown Juniper  18"  Radial-creeping  
Dry soil; sun; gray-green; purplish in 


winter.  


Juniperus sabina      


 "Arcadia"  Arcadia Savin Juniper  18"  Low-spreading  Sun; green.  


 "Broadmoor"  
Broadmoor Savin 


Juniper  
2'  Mounded  Sun; soft grayish green; fine textured.  


 "Skandia"  Skandia Savin Juniper  12"  Low-spreading  Sun; grayish blue.  


"Tamariscifolia"  Tamarix Savin Juniper  2'  
Dense, 


spreading  
Sun; bluish green; pest or disease problem.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native  


   


Detailed Classification of Plant Species: Non-Contributing Species (0 points)  







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


Botanical 


Name  
Common Name  


Growth  


Rate  
Form  Adaptation and Remarks  


Acer negundo  Boxelder    Weed tree.  


 Buckthorn    Invasive  


 Crown Vetch    Invasive ground cover; aggressive.  


Crataegus crus-


galli  


Cockspur 


Hawthorn  
S  Spreading  


Urban; sun; persistent, brick red fruits; orange to red fall color; evil 


thorns.  


*Gleditsia 


triacanthos RF  


Common 


Honeylocust  
F  Vase  


Urban; tolerates poor drainage; salt tolerant; dioecious, females 


produce pods; fine-textured foliage; wicked thorns; yellow fall color; 


pest or disease problems may limit use.  


Lonicera x 


bella  


Belle 


Honeysuckle  
  Dry soil, white flowers; red fruits; may become weedy, pest problem.  


Lonicera 


tatarica  


Tatarian 


Honeysuckle  
  


Dry soil; urban, pink to white flowers; dense, red fruits; may become 


weedy, pest or disease problem.  


Lonicera 


morrowi  


Morrow 


Honeysuckle  
  Urban, dense, white flowers, pest and disease problem, weedy.  


 
Purple 


Loosestrife  
  Perennial, common marsh plant, may choke out native plants.  


Rhamnus 


cathartica  


Common 


Buckthorn  
  Becomes weak.  


Rhamnus 


frangula  


Glossy 


Buckthorn  
  Becomes weak.  


KEY: *Wisconsin native  


 RF refers to reforestation. Marked species are native to Wisconsin, and recommended for 


reforestation efforts by the Wisconsin DNR. (See section 78-609.)  


The following sources were used in compiling the preceding lists of plant species:  


Department of Natural Resources. Forest Trees of Wisconsin: How to Know Them. Madison, 
Wisconsin: Department of Natural Resources, 1987.  


Hasselkus, E.R. A Guide to Selecting Landscape Plants for Wisconsin. Madison, Wisconsin: College 
of Agricultural and Life Sciences University of Wisconsin - Extension, Cooperative Extension 
Programs, 1982.  


Hightshoe, Gary L. Native Trees, Shrubs, and Vines for Urban and Rural America: A Planting Design 
Manual for Environmental Designers. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold, 1988.  


Iowa State University. Landscape Plants for Iowa. Ames, Iowa: Iowa State University 


Cooperative 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


APPENDIX B  LANDSCAPING CHARTS AND CHECKLISTS 


Species suitable for landscaping use and compatible with Dane County climate and soil factors  
 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Betula lutea RF yellow birch Climax Tree 75 


Carya ovata RF shagbark hickory Climax Tree 75 


Catalpa speciosa northern catalpa Climax Tree 75 


Celtis occidentalis RF common hackberry Climax Tree 75 


Ginkgo biloba ginkgo Climax Tree 75 


Larix decidua European larch Climax Tree 75 


Larix kaempferi Japanese larch Climax Tree 75 


Larix laricina RF tamarack Climax Tree 75 


Liriodendron tulipifera tulip tree Climax Tree 75 


Metasequoia glyptostroboides dawn redwood Climax Tree 75 


Platanus occidentalis American sycamore Climax Tree 75 


Platanus x acerfolia London planetree Climax Tree 75 


Taxodium distichum bald cypress Climax Tree 75 


Ulmus hybrids hybrid elm Climax Tree 75 


Ulmus japonica 'Discovery' Discovery Japanese elm Climax Tree 75 


Ulmus wilsoniana 'Prospector' Prospector elm Climax Tree 75 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Aesculus flava yellow buckeye Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Aesculus glabra Ohio buckeye Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Aesculus hippocastanum horse chestnut Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Carya cordiformis RF bitternut hickory Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Carya illinoinensis pecan Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Fagus grandiflora RF american beech Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Fagus sylvatica european beech Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Gleditsia triacanthos f. inermis thornless honey locust Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Gymnocladus diocus Kentucky coffeetree Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Juglans nigra RF black walnut Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Liquidambar styraciflua sweetgum Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Prunus serotina RF black cherry Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Populus deltoides RF Eastern cottonwood Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Populus grandidenta RF big-tooth aspen Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus alba RF white oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus bicolor RF swamp white oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus ellipsoidalis RF northern pin oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus imbricaria shingle oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus macrocarpa RF bur oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus muehlenbergii chinkapin oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus palustris pin oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus robur English oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus rubra RF red oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus x macdenielli Heritage oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Quercus x schuettei swamp-bur hybrid oak Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Styphnolobium japonicum Japanese pagoda-tree Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Tilia americana RF American basswood Tall Deciduous Tree 30 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Aesculus x carnea red horse chestnut Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Betula nigra RF river birch Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Betula papyifera RF white birch Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Betula populifolia grey birch Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Carpinus betulus European hornbeam Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Cercidiphyllum japonicum Katsuratree Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Cladrastis kentukea American yellowwood Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Corylus colurna Turkish filbert Medium Deciduous Tree 15 







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


Maclura pomifera 'White Shield' osage-orange Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Magnolia acuminata cucumbertree Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Nyssa sylvatica black tupelo Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Ostrya virginiana RF ironwood Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Prunus americana RF Amur chokecherry Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Prunus pennsylvanica RF pin cherry Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Quercus x warei Regal Prince oak Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Salix alba tristis weeping willow Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Tilia cordata littleleaf linden Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Ulmus parvifolia lacebark elm Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Zelkova serrata Japanese zelkova Medium Deciduous Tree 15 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Alnus incana speckled alder Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Amelanchier arborea RF downy serviceberry Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Amelanchier canedensis shadblow serviceberry Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Amelanchier leavis Allegheny serviceberry Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Amelanchier x grandiflora apple serviceberry Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Carpinus caroliniana RF musclewood Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Cersis canadensis eastern redbud Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Cornus alternifolia pagoda dogwood Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Cotinus obovatus American smoketree Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Crataegus crus-galli var. inermis thornless cockspur hawthorn Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Crataegus phaenopyrum Washington hawthorn Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Crataegus viridis Winter King hawthorn Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Maackia amurensis Amur maackia Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Magnolia x loebneri "Merrill" Dr. Merrill magnolia Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Magnolia x soulangiana saucer magnolia Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Malus spp. crabapple and apple Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Parrotia persica Persian parrotia Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Prunus americana RF American plum Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Prunus sargentii Sargent chokecherry Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Prunus virginiana RF chokecherry Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Ptelea trifoliata wafer ash Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Syringa pekinensis Peking lilac Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Syringa reticulata Japanese tree lilac Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Viburnum prunifolium blackhaw viburnum Low Deciduous Tree 10 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Abies balsamea balsam fir Tall Evergreen Tree 40 


Abies concolor white fir Tall Evergreen Tree 40 


Picea abies Norway spruce Tall Evergreen Tree 40 


Picea glauca RF white spruce Tall Evergreen Tree 40 


Picea omorika Serbian spruce Tall Evergreen Tree 40 


Pinus resinosa RF red pine Tall Evergreen Tree 40 


Pinus strobus RF eastern white pine Tall Evergreen Tree 40 


Thuja plicata western red cedar Tall Evergreen Tree 40 


Tsuga canadensis RF eastern hemlock Tall Evergreen Tree 40 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Juniperus virgiana RF eastern red cedar Medium Evergreen Tree 20 


Pinus bungeana lacebark pine Medium Evergreen Tree 20 


Pinus cembra Swiss stone pine Medium Evergreen Tree 20 


Pinus heldreichii Bosnian pine Medium Evergreen Tree 20 


Pinus koraiensis Korean pine Medium Evergreen Tree 20 


Pinus sylvestris Scotch pine Medium Evergreen Tree 20 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Juniperus chinensis Chinese juniper Low Evergreen Tree 12 


Picea glauca var. "Densata" Black Hills spruce Low Evergreen Tree 12 


Taxus cuspidata Japanese yew Low Evergreen Tree 12 


Thuja occidentalis RF white cedar Low Evergreen Tree 12 







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Caragana arborescens Siberian peashrub Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Cephalanthus occidentalis buttonbush Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Chionanthus virginicus fringetree Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Cornus mas Cornelian-cherry dogwood Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Cornus racemosa gray dogwood Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Cornus sericea red osier dogwood Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Cotoneaster multiflora manyflowered cotoneaster Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Euonymus atropurpurea eastern wahoo Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Exochorda racemosa pearlbush Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Hamamelis virginiana common witchhazel Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Hydrangea paniculata panicled hydrangea Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Kolkwitzia amabilis beautybush Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Ligustrum amurense Amur privet Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Ligustrum vulgare Cheyenne privet Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Magnolia stellata star magnolia Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Physocarpus opulifolius eastern ninebark Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Prunus tomentosa Manchu cherry Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Prunus triloba double flowering plum Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Rhus glabra smooth sumac Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Rhus typhina staghorn sumac Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Salix caprea goat willow Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Shepherdia argentea buffaloberry Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Staphylea trifolia American bladdernut Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Syringa vulgaris common lilac Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Vibernum opulus var. americana American cranberrybush Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Viburnum dentatum arrowwood viburnum Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Viburnum lantana wayfaringtree viburnum Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Viburnum lentago nannyberry Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Viburnum sieboldii Siebold vibernum Tall Deciduous Shrub 5 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Aronia arbutifolia red chokeberry Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Aronia melanocarpa black chokeberry Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Cornus alba Tartarian dogwood Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Corylus americana American hazelnut Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Cotoneaster divaricatus spreading cotoneaster Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Cotoneaster lucidus hedge cotoneaster Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Forsynthia spp. forsythia species Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Ilex verticillata winterberry Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Ligustrum obtusifolium regelianum Regel's Border privet Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Myrica pensylvanica bayberry Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Philadelphus x virginalis mockorange Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Rhodotypos scandens jetbead Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Rosa hugonis Father Hugo rose Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Rosa rugosa cvs. rugosa rose Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Rosa setigera prairie rose Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Syringa meyeri Korean lilac Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Viburnum carlesii Koreanspice viburnum Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Viburnum cassinoides witherod viburnum Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Weigela florida old-fashioned weigela Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Aronia melanocarpa black chokeberry Medium Deciduous Shrub 3 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Amelanchier stolonifera running serviceberry Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Buxus microphylla koreana Korean littleaf boxwood Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Chaenomeles japonica alpina dwarf Japanese flowering quince Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Cotoneaster apiculatus cranberry cotoneaster Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Deutzia x lemoinei Lemoine's deutzia Low Deciduous Shrub 1 







 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


Diervilla lonicera bush honeysuckle Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Hydrangea arborescens snowball hydrangea Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Hypericum kalmianum Kalm's St. John's wort Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Mahonia aquifolium oregongrape holly Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Philadelphus coronarius golden mockorange Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Philadelphus x lemoinei Mont Blanc mockorange Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Potentilla fruticosa bush cinquefoil Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Prunus glandulosa dwarf flowering almond Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Rhus aromatica fragrant sumac Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Ribes alpinum alpine currant Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Rosa virginiana Virginia rose Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Salix repens argentea silver creeping willow Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Spiraea spp spirea Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Symphoricarpos rivularis snowberry Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Symphoricarpos orbiculatus coralberry Low Deciduous Shrub 1 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Juniperus chinensis Chinese juniper Medium Evergreen Shrub 5 


Juniperus communis depressa old field juniper Medium Evergreen Shrub 5 


Juniperus squamata singleseed juniper Medium Evergreen Shrub 5 


Pinus mugo mugo pine Medium Evergreen Shrub 5 


Taxus cuspidata Japanese yew Medium Evergreen Shrub 5 


Taxus x media Anglojapanese yew Medium Evergreen Shrub 5 


Thuja occidentalis shrub arborvitae Medium Evergreen Shrub 5 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Juniperus horizontalis creeping juniper Low Evergreen Shrub 3 


Juniperus sabina savin juniper Low Evergreen Shrub 3 


Rhododendron x kosteranum Mollis hybrid azaleas Low Evergreen Shrub 3 


Rhododendron x "PJM Hybrid" PJM hybrid rhododendron Low Evergreen Shrub 3 


Botanical Name Common Name Classification Landscaping Points 


Acer spp. maple tree species Non-contributory Plants 0 


Fraxinus spp. ash species Non-contributory Plants 0 


Pinus nigra Austrian pine Non-contributory Plants 0 


Picea pungens Colorado blue spruce Non-contributory Plants 0 
 


RF refers to reforestation. Marked species are native to Wisconsin, and recommended for reforestation efforts by 


the Wisconsin DNR. (See 


The following sources were used in compiling the preceding lists of plant species:   


 Department of Natural Resources. Forest Trees of Wisconsin: How to Know Them. Madison, Wisconsin: 


Department of Natural Resources, 1987. 


 Hasselkus, E.R. A Guide to Selecting Landscape Plants for Wisconsin. Madison, Wisconsin: College of 


Agricultural and Life Sciences University of Wisconsin - Extension, Cooperative Extension Programs, 1982. 


 Hightshoe, Gary L. Native Trees, Shrubs, and Vines for Urban and Rural America: A Planting Design Manual 


for Environmental Designers. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold, 1988. 


 Iowa State University. Landscape Plants for Iowa. Ames, Iowa: Iowa State University Cooperative Extension 


Service, May 1984.  


This list was reviewed and modified by the Stoughton Tree Commission in 2020 referencing the following online 


sources: 


 Missouri Botanical Garden Plant Finder, 


http://www.missouribotanicalgarden.org/plantfinder/plantfindersearch.aspx, Accessed Nov-Dec, 2020. 


 Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, Terrestrial Invasive species - Regulated plants, 


https://dnr.wi.gov/topic/Invasives/species.asp?filterBy=Terrestrial&filterVal=Y&catVal=PlantsReg, Last revised: 


July 10, 2015. 



http://www.missouribotanicalgarden.org/plantfinder/plantfindersearch.aspx

https://dnr.wi.gov/topic/Invasives/species.asp?filterBy=Terrestrial&filterVal=Y&catVal=PlantsReg





 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\03-23-2021\08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21.docx 


 


 


This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication. 


 


Dates 


 


Council Adopted:   


 


Mayor Approved:            


      Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Published:    


 


Attest:             


       Holly Licht, City Clerk 







T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2021\030821\Info\Landscaping Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
Date:  March 1, 2021 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners and Common Council   
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the March 8, 2021 Plan Commission Meeting and Common Council 


Meeting of March 23, 2021 
 
Proposed amendments to the zoning code to update the landscaping species list. 
The Stoughton Tree Commission has been working on an updated species list for several years.  See 
provided summary from the Tree Commission.  A public hearing and recommendation to the 
Common Council is necessary.  Staff recommends approval. 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





 


 


 
Date: January 19, 2021 
 
To: City of Stoughton Planning Department and Plan Commission 
 
From: City of Stoughton Tree Commission 
 
Subject: Proposed modifications of City Landscaping Ordinance 
 
During the Public Works Committee meeting held on August 15th, 2017, City of Stoughton 
Alderperson Majewski requested the “Review and update of the landscape point system for 
commercial development.”  Specifically, “asking if the landscaping planting points are 
current with other communities and <he> feels that the city is lacking in diversity when 
planting.” 
 
During the September 14th, 2017, Tree Commission Meeting, Public Works Director Hebert 
clarified the task to ‘Discuss and Recommend changes to the Stoughton Municipal Zoning 
Ordinance: Appendix B’.  Furthermore, “the Planning Department requested that the Tree 
Commission review the trees in this ordinance for the purpose of making sure the street trees 
planted meet the city standards.”  
 
The City of Stoughton Tree Commission, including the City Forester, reviewed the 
Ordinance (ARTICLE VI. - LANDSCAPING AND BUFFERYARD REGULATIONS) 
including the landscape point system (Sec. 78-603 and Table 78-603), Appendix B 
(LANDSCAPING CHARTS AND CHECKLISTS, Detailed Classification of Plant Species) 
and the associated text which refers to Appendix B (Sec. 78-611. - Classification of plant 
species).  
 
Key decisions and proposed modifications from the review include: 
 


1. The landscaping point system should not be changed.  Modification of the point 
system (Sec. 78-603 and Table 78-603) is beyond the scope of the Tree Commission 
as landscaping points are critical components throughout Article VI.  Changing the 
point system would require rewriting the entire Article VI and would require the City 
Zoning Administrator and City Plan Commission. 


2. The species list (Appendix B) was reviewed and attached draft modified by: 
a. Reflecting current needs of the urban forest by demoting species with 


disproportionate representation in the urban forest (e.g. Acer spp). 
b. Removing invasive species. 
c. Removing disease prone or poor performing species. 
d. Simplifying the interpretation of the list by including landscaping points and 


removing cultivars, growth rate, form and adaptation/remarks fields.  This was 
done in recognition of the knowledge of the landscape contractor conducting 
the planting and the immense breadth of potential information that could be 
included. 


3. Table 78-611 should be removed to reduce redundancy with Appendix B. 
4. The attached draft text for Sec. 78-611, which references Table 78-611 and Appendix 


B was modified to reflect changes above and to direct inquiries to the City Forester 
and/or the City Tree Commission instead of the Zoning Administrator. 


 


2439 County Rd A 
Stoughton, WI 53589 


 





		08a-Amend Landscaping Sections 21

		08b-Proposed Landscaping Zoning Amend

		ADP8A7D.tmp

		Date: January 19, 2021

		To: City of Stoughton Planning Department and Plan Commission

		From: City of Stoughton Tree Commission

		Subject: Proposed modifications of City Landscaping Ordinance

		During the Public Works Committee meeting held on August 15th, 2017, City of Stoughton Alderperson Majewski requested the “Review and update of the landscape point system for commercial development.”  Specifically, “asking if the landscaping planting ...

		During the September 14th, 2017, Tree Commission Meeting, Public Works Director Hebert clarified the task to ‘Discuss and Recommend changes to the Stoughton Municipal Zoning Ordinance: Appendix B’.  Furthermore, “the Planning Department requested that...

		The City of Stoughton Tree Commission, including the City Forester, reviewed the Ordinance (ARTICLE VI. - LANDSCAPING AND BUFFERYARD REGULATIONS) including the landscape point system (Sec. 78-603 and Table 78-603), Appendix B (LANDSCAPING CHARTS AND C...

		Key decisions and proposed modifications from the review include:

		1. The landscaping point system should not be changed.  Modification of the point system (Sec. 78-603 and Table 78-603) is beyond the scope of the Tree Commission as landscaping points are critical components throughout Article VI.  Changing the point...

		2. The species list (Appendix B) was reviewed and attached draft modified by:

		a. Reflecting current needs of the urban forest by demoting species with disproportionate representation in the urban forest (e.g. Acer spp).

		b. Removing invasive species.

		c. Removing disease prone or poor performing species.

		d. Simplifying the interpretation of the list by including landscaping points and removing cultivars, growth rate, form and adaptation/remarks fields.  This was done in recognition of the knowledge of the landscape contractor conducting the planting a...

		3. Table 78-611 should be removed to reduce redundancy with Appendix B.

		4. The attached draft text for Sec. 78-611, which references Table 78-611 and Appendix B was modified to reflect changes above and to direct inquiries to the City Forester and/or the City Tree Commission instead of the Zoning Administrator.

		2439 County Rd A

		Stoughton, WI 53589














CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S.  FORREST ST., STOUGHTON WI 53589 


 


 
RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


PRELIMINARY RESOLUTION DECLARING INTENT TO EXERCISE  


SPECIAL ASSESSMENT POWERS FOR 2021 STREET AND SIDEWALK PROJECTS 


 


 
Committee Action:       Finance Committee approved  


 
Fiscal Impact:     


 
File Number:  R-39-2021  


 
Date Introduced: April 13, 2021  


 


BE IT RESOLVED, by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, that: 


 1. The City of Stoughton, by its Common Council, hereby declare its intention to exercise 


its police power pursuant to Section 66.0703, Wisconsin Statutes, to levy special assessments against 


some or all of the property described in Attachment A, for benefits accruing to such property by the 


construction of Public Improvements, including curb and gutter, sidewalks, driveway aprons, carriage 


walks, retaining walls, sanitary sewer, storm sewer and water system improvements.  The special 


assessments may include the direct and indirect cost of the Public Improvements, the resulting damages, 


the interest on bonds or notes, charges for the administrative staff of the City, and the cost of any 


engineering and legal services, and any other items of direct or indirect cost that may reasonably be 


attributed to the Public Improvements. 


2. Whether the assessments will be deferred or not and whether the assessments will be 


payable in installments will be determined following the completion of a final special assessment report 


and following the public hearing required under Wis. Stat. § 66.0703(7). 


 3. The City Engineer is directed to prepare a report thereon consisting of: 


 a). Preliminary plans and specifications for said Public Improvements; 


 b). An estimate of the entire cost of the proposed Public Improvements; 


 c). A schedule of the proposed assessments;  


 d) A statement that the property against which the assessments are proposed is benefitted. 


 


 Upon completion of such report, the City Engineer is directed to file copies thereof in the office  


of the City Clerk for public inspection. 


 







 Adopted on roll call at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Stoughton held on 


the ___day of __________, 2021. 


 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 


 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote      


 


 


 
S:\Special Assessments\2021 Special Assessments\2021 Preliminary Special Assessments Resolution-draft.doc 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Attachment A 


 


Nygaard Street – South of Buckingham Road to Roby Road 


Roby Road – Kings Lynn Road to Lincoln Avenue and N. Van Buren Street to Johnson Street 


Lincoln Avenue – Roby Road to Eisenhower Road 


Skinner Lane  


Miscellaneous locations for spot sidewalk and curb and gutter replacement on various streets in addition 


to those listed above. 


 


 







CITY OF STOUGHTON    RODNEY J. SCHEEL 


DEPARTMENT OF      DIRECTOR 


PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 


(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 


 


 


 


Date:  March 11, 2021 


 


To:  Finance Committee  


 


From:  Rodney J. Scheel 


  Director of Planning & Development 


 


Subject: Finance Committee Agenda Item 


 


R-  - 2021 – Special Assessments – 2021 Street and Sidewalk Projects 


 


This item provides the notice that the City plans to levy special assessments to benefitting 


property owners as part of the 2021 street projects.  Once the engineer’s report is prepared, 


materials are made available to property owners and a public hearing is scheduled. 


 


If you have any questions, please contact me. 
    


     


cc. Mayor Tim Swadley 


Finance Director Jamin Friedl 
    


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 
S:\Special Assessments\2021 Special Assessments\Finance Committee 3-11-2021 -Special Assessments.docx 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/



		07a-2021 Preliminary Special Assessments Resolution-draft

		07b-Finance Committee 3-11-2021 -Special Assessments






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S FORREST ST., STOUGHTON WI 53589 
 


 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) write off the 2019 Delinquent Personal Property tax bills 


that have proven to be uncollectable for a total amount of $253.51. 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Finance Committee approved  


 
Fiscal Impact: $253.51 
 
File Number: 


 
R-40-2021 


 
Date Introduced: April 13, 2021 


 
 


WHEREAS, the 2019 Personal Property tax bills have proven to be uncollectable and  


 


WHEREAS, the amounts paid to the County, Stoughton Area School District and MATC have been 


charged back to those jurisdictions and payment has been received from them for the 2019 bills in the 


amount of $464.10 and  


 


WHEREAS, your Finance Committee met on March 23, 2021 to consider writing off unpaid Personal 


Property tax amounts due to the City of Stoughton and recommends that the amount of $253.51 be written 


off as uncollectable for the following Businesses: 


 


Business    Year  Amount Reason__________ 
51 South    2019  $75.45  Closed/Uncollectable 


Insty Cash    2019  $27.16  Closed/Uncollectable 


Mary’s Fine Antiques   2019  $22.64  Closed/Uncollectable 


Mavid’s Pet Spa & Salon  2019  $82.99  Closed/Uncollectable 


Viking Leather LLC   2019  $45.27  Closed/Uncollectable 


 


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city official(s) be 


hereby directed and authorized to write off the above delinquent Personal Property in the amount of 


$253.51 as recommended. 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 


207 South Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 
 


(608) 873-6677     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 


 


 


 


 


DATE: March 23, 2021 


 


TO:  Finance Committee/Common Council 


 


FROM: Lisa Aide, Treasurer 


 


RE:  Delinquent Personal Property  


 


The attached Personal Property bills are all delinquencies from 2019.  They are all out of 


business and have proven to be uncollectable.  The 2019 bills have been charged back to the 


other taxing jurisdictions (County, School District and MATC) and $464.10 was recouped.  By 


State Statute you can only go back 1 prior year and charge back the taxing jurisdictions and the 


criteria is the business has to be bankrupt, out of business or moved out of the City limits.  I am 


requesting that the amount of $253.51, which is the cities portion of the 2019 bills, be written off 


in full for the businesses that have proved to be closed and uncollectable. 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/



		08a-Resolution PP write offs

		08b-3-23-21 Finance Committee Memo






 
 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve a Special Event License to the 


Stoughton Chamber of Commerce for Syttende Mai 2021 


 
Committee Action: Public Safety recommended approval 5-0 on March 31, 2021 
 
  


File Number:  R-41-2020 
 
Date Introduced: April 13, 2021 


 
 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City to approve an Application for a Special Event 


License to the Stoughton Chamber of Commerce for the Syttende Mai 2021. 


 


WHEREAS, thePublic Safety Committee met on March 31, 2021 to consider the terms of the 


Application for a Special Event License, and recommends approval, now therefore  


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) be hereby directed and authorized to execute the Special Event License based on no 


fines or fees due to the City of Stoughton, attached hereto and incorporated as part of this 


resolution, between the City of Stoughton and the Stoughton Chamber of Commerce. 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 







Stoughton Syttende May Festival – May 14 - 16, 2021 
  


Proposal for Request for Special Events License  
 
Please find included in this packet the following articles for the Special Events License for the 2021 
Syttende Mai Festival.  
 


1. Special Events License Application 
a. Check for $30 arriving. 


2. Indemnification 
3. Certificate of Insurance 
4. Amplified Sound Schedule 
5. Street Parking/Lot Parking Closures 
6. List of Businesses Affected by Run Route 
7. Letter Template to Businesses Affected by Run 
8. Portable Toilet Location 
9. ATM locations Downtown 
10. Downtown setup 
11. S Division Street Closure Diagram 
12. Syttende Mai Walk/Run COVID Operations Plan 
13. RaceDay Events Certificate of Insurance 
14. Syttende Mai Walk/Run Route 
15. Lil Run Route 
16. Sunday Parade Route 
17. Community Instructions for Parade Viewing 


 
 
The Syttende Mai team leads and staff of the Stoughton Chamber of Commerce continue 
to navigate through the guidelines of Dane County Public Health as it responds to 
COVID-19. Aspects of the festival may change (including cancellation) from what is 
outlined here to be in accordance with the current guidelines.  
 
 
Thank you for reviewing these documents to continue this wonderful tradition in some 
fashion for 2021! 
 
 
 
Callie LaPoint 
Events and Visitor Services Manager 
Stoughton Chamber of Commerce 
visitorservices@stoughtonwi.com  
608-873-7912 
 



mailto:visitorservices@stoughtonwi.com









INDEMNIFICATION/HOLD HARMLESS 
 
We, the Stoughton Chamber of Commerce, sponsor and/or co-sponsor of the 
2021 Syttende Mai Festival May 14-16, 2021, shall indemnify, hold 
harmless, and defend the City of Stoughton, its officers, agents and 
employees, including but not limited to attorney’s fees, which arise from or 
out of the specified event. 
 
 
_______________________  _____ ______________ 
Signature     Date 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Officer of the Stoughton Chamber of Commerce 







ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?


INSR ADDL SUBR
LTR INSD WVD


PRODUCER CONTACT
NAME:


FAXPHONE
(A/C, No):(A/C, No, Ext):


E-MAIL
ADDRESS:


INSURER A :


INSURED INSURER B :


INSURER C :


INSURER D :


INSURER E :


INSURER F :


POLICY NUMBER POLICY EFF POLICY EXPTYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)


AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY


UMBRELLA LIAB


EXCESS LIAB


WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY


DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)


AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE


EACH OCCURRENCE $
DAMAGE TO RENTEDCLAIMS-MADE OCCUR $PREMISES (Ea occurrence)


MED EXP (Any one person) $


PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $


GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $
PRO-POLICY LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGGJECT 


OTHER: $
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT


$(Ea accident)


ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person) $
OWNED SCHEDULED


BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $AUTOS ONLY AUTOS
HIRED NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE


$AUTOS ONLY AUTOS ONLY (Per accident)


$


OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE
CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $


DED RETENTION $
PER OTH-
STATUTE ER


E.L. EACH ACCIDENT


E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $
If yes, describe under


E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMITDESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below


INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #


COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY


Y / N
N / A


(Mandatory in NH)


SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE    EXPIRATION    DATE    THEREOF,    NOTICE   WILL   BE   DELIVERED   IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.


THIS  IS  TO  CERTIFY  THAT  THE  POLICIES  OF  INSURANCE  LISTED  BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.    NOTWITHSTANDING  ANY  REQUIREMENT,  TERM  OR  CONDITION  OF  ANY  CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE  MAY  BE  ISSUED  OR  MAY  PERTAIN,  THE  INSURANCE  AFFORDED  BY  THE  POLICIES  DESCRIBED  HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.


THIS  CERTIFICATE  IS  ISSUED  AS  A  MATTER  OF  INFORMATION  ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE  DOES  NOT  AFFIRMATIVELY  OR  NEGATIVELY  AMEND,  EXTEND  OR  ALTER  THE  COVERAGE  AFFORDED  BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.    THIS  CERTIFICATE  OF  INSURANCE  DOES  NOT  CONSTITUTE  A  CONTRACT  BETWEEN  THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.


IMPORTANT:    If  the  certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If  SUBROGATION  IS  WAIVED,  subject  to  the  terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).


COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:


CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION


© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.ACORD 25 (2016/03)


CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)


$


$


$


$


$


The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD


2/19/2021


(608) 846-7725 (608) 723-6440


15350


Stoughton Chamber of Commerce Inc
532 E Main St
Stoughton, WI 53589


19682


A 1,000,000


A341561 10/1/2020 10/1/2021 300,000
10,000


1,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000


A
A341561 10/1/2020 10/1/2021


1,000,000A
A341561 10/1/2020 10/1/2021


1,000,000
B


83WECAA6TV2 10/1/2020 10/1/2021 100,000
100,000
500,000


Coverage applies only to the extent provided by the policy and subject to all of the policy terms, conditions, exclusions, endorsements and all applicable 
laws.


Syttende Mai, May 14-16 2021


City of Stoughton
207 South Forest St.
Stoughton, WI 53589


STOUCHA-01 MTESSMER


TRICOR, Inc. - DeForest
5008 Linde Lane
Suite 100
De Forest, WI 53532


West Bend Mutual Ins Co
The Hartford


X
X


X X







Stoughton Syttende May Festival – May 14-16, 2021 
  


Amplified Sound Schedule 
 
The following times and places will use amplified sound during the Syttende Mai Festival, from Friday, 
May 14 through Sunday, May 16. 


 
 
Stoughton High School  


• Stoughton Norwegian Dancers performances throughout the weekend. 
 
Run/Walk Finish Line – Mandt Park    
Saturday, May 15 


• 8:30am-1pm – Event emcee announces runners’ names as the cross the finish line.  Some music 
is played, and a winners’ ceremony will be held.  


 
Viking Games – located on W. Jefferson St. (between S. Division and S. Water Streets)  
Saturday, May 15 


• 10am-5pm – Announcers will be amplified.  
• 11am-5pm – Event will broadcast music from a portable sound system. 


 







Stoughton Syttende May Festival – May 14-16, 2021 
 


 


 
 


Stoughton Chamber of Commerce 
532 E. Main St. 
Stoughton, WI 53589 
608-873-7912 
 


NOTICE: Street, Parking Lot, and On-Street Parking Closings 
 
 
You are receiving this notice because your residence or business will be affected by a street or parking lot 
closure, or no on-street parking, during the 2021 Syttende Mai Norwegian Heritage Festival. Streets and 
parking lots affected are listed here.  
 
Street Closures  


W. Jefferson St. from S. Water to S. Division St. 
• Closed Friday, May 14 at 5pm 
• Closed Saturday May 15 
• Opens Sunday, May 16 


 
S. Water St. marked “No Outlet” from W. Main St. to W. Jefferson St. 


• No outlet in place from Thursday, May 13 through Saturday, May 16 
• Re-opens Sunday, May 16 


 
S. Division St. from Main St. north to W. Washington St. 


• Closed Thursday May 13, 2pm through Sunday, May 16 
• Open for curbside pick-up only. Not a through-street. 


 
Main St - Hwy 51  


• Closed Sunday, May 18, 12:45pm to 4:00pm for the Norwegian Parade 
 


S. Fourth St from E. Main St., south to Mandt Park 
• Closed Sunday, May 18 12:45pm through parade end 


 
E Milwaukee St from S. Fourth St. to Van Buren St 


• Closed Sunday, May 18 12:45pm through parade end 
 
S. Division St from Forton St. south to North St.  


• Closed Friday, May 15, 5pm to 7pm for the Canoe activities 
 
Forton Street Bridge 


• Closed Friday, May 15, 5pm to 7pm for the Canoe activities 
 
 
 
 
 
 







Stoughton Syttende May Festival – May 14-16, 2021 
 


 


 
 


Stoughton Chamber of Commerce 
532 E. Main St. 
Stoughton, WI 53589 
608-873-7912 
 


 
 
 
Parking Lot Closures  
Kegonsa Plaza Lot 


• Closed from Wednesday, May 12 at 7am through Monday, May 17 at 7pm 
• Area resident parking is available on S. Water St. and in the North Parking Lot 
• Kegonsa Parking Lot will be partially open late Sunday 


 
Forrest/Main Parking Lot 


• Closed from Thursday, May 13 at 4:30pm through Sunday, May 16 at 7pm 
 
No On-Street Parking Areas  


• No on-street parking from Friday, May 14 at 7am to Sunday, May 16 at 11pm  
o On S. Division St. from Main St. south to Jefferson St.  
o On South Page from Main St to W South St 


• No on-street parking from Friday, May 14 at 7am to Sunday, May 16 at 5pm  
o On W. Main St. from Gjertson St. to King St. 
o On W. South St. from King St. east to S. Gjerston St.  
o On Nora St. from W. Main St. to W. South St.  
o All of Riverside Drive – from S. Page St. to S. Fourth St. 
o On S. Fourth St. south to Chicago St.  
o On E. Milwaukee St. from S. Van Buren. to S. Fourth St.  


 
Thank you for your patience.  I hope you will enjoy your “up front” experience of the festival! 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at the Stoughton Chamber of Commerce,  
608-873-7912 or syttendemai@stoughtonwi.com. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Callie LaPoint 
Syttende Mai Event Manager 
Stoughton Chamber of Commerce 
608-873-7912 | syttendemai@stoughtonwi.com 


 







Syttende Mai Festival 2021


Business Address City State Zip


Walmart 2600 State Highway 138 Stoughton WI 53589
Century 21 Affiliated 2420 WI-138 Suite 103 Stoughton WI 53589
T&T Nails 2420 WI-138 Suite 105
Pancake Café 2421 WI-138 Suite 106 Stoughton WI 53589
Dunkin' Donuts 2480 State Highway 138 Stoughton WI 53589
Kettle Park West
Anytime Fitness 2300 Hwy 51-138 Stoughton WI 53589
Sports Enhancement Academy 2300 Hwy 51-138 Stoughton WI 53589
Stoughton Eye Care & Eyewear 2300 Hwy 51-138 Stoughton WI 53589
Stoughton Hospital Rehab & Sports Med. Clinic 2300 Hwy 51-138 Stoughton WI 53589
Spinners Pizza 2125 McComb Rd Stoughton WI 53589
Summit Credit Union 2105 McComb Rd Stoughton WI 53589
Level Up Fitness 225 Hoel Ave Stoughton WI 53589


Not Affected 2018
Stoughton Lumber 3188 Deer Point Dr Stoughton WI 53589
Dairyland Electrical Industries, Inc. 3165 Deer Point Dr, Ste A Stoughton WI 53589
Shaw Building & Design 3158 Deer Point Dr Stoughton WI 53589
RHD Plumbing 1480 Oak Opening Dr Stoughton WI 53589
Kwik Trip 2400 Roby Rd Stoughton WI 53589
KFC/Taco Bell 1324 Nygaard St Stoughton WI 53589
Coldwell Banker Success 1200 Nygaard St Stoughton WI 53589
Deak's Pub & Grill 1017 Nygaard St Stoughton WI 53589
Culver's 916 Nygaard St Stoughton WI 53589
Arby's of Stoughton 900 Nygaard St Stoughton WI 53589
Banushi's Bar and Grill 800 Nygaard St Stoughton WI 53589
Quality Inn and Suites 660 Nygaard St Stoughton WI 53589
Grand China 2388 Jackson St Stoughton WI 53589


Business Affected by Run Route







Hanson Electronics 2384 Jackson St Stoughton WI 53589
Jimmy John's Sandwiches 2376 Jackson St Stoughton WI 53589
Check Advance 2372 Jackson St Stoughton WI 53589
Verizon Wireless Jackson St Stoughton WI 53589
The UPS Store 2364 Jackson St Stoughton WI 53589
Papa Murphy's Pizza 2360A Jackson St Stoughton WI 53589
Gates Collision Center 1477 Hwy 51 Stoughton WI 53589
Stoughton Garden Center 1471 Hwy 51 Stoughton WI 53589
Dane County Auto 1411 Hwy 51 Stoughton WI 53589
Gunderson Funeral and Cremation Care 1358 Hwy 51 Stoughton WI 53589
Stark Automotive Group 1304 Hwy 51 Stoughton WI 53589


Main Street
Separate Master Database at the Chamber







March 22, 2021 
 
[Business Name] 
 
 
Greetings! 
 
As you know, Syttende Mai is coming soon! I’m writing to let you know that your business is 
affected by the Syttende Mai Classic, our Saturday morning foot races and the Sunday 
parade. 
 
The race participants will enter Hwy 138 from Starr School Road and run along Highway 138 
until Hoel Avenue. Security personnel will help slow traffic to ensure participant safety. 
 
This means that nearly 1,000 people will be running or walking past you on the 
morning of Saturday, May 16! The 20 Mile Run, the 10 Mile Run, and the 17 Mile Walk 
participants use this course. This will happen between 8:45am and roughly 11:30am. 
 
This would be a great opportunity to use your existing signs (or put up a banner) to 
encourage or congratulate the participants. As they pass your business, they will be 
approaching the 2-miles-to-go point, and will be ready for a little encouragement! 
 
If you have questions regarding the race and its route, please contact Race Day Events at 
608-316-5755 
 
The Sunday parade also utilizes Main St. from S Gjertson to Mandt Park. This year we will 
be flipping the parade around and making it a drive-through event in Mandt Park. What this 
means is that the community of Stoughton will be invited to drive through, thus creating 
some traffic along Main St. Community participants will be encouraged to stay in the right 
lane while through traffic will stay in the left lane.  
 
If anyone in your organization is interested in helping (perhaps intersection control?) please 
let me know. If you have any questions about this change, or would like to talk about other 
opportunities, feel free to call me. 
 
Thank you and Have a great day! 
 
Callie 
 
 
Callie LaPoint 
Syttende Mai Event Manager 
Stoughton Chamber of Commerce 
syttendemai@stoughtonwi.com 
608-873-7912 
 



mailto:syttendemai@stoughtonwi.com





Syttende Mai Festival 2021
Portable Toilet Locations
Order as of March 5, 2021


Location Municipality Notes Regular Accessible Sink Extra Pump Pickup Day


Rosenbaum Road Outside of Stoughton Start of Canoe Race 1 No pump Fri. after 7pm or Sat. early am


Madison: corner of Main St & MLK JR Blvd Madison 20 Mile Run Start 6 No Pump Saturday after 8:30 am


Summit Credit Union Madison 17 Mile Walk Start 3 No pump Saturday after 8:30 am


Clayton Road Town of Dunn Runs/Walk 1 No pump Saturday after 12:00pm


Sandhill Rd, North End and  Hwy B Town of Dunn Runs/Walk 5 No pump Saturday after 12:00pm


Rutland Dunn Townline Rd. and Hawkinson Town of Dunn Run/Walk 2 No pump Saturday after 12:00pm


Lalor Rd and Hwy B Town of Dunn Run/Walk 1 No pump Saturday after 12:00pm
West of 4287 Schneider Drive - at edge of 
field Outside of Stoughton Run/Walk 1 No pump Saturday after 12:00pm


Hawkinson Rd and Schneider Dr Outside of Stoughton Run/Walk 1 No pump Saturday after 12:00pm


1955 Hawkinson Rd, at lower driveway Outside of Stoughton Run/Walk 1 No pump Saturday after 12:00pm


Hoel Ave and Main Street, south side City of Stoughton Run/Walk 1 No pump Saturday after 12:00pm
Fox Prairie School Field, on King St. south of 
South St. City of Stoughton Lil' Run 2 No pump Saturday after 12:00pm
On North St. in front of SASD Administration 
Bldg. City of Stoughton River Bluff Campus 1 Extra pumps Sat. and Sun. Sunday after 4pm
W. Washington St. and N. Division St. City of Stoughton Parking Lot 1 1 1 Extra pumps Sat. and Sun. Sunday after 4pm
W. Main St. and S. Monroe St. City of Stoughton Kwik Trip Parking Lot 2 Extra pumps Sat. and Sun. Sunday after 4pm
W. Main St. and S. Page St. City of Stoughton Livsreise Parking Lot 2 Extra pumps Sat. and Sun. Sunday after 4pm
W. Main St. and Gjertson St. City of Stoughton 2 No pump Sunday after 4pm
S. Fourth St. and Mandt Parking Lot City of Stoughton Run Finish and  Parade St 4 1 Extra pumps Sat. and Sun. Sunday after 4pm


S. Fourth St. at E. Main St. in front of Library City of Stoughton
Do not block windows 
608-873-6281 2 Extra pumps Sat. and Sun. Sunday after 4pm


S. Division and W. Jefferson City of Stoughton Viking Games 1
Kegonsa Parking Lot City of Stoughton Food Vendors 1 1 1 Extra pumps Sat. and Sun. Sunday after 4pm
S. Fourth St. Open lot across from Isham City of Stoughton 1 No pump Sunday after 3pm
Division Street Park City of Stoughton South Side - near fence 2 No pump Saturday after 4
Senior Center Parking Lot City of Stoughton Parade  1 No pump Only need on Sunday


Total Units: 9 3 2


Number and Type of Units







Syttende Mai Festival 2021 


ATM Locations Downtown  
 


Kwik Trip – 517 W Main St on 51 and Monroe St 
City Hall – 207 S Forrest St  
Viking Brew Pub – 211 E Main Street 


Viking Games – Kegonsa Parking Lot on S. Division St.  
 


 


 







51


51


RI
VE


R 
B


LU
FF


M
ID


D
LE


 S
C


H
O


O
L


ST
O


U
G


H
TO


N
C


IT
Y 


H
AL


L


ST
O


U
G


H
TO


N
C


H
AM


B
ER


 O
F


CO
M


M
ER


C
E


ST
O


U
G


H
TO


N
FI


RE
 D


EP
AR


TM
EN


T


ST
O


U
G


H
TO


N
PO


LI
C


E
D


EP
AR


TM
EN


T


To
 M


an
dt


 P
ar


k


D
IV


IS
IO


N


S
T


R
E


E
T


P
A


R
K


Yahara    
 R


iv
er


Fo
rto


n 
St


N
or


th
 S


t


E 
So


ut
h 


St


S Fifth St


S Page St


S Prairie St


 S Sixth St


Water St


W
 S


ou
th


 S
t


N Prairie St


Division St


E 
Je


ffe
rs


on
 S


t
N Fo


rre
st 


St


S Forrest St


N Page St


S Seventh St


N Divisi
on St


S Fourth StS Fourth St


E 
W


as
hi


ng
to


n 
St


   
  


S Fifth St


W
  


M
A


IN
  


S
T


E 
 M


AI
N 


 S
T


S
t


o
u


g
h


t
o


n


6
3


4


5


8
9


2


1
11


12


N S


E
W


©
20


19
 M


ap
pi


ng
 S


pe
ci


al
is


ts
, L


td
.


Al
l r


ig
ht


s 
re


se
rv


ed


SC
A


LE
 O


F 
M


IL
ES


0
0.


05
0.


1


Ev
en


ts
Bo


os
te


r 
Bu


tt
on


 R
eq


ui
re


d
A


tt
ra


ct
io


n
Bo


os
te


r 
Bu


tt
on


 R
eq


ui
re


d


Fo
od


 S
ta


nd
Bo


os
te


r 
Bu


tt
on


 R
eq


ui
re


d


F
e
s
t


iv
a


l
 L


e
g


e
n


d







#
Sy


tt
en


de
 M


ai
 A


ct
iv


it
ie


s
Sy


tt
en


de
 M


ai
 C


la
ss


ic


Sy
tt


en
de


 M
ai


 L
il 


R
un


11
Q


ui
lt


 S
ho


w


12
Vi


ki
ng


 G
am


es


13
Su


nd
ay


 P
ar


ad
e 


- 
M


an
dt


 P
ar


kw
ay


14
Ca


no
e 


(i
nd


ep
en


de
nt


 a
ct


iv
it


y;
 t


im
es


 w
ill


 v
ar


y)


15
Sc


av
en


ge
r 


H
un


t 
(t


hr
ou


gh
ou


t 
to


w
n)


16 17 18 19 20


#
Fo


od
 G


ro
up


s
1


Er
ni


e’
s 


K
et


tl
e 


Co
rn


 s
up


po
rt


in
g 


Th
re


e 
G


ai
ts


 -
 a


t 
M


ai
n 


an
d 


Pa
ge


 A
ut


o 
pa


rk
in


g 
lo


t


2
Fr


ie
nd


s 
of


 t
he


 S
to


ug
ht


on
 L


ib
ra


ry


3
N


or
w


eg
ia


n 
D


an
ce


r 
Pa


re
nt


s


4
R


M
N


 D
on


ut
s 


su
pp


or
ti


ng
 W


or
ld


 o
f 


Ch
an


ge
 L


ea
de


rs
 -


 T
B


D


5
So


ns
 o


f 
N


or
w


ay
-M


an
dt


 L
od


ge


6
St


ou
gh


to
n 


A
re


a 
Yo


ut
h 


So
cc


er
 A


ss
oc


. &
 K


on
a 


Ic
e


7
St


ou
gh


to
n 


FF
A


 A
lu


m
ni


 (
M


an
dt


 C
en


te
r/


G
ra


nd
st


an
d)


8
St


ou
gh


to
n 


Li
on


s 
Cl


ub


9
St


ou
gh


to
n 


R
ot


ar
y 


Cl
ub


10
St


ou
gh


to
n 


Yo
ut


h 
H


oc
ke


y 
(M


an
dt


 C
en


te
r)







Syttende Mai Festival 2021
S. Division St Closure: from W. Washington to Main St
Red Barrier: Street/Entry Closure


Lions: Food Stand
Division St open for food pick-up only


Lions Food Stand


Food Stand pickup







 


2995 SUB-ZERO PARKWAY 
FITCHBURG, WI 53719 


608.316.5755 


 
2021 SYTTENDE MAI COVID OPERATIONS PLAN 


 


A Note From The Race Director 


We are actively working with Public Health Madison and Dane County and the necessary municipalities to receive 
approval for permits for an in-person race on May 15, 2021. 


We are confident in the proven safety plan we have developed but recognize the difficult decision the Health Department 
and permitting agencies must make to provide approvals. 


We expect to have necessary approvals in place by April 15th and will communicate as soon as possible with participants 
as we receive any news. 


Keep Training and Stay Safe, 


Ryan Griessmeyer 
Race Director 
 
 
  







 


2995 SUB-ZERO PARKWAY 
FITCHBURG, WI 53719 


608.316.5755 


 


The Safety Plan 


This safety plan below is designed to cover the Syttende Mai Running Events. The events are scheduled for Saturday, 
May 15, 2021. While we recognize the impact the novel coronavirus has had on our communities, we are also aware that 
things may look very different in mid-May. As such, we are developing a safety plan that has masking and social 
distancing efforts at the core of the plan so that we can continue to provide save and healthy events to participants of all 
types. 


Packet Pick-Up 


In a typical year, all participants were expected to pick up packets at the start line of their respective distance.   


2021 Plan: We have added an option to have packets mailed to participants prior to the event to minimize touch points 
and decrease the number of in-person packet pick-ups.  We have added a packet pick-up at Fleet Feet Sports – Madison 
the day before the event to reduce in-person numbers at packet pick-up on the day of the event.  Minimal contact will be 
made at packet pick-up using electronic check in devices. 


Capacity 


Normal field capacity has been 1,700 participants broken down into the following events: 


Kids Race: 600 
20 Mile: 400  
17 Mile: 300 
10 Mile: 400 
 
The field capacity for each event will be limited to allow for adequate social distancing at the Start Lines, Aid Stations, 
and Finish Lines. 
 
Kids Race: 400 
20 Mile: 250 
17 Mile: 300 
10 Mile: 250 
 


 







 


2995 SUB-ZERO PARKWAY 
FITCHBURG, WI 53719 


608.316.5755 


Route Maps: 


The routes for each event allow for adequate social distancing, provide minimal or no overlap, and allow for start lines to 
have numerous corrals for staging. 


20 Mile Route:   https://www.mapmyrun.com/routes/view/4194467509  


17 Mile Route:   https://www.mapmyrun.com/routes/view/4194476986  


10 Mile Route:   https://www.mapmyrun.com/routes/view/4194452395  


2 Mile Kid’s Route:  https://www.mapmyrun.com/routes/view/4194421300  


Start Times: 


Start times have traditionally helped with spacing throughout the course for safety and have been as follows: 
 
Start Name:   Location:   Time:   Notes: 
17 Mile Start Time:  Badger Rock Middle School 6:00 AM – 7:00AM Rolling Start 
20 Mile Start Time:  Badger Rock Middle School  7:30 AM   
10 Mile Start Time:  Town of Dunn   8:00 AM 
2 Mile Kids Start Time:  Stoughton, WI   7:45 AM  2 Miles from Finish   
 
2021 Plan:  We are planning to adjust start times and procedures to allow for social distancing and safety.  2021 Start 
procedures to be as follows: 
 
Start Name:   Location:   Time:   Notes: 
17 Mile Start Time:  Badger Rock Middle School 6:00 AM – 7:00AM Rolling Start with one (1)  


person every 10 seconds.   
20 Mile Start Time:  Badger Rock Middle School  7:30 AM  Rolling Start with one (1)  


person every 10 seconds.   
10 Mile Start Time:  Town of Dunn   8:00 AM  Rolling Start with one (1)  


person every 10 seconds. 
2 Mile Kids Start Time:  Fox Prairie Elementary School 7:15 AM and 7:30 AM Two separate 200 person  
           races with rolling starts with  
           one (1) person every 10 sec.  
       



https://www.mapmyrun.com/routes/view/4194467509

https://www.mapmyrun.com/routes/view/4194476986

https://www.mapmyrun.com/routes/view/4194452395

https://www.mapmyrun.com/routes/view/4194421300





 


2995 SUB-ZERO PARKWAY 
FITCHBURG, WI 53719 


608.316.5755 


Masking: 


•  All participants will be required to wear masks/face covering in non-competition times: 
o At packet pick-up 
o Pre and post-race 
o Start Lines 
o Immediate finish line (Masks will be given to you at finish line if needed) 


• All staff and volunteers are required to wear masks/face covering at all times. 
• All spectators are required to masks/face covering.  


Spectators: 


• Spectating is discouraged  
• If you are spectating, a facemask is required at all times. 
• Maintain 6’ social distancing; 
• Must conduct daily symptom self assessment; 
• No spectators at start or finish lines. 


Screening: 


• Each participant shall be required to complete a declaration at packet pickup that they are not currently infected 
by COVID-19 and have not had, or knowingly been in contact with, someone experiencing any of the following 
COVID-19 symptoms in the past 10 days: https://www.cdc.gov/screening/paper-version.pdf 


• By acknowledging, the participant agrees to take temperature on race day.  Fever of 100.4 or higher, the 
participant shall not participate. 


• All spectators are requested to self-assess prior to attending the event. 


Compliance Manager: 


• Ryan Griessmeyer (608-444-2261) 


 


 


 


 



https://www.cdc.gov/screening/paper-version.pdf





 


2995 SUB-ZERO PARKWAY 
FITCHBURG, WI 53719 


608.316.5755 


Communications: 


• Outline safety procedures for participants, staff/volunteers, and spectators. 
• Publish on registration page social media and website. 
• Email to participants prior as part of Race Week Update. 
• Mobile App will be developed as another method of spectator and participant communication. 
• Announcements will be made over PA System at the event to remind participants of the protocols and safety 


measures. 


Sanitation: 


• Hand sanitizers will be provided in all portapottie. 
• Touch points have been reduced to minimize interaction between participants and volunteers/staff 
• All surfaces will be disinfected and cleaned often. 
• Portable restrooms will be spaced 6’ apart. 
• Increased number of restrooms available at start/finish lines. 
• Signage will be posted to remind participants to wash hands. 


Start Line Procedures and Social Distancing: 


20 Mile Start Procedure: 


• The start line for the 20 Mile Event is at Badger Rock Middle School, 30 minutes after the 17 Mile Walk is finished 
starting. 


• Runners will start at 7:30am. 
• Runners will be lined up in corrals of 50 people each and will be socially distanced 10’ apart marked by 18” cones. 
• Runners will be required to wear a mask in the start corrals (Mask will be provided if needed) 
• Runners will be released one at a time every 10 seconds maintaining social distancing.   


17 Mile Start Procedure: 


• The start line for the 20 Mile Event is at Badger Rock Middle School. 
• Walkers will start at 6:00am with a rolling start until 7:00am.  
• Walkers will be lined up in corrals of 50 people each and will be socially distanced 10’ apart marked by 18” cones. 
• Walkers will be required to wear a mask in the start corrals (Mask will be provided if needed) 
• Walkers will be released one at a time every 10 seconds maintaining social distancing.   


 







 


2995 SUB-ZERO PARKWAY 
FITCHBURG, WI 53719 


608.316.5755 


 


 


10 Mile Start Procedure: 


• The start line for the 10 Mile Event is in the Town of Dunn, just south of the intersection of Hwy B and Sand Hill 
Rd.  


• Runners will start at 8:00am. 
• Runners will be lined up in corrals of 50 people each and will be socially distanced 10’ apart marked by 18” cones. 
• Runners will be required to wear a mask in the start corrals (Mask will be provided if needed) 
• Runners will be released one at a time every 10 seconds maintaining social distancing.   


2 Mile Kids Start Procedure: 


• The start line for the 2 Mile Kids Event is at Fox Prairie Elementary School in Stoughton, WI.  
• Runners will start at 7:15am and 7:30am to allow clearing of the finish line before other events begin to finish. 
• Runners will be lined up in corrals of 50 people each and will be socially distanced 10’ apart marked by 18” cones. 
• Runners will be required to wear a mask in the start corrals (Mask will be provided if needed) 
• Runners will be released one at a time every 10 seconds maintaining social distancing.   


 


 


  







 


2995 SUB-ZERO PARKWAY 
FITCHBURG, WI 53719 


608.316.5755 


 


Water and Aid Stations: 


• 10oz bottled water will be available at all aid stations. 
• 16oz bottled water will be available at the finish line. 
• No Gatorade or endurance drinks will be available.   
• No nutrition will be provided on course 
• Gels will be provided in closed packets for people to carry 
• Tables spaced 25’ apart 
• Water is self-serve and bottles will be closed upon arrival. 


Support Vehicles (SAG Wagons): 


• Have bottled water and facemasks in vehicle 
• Windows down at all times 
• Hand sanitizer and disinfectant wipes in vehicle 
• Staff will wear masks at all times 


Shuttle Buses: 


• We recommend having someone you know drive you to or from the start and finish lines. 
• Alternative options will include Green Cab and Uber. 
• The nature of this event requires shuttle buses for some participants.  Shuttle buses will be available with the 


following precautions: 
o Driver will wear a mask and go through symptom screening 
o All passengers are required to wear masks 
o Capacity will be adjusted to allow for social distancing between passengers 
o Cleaning and disinfection will occur before and after each trip. 


  







 


2995 SUB-ZERO PARKWAY 
FITCHBURG, WI 53719 


608.316.5755 


 


Finish Line/Post-Race: 


• Finish line chute will be fenced to keep runners moving to the exits and to their vehicles. 
• Runners will be “encouraged” to leave finish area ASAP. 
• Results streamed live and sent to mobile devices.  
• No awards ceremonies. Awards available for pick-up at separate table. 
• Finish line water will be in 16oz. closed bottles that are self-serve. 
• Finish line nutrition will be pre-packaged self-serve grab and go style.   
• No beer will be available at the finish line. 
• No live entertainment will be available at the finish line. 


 
 







ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?


INSR ADDL SUBR
LTR INSD WVD


PRODUCER
CONTACT
NAME:


FAXPHONE
(A/C, No):(A/C, No, Ext):


E-MAIL
ADDRESS:


INSURER A :


INSURED INSURER B :


INSURER C :


INSURER D :


INSURER E :


INSURER F :


POLICY NUMBER
POLICY EFF POLICY EXP


TYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)


AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY


UMBRELLA LIAB


EXCESS LIAB


WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY


DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)


AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE


EACH OCCURRENCE $
DAMAGE TO RENTEDCLAIMS-MADE OCCUR $PREMISES (Ea occurrence)


MED EXP (Any one person) $


PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $


GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $


PRO-POLICY LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGGJECT


OTHER: $
COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT


$(Ea accident)


ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person) $
OWNED SCHEDULED


BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $AUTOS ONLY AUTOS


HIRED NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE
$AUTOS ONLY AUTOS ONLY (Per accident)


$


OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE


CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $


DED RETENTION $


PER OTH-
STATUTE ER


E.L. EACH ACCIDENT


E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $
If yes, describe under


E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMITDESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below


INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #


COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY


Y / N


N / A
(Mandatory in NH)


SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.


THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.


THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.


IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).


COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:


CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION


© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.ACORD 25 (2016/03)


CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)


$


$


$


$


$


The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD


1/12/2021


(608) 516-3919 (608) 237-2493


15350


Race Day Events LLC
5976B Executive Drive
Fitchburg, WI 53719


11347


A 1,000,000


1497361 1/2/2021 1/2/2022 100,000


5,000


1,000,000


2,000,000


2,000,000


1,000,000A


1497361 1/2/2021 1/2/2022


B
72579.105 2/15/2021 2/15/2022 500,000


500,000


500,000


A Liquor Liability 2102252 1/2/2021 1,000,000


Sample


RACEDAY-01 SWILLMERING


Robertson Ryan - Madison
Two Plaza East, Suite 650
330 East Kilbourn Avenue
Milwaukee, WI 53202


WEST BEND MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY


STATE FUND MUTUAL


1/2/2022


X


X


X







2021 Syttende Mai 20, 17, and 10 mile Run/Walk 
 


Race Day Events will be the producer of the 2021 Run/Walk. Most of the route will remain the same as 
years past, with the change coming from the starting point. They have approval for use of the grounds at 


Badger Rock Middle School.  
The 20-mile and 17-mile will start from the same location and meet up along Lalor Rd.  


 
Contact: Ryan Griessmeyer, Race Day Events. 608-316-5755 


 
20 mile route:  


 


 
 


17 mile route: 
 


 







Copyright © and (P) 1988–2008 Microsoft Corporation and/or its suppliers. All rights reserved. http://www.microsoft.com/streets/
Certain mapping and direction data © 2008 NAVTEQ. All rights reserved. The Data for areas of Canada includes information taken with permission from Canadian authorities, including: © Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, © Queen's Printer for 
Ontario. NAVTEQ and NAVTEQ ON BOARD are trademarks of NAVTEQ. © 2008 Tele Atlas North America, Inc. All rights reserved. Tele Atlas and Tele Atlas North America are trademarks of Tele Atlas, Inc. © 2008 by Applied Geographic Systems. All rights 
reserved.


Lil Run Syttende Mai Run Route


0 mi 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.5







53
58


9


RI
VE


R
BL


U
FF


M
S


ST
. A


N
N


SC
H


O
O


L


FO
X


PR
A


IR
IE


ES


CI
TY


 H
A


LL
C 


O
F 


C


MA
ND


T
PA


RK


Amundson Pkwy


Devonshire     Rd


Dunkirk Av


Estate Ln


Fo
rt


on
 S


t


G
ar


de
n 


Av


G
ile


s 
St


H
am


ilt
on


 S
t


Hillside Av


King St


Kristi Ln


N
or


th
 S


t


Pine St


Ri
dg


e 
St


Ridgeway
St   


Ri
ve


rs
id


e 
D


r


Rowe St


Sc
he


fe
lk


er Ln
 


N Academy St


N Franklin St


N Harrison St


N Henry St


N Lynn
St


N Monroe St


N Morris St


N Van Buren St


Fourth
 St


S Page St
W


 M
ilw


au
ke


e 
St


 W
   


  P
ro


sp
ec


t
 S


t


W
 S


ou
th


 S
t


  W
 M


ai
n 


St


Church St


Ja
ck


so
n 


St


W
 W


as
hi


ng
to


n 
St


   
  


N Prairie
St


S Lynn St


East St


M
ol


in
e 


St


E 
So


ut
h 


St


S Franklin St


Pa
rk St


W
 C


hi
ca


go
St


  


W
 S


ou
th


 S
t


W
 B


ro
ad


w
ay


 S
t


Hill St


M
an


dt
 P


kw
y


Ve
nn


ev
ol


l
D


r


S ACADEMY ST


S  VAN  BUREN  ST
W


  M
AI


N
  S


T







Community Participation in drive-through Parade.  
 


• Car line-up no earlier than 12:45 pm starting at Van Buren – Milwaukee 
o Obtaining Church of Latter Day Saints for approval to use their parking lot.  


• All cars must be occupied. Empty cars are subject to ticketing 
• Cars must not block intersections or driveways.  
• Official escort to start the parade will be at 1:00 pm 
• Last car will be at 3:00 pm. 
• Community Spirit: dress up yourself and your car in honor of Syttende Mai! 


o Prizes will be awarded for best dressed! 
 
Parade can be watched on WSTO.  





		09a-Syttende Mai

		09b-Syttende Mai

		0 - Introductory Letter

		1 - Special Event License Application

		2 - INDEMNIFICATION_Festival

		3 - Certificate of Insurance

		4 - Amplified Sound_Syttende Mai 2021

		5 - Street-ParkingLot-NoParking-Closing Notice 2021

		6 - List of Businesses Affected by Run Route

		Sheet1



		7 - Letter Template to Businesses Affected by Closures

		8 - Portable Toilet Locations 2021

		Sheet1



		9 - ATM Machine Locations Downtown

		10 - Syttende Mai Downtown setup

		11 - S Division Street Closure

		Syttende Mai Festival 2021�S. Division St Closure: from W. Washington to Main St�Red Barrier: Street/Entry Closure��Lions: Food Stand�Division St open for food pick-up only



		12 - 2021 Covid Operations Plan

		2021 SYTTENDE MAI COVID OPERATIONS PLAN



		13 - 21-22 COI

		14 - 2021 RDE Routes

		15 - Lil Run Syttende Mai Route 2021

		16 - Syttende Mai Parade Route

		17 - Community Participation Expectations












CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. FORREST STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Approving a Pilot Program to allow for designation of certain parking stalls in the downtown area as 


being reserved for Curbside Pickup. 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Public Safety Committee recommends Common Council approval 5 – 0  


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
None. 


 
File Number: 


 
R-42-2021 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
April 13, 2021 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 


 


WHEREAS, on March 25, 2021 the City of Stoughton Public Safety Committee reviewed a proposal to 


begin a Pilot Program to allow for designated parking stalls in the downtown area to be used exclusively for 


Curbside Pickup for businesses; and 


 


WHEREAS, the following parking stalls shall be designated as temporary Curbside Pickup stalls:  


 First parking stall on the east-side of Forrest Street south of E. Main Street 


 


WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton Public Safety Committee requests that this Curbside Pickup Pilot 


Program be in effect from April 30th through October 31st 2021: 


 


 


BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Stoughton Common Council that the Curbside Pickup Pilot Program 


from April 30th through October 31st 2021 is hereby approved as presented: 


 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       


  


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


  


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     ______ 







Curbside Pickup for Downtown Stoughton
A pilot project sponsored by the City of Stoughton Public Safety Committee


Summary
Downtown businesses and customers could benefit from a reserved curbside pickup space similar
to those in other business areas in Stoughton. Curbside pickup is free, fast, and convenient,
especially when Main Street parking is unavailable, and reduces the risk of close contact between
business employees and customers during the pandemic.


This plan introduces logistics for a reserved curbside pickup space downtown, beginning with a
single marked space as a pilot project to gauge interest. Feedback from downtown businesses and
customers is a priority. When the pandemic threat is minimal or passes, curbside pickup could
continue if it is effective.


Outcome of interviews and surveys
On the basis of interviews with 17 merchants and 6 survey responses, the recommendation for a
curbside pickup space that would best serve merchants for a pilot project is the one around the
corner from Fosdal's Bakery and Viking Brew Pub and near Autumn Pearl, Cheeser's, and Next
Generation, who were enthusiastic about the project.


East side of Forrest Street, just south of Main Street. Benefits: Four merchants were in favor of this
spot, an alternative to parking in a yellow parking zone on Main Street and off the highway.
Drawbacks: Removes a downtown parking space from public use.


Last updated April 6, 2021. Created October 30, 2020, by Joyce Tikalsky, jtikalsky@ci.stoughton.wi.us, 608-205-8158.  / 1







Location options
Convenient curbside pickup spots for a pilot project are located just off Highway 51/Main Street for
downtown businesses within a block of Forrest and Main. Other sites for consideration after the pilot
project: Street parking on Forrest north of Main, city parking lot at Division and East Washington Streets, and
Main Street alleys.


East side of Forrest Street, just south
of Main Street


Southwest corner of the City Hall parking lot.
Pedestrian crossing to the south protects access.


Southeast corner of the City Hall parking
lot. Pedestrian crossing to the south protects
access.


West side of Forrest Street, just south of
Main Street


Pilot project plan
Contact: Joyce Tikalsky, jtikalsky@ci.stoughton.wi.us, 608-205-8158, 109 West Prospect St.
Input about interviews with downtown businesses and customers: Stoughton Chamber of Commerce,
Stoughton Downtown Revitalization Committee, District 2 Alders, and downtown merchants.
(https://www.visitstoughton.com/see-do/shopping, https://www.visitstoughton.com/eat-drink).
Schedule: 6-month pilot project in 2021.
Questions for downtown merchants and customers before the pilot project begins:


1. Would a dedicated parking space for customer curbside pickup be good for business downtown?
Comments:


2. Choose the space you recommend for the project.


Last updated April 6, 2021. Created October 30, 2020, by Joyce Tikalsky, jtikalsky@ci.stoughton.wi.us, 608-205-8158.  / 2



https://www.visitstoughton.com/see-do/shopping

https://www.visitstoughton.com/eat-drink





3. Would you suggest other spaces? (optional)


4. Do you have other ideas for supporting downtown business during the pandemic? (optional)


Track usage: Joyce will check with city staff and merchants at the end of the project to gauge usage.


Related projects


Signage: "Reserved parking. Curbside pickup or delivery only, 5:30 AM-10 PM" [updated March 31, 2021].


The start and end times reflect downtown business hours. A merchant recommended "Curbside pickup or
delivery only." Brett Ebert recommended "Reserved parking" and a designated span of usage time
(municipal communication, March 10, 2021), and provided example artwork.


A merchant suggested: "Curbside pickup or delivery only" instead of
"Call when you arrive."


❏ Street marking, if needed
❏ Enforcement approach to be determined by Chief Greg Leck. Set hours to
accommodate a variety of businesses (see merchant list).
❏ Maintenance to be determined by city staff in affected departments.
Costs: To be determined.
Fees: None
Related to: Planning Commission, Public Works Committee, and City of Stoughton
departments
Possible City of Stoughton promotion of feedback and pilot project:
❏ Handout based on pages 1 and 2 of this plan for in-person interviews with downtown businesses.
❏ Online Google Form option for responses by downtown businesses and others.
❏ City of Stoughton Facebook page
❏ Press release for the Stoughton Courier Hub
❏ Stoughton Chamber of Commerce newsletter or website
❏ Other: __________________________________________


Pilot project oversight: Police Department, Planning Department, Public Works Department
Plan start date: Following Public Safety Committee and City Council approval.
Resolution for consideration by the City Council pending completed by Chief Leck. City Council approval
pending.
Pilot project end date: October 31, 2021.
Review for continuation: Public Safety Committee, City Council, city staff, downtown businesses, customer
feedback
Continuation after the pilot project begins: As soon as practical. Note that COVID-19 vaccinations are not
expected to be widely available until Spring 2021 at the earliest. Public Health Madison and Dane County
expect vaccinations to continue for many months (Source: PHMDC Facebook post 2/15/2021,
(https://www.facebook.com/151406551595514/posts/3944560078946790/).


Last updated April 6, 2021. Created October 30, 2020, by Joyce Tikalsky, jtikalsky@ci.stoughton.wi.us, 608-205-8158.  / 3



https://www.facebook.com/151406551595514/posts/3944560078946790/





Next steps
Task By Target deadline Done?


Send the draft plan to Alderperson Greg Jenson, Chair of
the Public Safety Committee, for review.


Joyce Tikalsky ASAP DONE


Review the updated draft plan to check for clarity,
completeness, and suitability for the next available Public
Safety Committee meeting agenda.


Greg Jenson
and Greg Leck


December16,
2020


DONE


Share the project plan with, and administer survey questions,
to reviewers: District 2 alders, Phil Caravello on behalf of the
Stoughton Downtown Revitalization Committee, and Sarah
Ebert on behalf of the Stoughton Chamber of Commerce, and
downtown merchants.


Joyce Tikalsky
Plan shared
February 2, 2021.


DONE


Collect city staff review for implementation, lead times
for materials, and schedule. Contact: Rodney Scheel


Joyce Tikalsky February 18, 2021 DONE


Public Safety Committee plan review and approval. Vote to
recommend the project to the City Council for the agenda,
further discussion, and possible action at the next City
Council meeting.


Public Safety
Committee


March 31, 2021 DONE


Update the plan and schedule if needed. Submit to the City
Clerk for the next City Council agenda.


Joyce Tikalsky April 6, 2021 DONE


City Council vote City Council April 13, 2021


Order and install signage. Brett Ebert April 30, 2021
target completion


Implement the plan and distribute press releases Public Safety
Committee


Review the plan for additional input, plan changes,
and continuation of the pilot program. Write a report.


Joyce Tikalsky


For reference


Merchants included in the online survey


Bold type indicates merchants who would be most affected by the pilot plan.
+ Indicates responses by April 6 that were generally favorable to the pilot project.


McGlynn Pharmacy, 100 East Main - Monday-Friday 9:00 AM - 6:00 PM, Saturday 9:00 AM - 2:00 PM


Last updated April 6, 2021. Created October 30, 2020, by Joyce Tikalsky, jtikalsky@ci.stoughton.wi.us, 608-205-8158.  / 4







+ Main Street Kitchen, 120 East Main - Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday 11:00 AM - 4:00 PM; Thursday, Friday,
Saturday 11:00 AM - 6:00 PM


A Day in the Country, 134 East Main - Thursday 10:00 AM - 4:00 PM, Friday 10:00 AM - 4:00 PM,  Saturday 9:00
AM - 3:00 PM


+ All Through the House, 144 East Main - Tuesday-Friday 10:00 AM - 6:00 PM Saturday: 9:00 AM - 5:00 PM
Saturday-Sunday - Closed


Stoughton Floral (offers curbside pickup) - 168 East Main - Monday-Friday 9:00 AM -3:00 PM, Saturday 8:00
AM-12:00 PM


Big Sky (offers curbside pickup; reply pending) - 176 East Main - Friday-Saturday - 5:00 - 7:00 PM; Closed
Sunday-Thursday.


Wildwood Cafe (offers curbside pickup), 218 South Forrest - Wednesday-Saturday 8:00 AM-2:00 PM, Sunday
8:00 AM-1:00 PM, Closed Monday-Tuesday


+ Broodminder, 174 East Main - Specialized products for beekeepers; internet business. Would not use
curbside parking, but thought it would be good for downtown.


+ Wendigo, 121 East Main - Wednesday-Thursday 4:00-10:00 PM, Friday-Saturday 4:00-11:00 PM. Closed
Sunday-Tuesday


IttyBitty Bookstore (reply pending), 123 East Main, Suite 2B, Sunday 12:00 - 6:00 PM; Closed Monday-Saturday


+ Diamonds Select, 139 East Main, Tuesday-Friday 10:00 AM - 5:00 PM, Saturday 10:00 AM - 2:00 PM Closed
Sunday-Monday


Insty Cash and Pawn, 143 East Main - Monday-Wednesday 2:00 - 6:00 PM, Thursday-Friday 10:30 AM - 6:30 PM,
Saturday 10:00 AM - 4:30 PM


+ Lon's Tailgaters, 161 East Main - Monday-Tuesday 11:00 AM - 2:00 AM, Wednesday-Saturday 11:00 AM - 2:00
AM, Sunday 9:00 AM-11:00 PM


+ Next Generation (offers curbside pickup), Tuesday-Friday 12:00-5:00 PM, Saturday 10:00 AM-5:00 PM,
Closed Sunday-Monday


+ Cheesers (offers curbside pickup), Monday-Friday 10:00 AM - 5:00 PM, Saturday 9:00 AM - 5:00 PM, Closed
Sunday


+ Autumn Pearl, Monday-Friday 10:00 AM - 5:00 PM, Saturday 9:00 AM - 5:00 PM, Closed Sunday


Woodland Studios, Tuesday-Friday 11:00 AM - 5:00 PM, Saturday 10:00 AM - 5:00 PM, Closed Sunday-Monday.
In favor only if City Hall parking is used.


+ Viking Brew Pub (offers curbside pickup) - Wednesday-Thursday 4:00-8:00 PM, Friday 3:30-8:00 PM, Saturday
12:00-8:00, Sunday 12:00-6:00 PM, Closed Monday-Tuesday. Offered excellent suggestions.


+ Fosdal's Home Bakery (offers curbside pickup) - Tuesday-Saturday 5:30 AM- 5:00 PM, Sunday 7:00
AM-12:00 PM, Closed Monday.


Google Survey Form for Merchants


Easy, shortened link: tinyurl.com/Stoughton-curbside


Long form link:
https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSdmEHgzXpxFdjUVQNE7JA5paiO0H2aQg0wmSqBIpVk-C7KYug/vi
ewform?usp=sf_link


Public link to this document:
https://docs.google.com/document/d/14NNBDfMTFNgsxjHqTH3yO1M_3zsoJ3u6trFfAG919CE/edit?usp=sharing


Last updated April 6, 2021. Created October 30, 2020, by Joyce Tikalsky, jtikalsky@ci.stoughton.wi.us, 608-205-8158.  / 5



http://tinyurl.com/Stoughton-curbside

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSdmEHgzXpxFdjUVQNE7JA5paiO0H2aQg0wmSqBIpVk-C7KYug/viewform?usp=sf_link

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSdmEHgzXpxFdjUVQNE7JA5paiO0H2aQg0wmSqBIpVk-C7KYug/viewform?usp=sf_link

https://docs.google.com/document/d/14NNBDfMTFNgsxjHqTH3yO1M_3zsoJ3u6trFfAG919CE/edit?usp=sharing





Merchant comments:


● Chose the southeast corner of Main and Forrest. "Would prefer the first parking spot in front of
Viking Brew Pub LLC. We've used this spot (and the next spot) for nine months now. In my opinion,
City Hall parking lot is not a good option. We don't have the manpower for curbside across the street.
We are the only business doing curbside or carry out at this time and at 25% of our business in this
category, we can't afford to deliver, etc., to a central location elsewhere. Match curbside near each
business, if possible. Sign should read, 'Curbside pickup or delivery only.' "


● "Prefer [southeast corner of Main and Forrest]. One should be enough. Our customers have a hard
time finding parking now with the spots available."


● "Prefer option 1, southwest corner of the City Hall lot. I don't think I or my customers would use this,
but it's nice to have the option."


● Two merchants mentioned making patio dining a "permanent" option. "It adds character to the
entire city ambience downtown."


● Another merchant would like the curbside pickup parking spot to continue after the pandemic.


● Four merchants mentioned they would not have time to drop pickups across the street in the City
Hall lot, especially during busy times.


● Barriers between the street and sidewalk didn't work well.


● Concerns about speeding on Main Street


● "Not really workable for me."


● Considered the possibility of an alley window for food pickup, but that would not be allowed
currently.


● Not sure how this would work for most businesses. If I wanted to do curbside, would do so in front of
my store.


● Problem with trash in the alley, south of the 100 block East Main.


City Hall Parking Lot


The lot is used for a variety of purposes downtown, including visits to the post office. An electric hookup is
planned for the northeast corner.


Last updated April 6, 2021. Created October 30, 2020, by Joyce Tikalsky, jtikalsky@ci.stoughton.wi.us, 608-205-8158.  / 6







Downtown Parking Powerpoint Presentation
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/54ac5e65e4b0b6dc3e27cc0c/t/59943ba1914e6bd7aeaad40c/1502
8868 19408/Parking+PPT.pdf


2020 holiday parking actions, Public Safety Committee, October 29, 2020, and City Council, November 10,
2020. The extension of time limits for holiday parking downtown was discussed and recommended forward to
the City Council on October 28, 2020, by the Public Safety Committee. Council approval followed November
10, 2020 (R-171-2020).


Satellite view


Other background


Edmonds, Washington,
https://myedmondsnews.com/2020/09/surveys-provide-snapshot-of-how-edmonds-businesses-are-faring-d
uring-covid-19/


Last updated April 6, 2021. Created October 30, 2020, by Joyce Tikalsky, jtikalsky@ci.stoughton.wi.us, 608-205-8158.  / 7



https://static1.squarespace.com/static/54ac5e65e4b0b6dc3e27cc0c/t/59943ba1914e6bd7aeaad40c/15028868

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/54ac5e65e4b0b6dc3e27cc0c/t/59943ba1914e6bd7aeaad40c/15028868

https://myedmondsnews.com/2020/09/surveys-provide-snapshot-of-how-edmonds-businesses-are-faring-during-covid-19/

https://myedmondsnews.com/2020/09/surveys-provide-snapshot-of-how-edmonds-businesses-are-faring-during-covid-19/



		10a-PSC Curbside Pickup Pilot Program 4-21

		10b-Curbside Pickup Plan Updated April 6, 2021






06-3PT4822-Liquor License Revocation Procedural Amendments  


0409211048  1 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Sections 14-31(3)b.2, 3, and 4 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code Relating to Liquor 


Licensing Requirements 


 


Committee Action:    Public Safety Committee Recommended approval 5-0 on March 31, 2021 


Fiscal Impact:       N/A 


File Number: O-10-2021 First Reading: 


Second Reading: 


April 13, 2021  


April 27, 2021 


 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin ordains as 


follows: 


1. Sec. 14-31(3)b.2 of the Stoughton Municipal Code shall be amended to read: 


If the licensee appears as required by summons and denies the complaint, both the 


complainant and the licensee may produce witnesses, cross examine witnesses and 


be represented by counsel. The licensee shall be provided a written transcript of the 


hearing at his expense. All proceedings and testimony shall be recorded on tape and 


promptly transcribed unless waived by both the complainant and licensee. If either 


party requires a stenographic recording and transcription, city staff shall make the 


necessary arrangements, but the expense shall be borne by the requesting party. The 


secretary to the public safety committee shall mark and receive all exhibits admitted 


into the record. 


2. Sec. 14-31(3)b.3 of the Stoughton Municipal Code shall be amended to read: 


Within 20 days of the Within 20 days of completion of the transcript of the 


proceedings, or within 20 days of completion of the hearing if a transcript was 


waived by both parties, the public safety committee shall submit a report to the 


city council, including findings of fact, conclusions of law and a recommendation 


as to what action, if any, the city council should take with respect to the license. 


The public safety committee shall provide the complainant and the licensee with a 


copy of the report. Either the complainant or the licensee may file an objection to 


the report and shall have the opportunity to present arguments supporting the 


objection to the city council. The city council shall determine whether the 


arguments shall be presented orally or in writing or both. 


3. Section 14-31(3)b.4 of the Stoughton Municipal Code shall be amended to read: 







06-3PT4822-Liquor License Revocation Procedural Amendments  


0409211048  2 


At the second regular meeting of the city council, after the filing of the public safety 


committee's recommendation, the city council shall act on the recommendation. If 


the recommendation is based upon a stipulation of the parties, the city council may 


accept or reject the recommendations by a simple majority vote. If the city council 


rejects the recommendation, the matter shall be referred back to the public safety 


committee for a full factfinding hearing. If the recommendation is based upon a full 


factfinding hearing, the recommendation shall become the decision of the city 


council unless reversed or modified by a simple majority vote. No further evidence 


shall be allowed before the city council. Only those members of the city council 


who have certified to the clerk in writing that they have read the transcript, unless 


waived by both the complainant and the licensee, exhibits and reports of the public 


safety committee, shall be permitted to vote on the matter. If the city council after 


considering the public safety committee's report and any arguments presented by 


the complainant or the licensee finds the complaint to be true or if there is no 


objection to the report recommending suspension or revocation of license, the 


license shall be suspended for not less than one ten days nor more than 90 days or 


revoked. Any suspension or revocation shall be served beginning at 12:00 a.m. on 


the 7th day following council action. Any revocation shall begin immediately 


following council action. The decision of the city council shall be a final 


determination for purposes of judicial review. If the complaint is found to be true, 


the licensee shall pay to the city the actual costs of the proceedings.  


 


4. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and publication pursuant to Wisconsin 


law. 
 


 


Dates 


Council Adopted: _________ 


Mayor Approved: _________    ______________________________ 


Published: _______________    Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Attest: __________________    ______________________________ 


Holly Licht, City Clerk 


 


 


 








12-3PT0443-Draft Alcohol Ordinance  


0409211052  1 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Section 14-42(c) and Creation of Section 14-46, Relating to Liquor Licensing 


Requirements. 


 


Committee Action:    Public Safety Committee ___________________________________________ 


Fiscal Impact:       N/A 


File Number: O-___-2021 1st Reading: 


2nd Reading: 


 


 


 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin ordains as 


follows: 


1. Section 14-42(c) of the Stoughton Municipal Code shall be amended to read: 


Violations, how calculated. In determining the accumulated demerit points against a license or 


permit within a specified period, the city shall use the date each violation was committed as the 


basis for the determination. A conviction for a violation is not necessary to assign points. That 


decision is made by the chief of police or his designee based on his analysis of the violation.  


 


2. Section 14-46 of the Stoughton Municipal Code shall be created to read as follows: 


Compliance with Health Rules. Premises licensed under this chapter must comply with 


applicable orders or rules issued by the Wisconsin Department of Health Services, Public 


Health Madison and Dane County, and local board of health or local health officer.  


 


3. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and publication pursuant to Wisconsin law. 


 


 


Dates 


Council Adopted: _________ 


Mayor Approved: _________    ______________________________ 


Published: _______________    Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Attest: __________________    ______________________________ 


Holly Licht, City Clerk 


 


 


 

































CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 


AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE PROPER CITY OFFICIAL(S) TO APPROVE A TEMPORARY 


PREMISES DESCRIPTION AMENDMENT FOR MERSHONIAN CIDERY, LLC  D/B/A MERSHON’S 


CIDERY , LOCATED AT 124 W. MAIN STREET, FOR THE DURATION OF THE DECLARED STATE OF 


EMERGENCY. 


Committee Action:     


Fiscal Impact:       None 


File Number: R-44-2021 Date Introduced:  April 13, 2021  


 


RECITALS 


 


WHEREAS, on June 22, 2020, in response to the COVID-19 coronavirus, and 


pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 323.11, the Common Council of the City of Stoughton adopted 


Resolution 138-2020, extending the local state of emergency declared under Resolution 


99-2020; and 


 


WHEREAS, pursuant to the emergency powers granted under Wis. Stat. § 


323.14(4) during a declared state of emergency, the Common Council adopted Resolutions 


100-2020 and 110-2020 to temporarily authorize outdoor dining and outdoor service and 


consumption of alcohol; and 


 


WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 138-2020, Resolutions 100-2020 and 110-


2020, and any authorizations granted pursuant thereto, are valid and remain in effect for 


the duration of the declared state of emergency and under any extensions thereof adopted 


by the Common Council; and 


 


WHEREAS, the City Clerk’s office has received an amended premises description 


for the “Class B” Winery License  s issued to Mershonian Cidery, LLC d/b/a Mershon’s 


Cidery, location at 124 W. Main St.  


 


WHEREAS, the licensee’s outdoor dining area has been approved by the City of 


Stoughton Planning Department;  


 


RESOLUTION 


 


NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED that the Common Council of the City 


of Stoughton approves and directs that the proper city official(s) approve a temporary 







amendment to the premises description for the “Class B” Winery license issued to 


Mershonian Cidery, LLC ,  d/b/a Mershon’s Cidery located at 124 W. Main Street, which 


is valid and shall remain in effect for the duration of the local state of emergency declared 


under Resolution 99-2020 and under any extensions thereof adopted by the Common 


Council. 


 


 Approved by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton this 13th day of April, 


2021.  


 


Council Action:         Adopted            Failed  Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


           


Tim Swadley, Mayor     Date 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote        
 













		14a-Mershons Cider

		14b-Mershon 124 W. Main Street Outdoor Dining Plan March 2021






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 


AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE PROPER CITY OFFICIAL(S) TO APPROVE A TEMPORARY 


PREMISES DESCRIPTION AMENDMENT FOR BROWN WOOD, LLC  D/B/A ROXY’S RESTOBAR , 


LOCATED AT 208 W. MAIN STREET, FOR THE DURATION OF THE DECLARED STATE OF 


EMERGENCY. 


Committee Action:     


Fiscal Impact:       None 


File Number: R-45-2021 Date Introduced:  April 13, 2021 


 


RECITALS 


 


WHEREAS, on June 22, 2020, in response to the COVID-19 coronavirus, and 


pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 323.11, the Common Council of the City of Stoughton adopted 


Resolution 138-2020, extending the local state of emergency declared under Resolution 


99-2020; and 


 


WHEREAS, pursuant to the emergency powers granted under Wis. Stat. § 


323.14(4) during a declared state of emergency, the Common Council adopted Resolutions 


100-2020 and 110-2020 to temporarily authorize outdoor dining and outdoor service and 


consumption of alcohol; and 


 


WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 138-2020, Resolutions 100-2020 and 110-


2020, and any authorizations granted pursuant thereto, are valid and remain in effect for 


the duration of the declared state of emergency and under any extensions thereof adopted 


by the Common Council; and 


 


WHEREAS, the City Clerk’s office has received an amended premises description 


for the Class “B” Beer and “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor licenses issued to Brown Wood, 


LLC d/b/a Roxy’s Restobar, located at 208 West Main Street; and 


 


WHEREAS, the licensee’s outdoor dining area has been approved by the City of 


Stoughton Planning Department;  


 


RESOLUTION 


 


NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED that the Common Council of the City 


of Stoughton approves and directs that the proper city official(s) approve a temporary 







amendment to the premises description for the Class “B” Beer and “Class B” Intoxicating 


Liquor licenses issued to Brown Wood, LLC d/b/a Roxy’s Restobar, located at 208 W. 


Main Street, which is valid and shall remain in effect for the duration of the local state of 


emergency declared under Resolution 99-2020 and under any extensions thereof adopted 


by the Common Council. 


 


 Approved by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton this 13th day of April, 


2021.  


 


Council Action:         Adopted            Failed  Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


           


Tim Swadley, Mayor     Date 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote        
 













		15a-Roxys Restobar

		15b-Roxys 208 W. Main Street Outdoor Dining Plan 4.9.21






 


1 


AGREEMENT TO UNDERTAKE DEVELOPMENT 


 


(Riverfront Redevelopment – Phase 1) 


 


THIS AGREEMENT TO UNDERTAKE DEVELOPMENT entered into as of the 


________ day of ___________, 2021, by and among the City of Stoughton, a Wisconsin 


municipal corporation (the “City”), the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority, a body 


corporate and politic (the “RDA)”) and Curt Vaughn Brink LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability 


company (the “Developer”). 


 


RECITALS 


 


1. The City, the RDA and Developer entered into a Real Estate Purchase and Sale 


Agreement effective __________________ (the “Purchase Agreement”). 


2. Developer proposes to purchase the real property described as Lot 1 on Attachment A 


attached hereto (the "Phase 1 Land"), and intends to undertake multi-family residential 


development on the Phase 1 Land, and construct certain public improvements needed to serve 


the Phase 1 Land, in accordance with Planned Development District zoning to be approved by 


the City. 


 


3. The Purchase Agreement and Chapter 66 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code 


require that an agreement be made for the installation of improvements needed to serve the Phase 


1 Land. 


 


4. Developer is unable to develop the Phase 1 Land and construct the necessary public 


improvements without financial assistance. 


 


5. The City has created Tax Increment District No. 8, to facilitate redevelopment of the 


Phase 1 Land. 


 


7. The City finds and determines that unless the City provides the tax increment 


development assistance described in this Agreement, Developer will not develop the Phase 1 


Land. 


 


8. The City finds that the development of the Phase 1 Land and the fulfillment of the terms 


and conditions of this Agreement are in the vital and best interests of the City and its residents, 


by expanding the tax base, remediating environmental contamination and redeveloping the Phase 


1 Land, creating needed housing, thereby serving public purposes in accordance with state and 


local law. 


 


9. The City Council on ______________, adopted Resolution No. R-____-2021 approving 


this Agreement and authorizing the City, through its duly authorized officials and agents, to 


execute this Agreement. 


 







 


2 


AGREEMENT 


 


In consideration of the Recitals, and the mutual promises, obligations and benefits 


provided hereunder, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, Developer, the 


RDA and the City agree as follows: 


 


A. DEFINITIONS.  As used in this Agreement, the following terms, when having an initial 


capital letter, shall mean: 


 


1. Actual Tax Increment.  The tax increment actually received by the City from 


taxes levied on the Phase 1 Land in a given year, as reasonably calculated by the City.  As of the 


effective date of this Agreement, the Department of Revenue calculates the combined tax 


increment generated by all tax increment districts in the City, using a methodology reflected on 


Wisconsin Department of Revenue form PC-202.  The parties agree that the City may reasonably 


calculate the tax increment actually received by the City by multiplying the total “interim rate” 


from form PC-202 for the applicable year by the Value Increment for that year.  The total interim 


rate is obtained by dividing the combined levies from each taxing jurisdiction (the sum of the 


apportioned levies in column A on form PC-202) by the total equalized value of all taxable 


property in the City, excluding the value increment of all tax increment districts in the City (the 


amount used in column B on form PC-202).  If the Wisconsin Department of Revenue 


discontinues or modifies form PC-202, or otherwise modifies the manner in which it calculates 


tax increment, the City may calculate tax increment in such other reasonable manner as it 


determines appropriate.  The City may make such adjustments in calculating tax increment 


needed so that, if tax increment is so calculated for all parcels in the District, the sum does not 


exceed the total tax increment received by the City from taxes levied on all property in the 


District. 


 


2. Base Value.  The parties agree that the Base Value is zero. 


 


3. Public Improvements.  The public improvements described on Attachment B. 


 


4. District.  Tax Increment District No. 8. 


 


5. Existing Contamination.  Environmental contamination located on the Phase 1 


Land and elsewhere within the Riverfront Site, as of the date the Phase 1 Land is conveyed to 


Developer, including without limitation, the contaminants described in the open DNR files 


identified as BRRTS number 02-13-583169, 02-13-554724, and 02-13-585835; closed DNR files 


identified as BRRTS number 02-13-579312, 02-13-258425; and general property DNR file 


identified as BRRTS number 07-13-563581.  


 


6. Materials Management Plan.  A plan to be approved by the Wisconsin 


Department of Natural Resources for managing the Existing Contamination during construction 


of the Project and the Public Improvements. 


 







 


3 


7. Remedial Action Plans. Plans to be approved by the Wisconsin Department of 


Natural Resources for remediating Existing Contamination on the Phase 1 Land and on the land 


area on which the Public Improvements will be constructed. 


 


8. Project.  The construction of two, multi-family residential buildings in accordance 


with Planned Development District zoning to be approved by the City. 


 


9. Phase 1 Land.  The land described as Lot 1 in Attachment A. 


 


10. Riverfront Site.  An approximately 10.9-acre tract of land located in the City of 


Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin, bounded on the west by Fourth Street, on the east by 


Seventh Street, on the north by South Street and on the south by the Yahara River. 


 


11. Value Increment.  The fair market value of the Phase 1 Land in a given year, as 


shown on the real property tax bill for the Phase 1 Land for that year, minus the Base Value. 


 


B. DEVELOPER OBLIGATIONS. 


 


1. Construction of Public Improvements and Remediation of Environmental 


Contamination. 


 


(a) Design of Improvements.  Developer shall prepare detailed plans and 


specifications of the Public Improvements for review by and subject to approval by the City 


Planning Director.  Where standards and/or specifications have not been established by the City, 


all work shall be designed and constructed in accordance with established engineering practices 


as designated and approved by the City Planning Director.  All Public Improvements shall be 


designed, constructed and installed in accordance with the standard specifications of the City, 


except as variances to or waivers of those requirements have been granted, and in accordance 


with plans and specifications approved by the City Planning Director. 


 


(b) Construction of Public Improvements.  Developer shall be responsible for 


the construction and installation of the Public Improvements.  Except as otherwise provided in 


this Agreement, the Public Improvements will be designed, constructed and installed at 


Developer's sole expense.   


 


(c) Remediation of Environmental Contamination.   


 


(1) Developer shall comply with the Materials Management Plan 


during the course of constructing the Project and the Public Improvements.   


 


(2) Developer shall be responsible for remediation of the Existing 


Contamination of the Phase 1 Land and the lands on which the Public 


Improvements are located, in accordance with the Remediation Plans, through 


case closure by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources, in accordance 


with Wis. Admin. Code § NR 726.   


 







 


4 


(3) Developer shall be responsible for any continuing obligations 


relating to the Phase 1 Land, imposed in a closure approval letter, at Developer’s 


cost.  The City shall be responsible for any continuing obligations relating to the 


lands on which the Public Improvements are located, imposed in a closure 


approval letter, at the City’s cost. 


 


(d) Public Bidding of Public Improvements.  Developer shall publicly 


advertise, bid and contract for the construction of the Public Improvements in accordance with 


Wisconsin law governing public construction, including but not limited to Wis. Stat. §§ 62.15, 


66.0901 and 779.14, under the supervision of the City Planning Director and City Attorney.  


Statutory bid bonds, performance bonds and payment bonds shall be required for all Public 


Improvements in a form, and from sureties, approved by the City, and shall be issued for the 


express benefit of Developer and the City.  Developer shall prepare all public bidding 


documents, contracts and bonds, subject to review and approval by the City Planning Director 


and the City Attorney.  Construction contracts shall expressly grant the City the same rights to 


enforce the contract against contractors and sureties as Developer.  The bid opening and bid 


evaluation shall be conducted jointly by the Developer and the City.  All contracts for 


construction of the Public Improvements shall be awarded by Developer to the lowest 


responsible bidder.  In the event of a disagreement between the City and Developer regarding 


which bid is the lowest responsible bid, the City’s determination shall be final.  In the case of an 


asserted mistake, omission or error in a bid, the parties shall follow the requirements of 


Wisconsin law, including Wis. Stat. § 66.0901(5).  In the event of a disagreement regarding 


whether to allow correction or withdrawal of a bid, the City’s determination shall be final.  


 


(e) Construction Management.  Two copies of the approved, signed and 


stamped plans and specifications shall be provided to the City Planning Director, and one copy 


shall be provided to each contractor.  Only stamped and signed copies of the plans and 


specifications shall be used on the job site. 


 


(f) Traffic Control, Signs and Barricades.  Developer shall install or cause the 


installation of, and maintain during construction and until the Public Improvements are accepted 


by the City, traffic controls as specified in a traffic control plan to be prepared by Developer and 


approved by the City Planning Director.  The traffic control plan shall be prepared in accordance 


with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, published by the Federal Highway 


Administration. 


 


(g) City Approval of Starting Dates.  No land disturbances or work on the 


Public Improvements shall begin without the City Planning Director's approval of a starting date 


and schedule which shall be submitted by the Developer to the City Planning Director a 


minimum of 20 calendar days before work is scheduled to begin.   


 


(h) Change to Work Order.  All change orders for the Public Improvements 


shall be reviewed and approved by Developer and the City Planning Director.  Except as 


otherwise provided in this Agreement, the City shall not be required to reimburse Developer for 


costs of any change orders relating to the Public Improvements.   


 







 


5 


(i) Time of Completion.  The Public Improvements shall be substantially 


complete within 18 months after all conditions precedent in Section D have been satisfied, or 


before the time the Project is completed, whichever is sooner.  No damages may be recovered by 


Developer or any person against the City for delay in completion of the Public Improvements. 


 


(j) Acceptance.  After the Public Improvements required by this Agreement 


have been substantially completed, and within 10 days after receiving written notice that the 


Developer desires the City to inspect the On-Site Public Improvements, the City Planning 


Director or his designee shall inspect the improvements and, if acceptable to the City Planning 


Director, the City Council shall by resolution certify such completed improvements as being in 


compliance with the standards and specifications of the City.  Before obtaining certification of 


any such improvements, Developer shall:  (1) present to the City valid lien waivers from all 


contractors and subcontractors providing materials or performing work on the improvements for 


which certification is sought; and (2) provide as-built drawings to the City Planning Director 


consisting of four hard copies on paper, one electronic copy as a pdf file, and one electronic copy 


in a digital format that is acceptable to the City.  Certification by the City does not constitute a 


waiver by the City of the right to take action on account of defects in or failure of any 


improvements that are detected or which occur following such certification. 


 
The Developer agrees that Public Improvements will not be accepted by the City until the Public 


Improvements have been inspected and approved by the City Planning Director and furthermore 


until lien waivers are received by the City demonstrating that the contractors and their suppliers 


have been paid in full for all work and materials furnished under this Agreement.  Water main 


and the respective service laterals shall not be accepted until a complete breakdown of all 


construction, engineering and administrative costs incurred by Developer is submitted to the City 


Planning Director.  In addition, the water system installation shall not be accepted until a 


bacteriologically safe sample is obtained and tested by a certified agency, and the City has been 


provided with a report from such agency confirming such testing.  Developer shall be 


responsible to flush the main, obtain the samples, and have all tests completed as may be 


required for the City's acceptance, under the direct supervision of the City’s water utility 


personnel.  In addition, Developer shall clean the storm sewers in accordance with the directives 


of the City Planning Director.   


 


The Developer agrees to provide for maintenance and repair of all required Public Improvements 


until such Public Improvements are formally accepted by the City. 


 


The City will provide timely notice to Developer whenever inspection reveals that an 


improvement does not conform to the required standards and specifications or is otherwise 


defective.  The Developer shall have 30 days from the issuance of such notice to cure the defect.  


If Developer is unable to cure the defect within 30 days due to an event or circumstance beyond 


the reasonable control of and without Developer's fault, neglect or negligence, the time to cure 


the defect shall be extended for such time as the event or circumstance preventing cure is 


removed. 


 


(k) Guarantee of Public Improvements.  The Developer agrees to guarantee 


and warrant all work performed on the Public Improvements under this Agreement for a period 







 


6 


of one year from the date of final acceptance by the City of the work completed by the Developer 


against defects in workmanship or materials.  If any defect appears during the guarantee period, 


the Developer agrees to make required replacement or acceptable repairs of the defective work at 


its own expense, including total and complete restoration of any disturbed surface or component 


of the improvements on lands where the repairs or replacement is required, to the standard 


provided in the approved plans and specifications.  All guarantees or warranties for materials or 


workmanship of suppliers and third-party contractors for work performed under this Agreement 


which extend beyond the above guarantee period shall be assigned by Developer to the City.   


 


(l) Surety.  In addition to the statutory performance and payment bonds 


required in section B.1 (d), Developer shall provide to the City, by not later than the closing on 


the conveyance of the Phase 1 Land to Developer, a letter of credit as follows: 


  


(1) Letter of Credit.  The Developer shall provide the City with an 


irrevocable Letter of Credit issued pursuant to Chapter 405 of the Wisconsin 


Statutes in the amount of 125% of the estimated cost of the Public Improvements, 


to secure Developer's construction of the Public Improvements and Developer's 


guarantee of the Public Improvements.  The letter of credit shall be in a form 


acceptable to the City, and shall be issued by an entity that is acceptable to the 


City, or that has a rating of its long-term unsecured debt not lower than A1 by 


Moody’s Investors Service or A+ by Standard and Poor’s.  The Letter of Credit 


shall be payable to the City and shall be conditioned upon and guarantee to the 


City the performance by the Developer of Developer's obligations to construct 


and guarantee the Public Improvements under this Agreement.  The letter of 


credit shall be approved as to form by the City Attorney.  The letter of credit may 


be reduced from time to time in amounts equal to the value of the Public 


Improvements that have been installed, completed and accepted by the City.  In 


no event shall the letter of credit be reduced below the aggregate of:  125 percent 


of the estimated cost of the Public Improvements not yet installed or accepted, 


plus 25 percent of the cost of Public Improvements that have been accepted. 


 


(2) Payment under Letter of Credit.  The Letter of Credit shall be 


payable to the City at any time upon presentation of (1) a sight draft drawn on the 


issuing Bank in the amount to which the City is entitled to draw pursuant to the 


terms of this Agreement; (2) a written statement by a City official that the City is 


entitled to draw on the Letter of Credit; and (3) the original Letter of Credit. 


 


(3) Accounting.  Developer may inspect the City records of payments 


made using the Letter of Credit upon request at reasonable times.  However, the 


City retains the exclusive right to determine, among other things, questions of 


design, specifications, construction cost, performance, contract compliance, and 


payment in connection with the Public Improvements.  In the absence of fraud or 


palpable error on the part of the City, the City's decisions on all such matters shall 


control and shall be final. 


 







 


7 


(4) Notice of Expiration.  The initial and each renewed or replacement 


letter of credit shall by express language be automatically extended without 


amendment for a period of one year from its expiration date, unless at least 


45 days before such expiration date the issuer of the letter of credit notifies the 


City in writing that the letter of credit will not be extended for an additional one 


year period, or notifies the City in writing that the letter of credit will be renewed 


or replaced by a letter of credit in an amount that is less than the amount required 


by this Agreement, which amount shall be specified in such written notice.  Upon 


receipt of notice that the letter of credit will not be extended for an additional one 


year period, or will be extended, renewed or replaced in an amount that is less 


than the amount required by this Agreement, the City may draw upon the letter of 


credit up to the letter of credit amount required by this Agreement. 


 


(5) Remedies Not Exclusive.  The remedies provided in this Section 


are not exclusive.  The City may use any other remedies available to it under this 


Agreement, any performance or payment bonds, or any remedies available in law 


or equity in addition to, or in lieu of, the remedies provided in this Section. 


 


2. Complete the Project.  Developer must complete the Project. 


 


3. Park Land and Park Improvement Impact Fees.  Developer acknowledges that as 


a condition of receiving building permits for the Project, Developer will be required to pay 


impact fees to the City for the acquisition of parkland and for the improvement of parkland, 


pursuant to Chapter 67 of the City of Stoughton Code of Ordinances.  


 


C. CITY OBLIGATIONS. 


 


1. Reimbursement to Developer for Cost of Material Management and 


Environmental Remediation.  


 


(a) WEDC Brownfields Grant.  Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, 


Developer is responsible to prepare and submit an application to the Wisconsin Economic 


Development Corporation (“WEDC”) Brownfields Grant Program seeking a grant (“Brownfield 


Grant”) to pay eligible costs that will be incurred in managing materials and remediating the 


Existing Contamination.  Developer, the RDA and the City shall cooperate with one another in 


pursuing the WEDC Brownfield Grant and in seeking out and maximizing any other potential 


grant opportunities to address the Existing Conditions on the Phase 1 Land.   


 


(b) City Payment of Reimbursable Remediation Costs.  For purposes of this 


Section C. 1., “Reimbursable Remediation Costs” means the sum of the following:   


 


(1) costs reasonably incurred by Developer, pursuant to the contract 


awarded under Section B.1(d), to comply with the Materials Management Plan, 


remediate the Existing Contamination and obtain Case Closure from the 


Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources on the land area on which the Public 


Improvements will be constructed, to the extent those costs are not covered by the 







 


8 


Brownfield Grant or any other grants that may be awarded for managing materials 


or remediation of the Existing Conditions; and 


 


(2) costs reasonably incurred by Developer to comply with the 


Materials Management Plan, remediate the Existing Contamination and obtain 


Case Closure from the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources on the Phase 


1 Land, to the extent those costs are not covered by the Brownfield Grant or any 


other grants that may be awarded for managing materials or remediation of the 


Existing Conditions. 


 


The City shall be responsible to pay Reimbursable Remediation Costs in accordance with this 


Section C.1.   


 


(c) Request for Payment: As work on the Project and Public Improvements 


progresses, Developer may make requests to the City for payment of Reimbursable Remediation 


Costs not more than once per month.  Developer’s application for reimbursement shall be 


submitted to the City Planning Director.  Developer's application shall include:  (1) a breakdown 


of all contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers performing work for which payment is 


requested, an itemization of the work performed, and copies of all supporting invoices from all 


contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers requesting payment, together with  a 


certification by Developer and Developer's engineer that the requested application is true and 


correct and that the requested payments are being made in accordance with the standards and 


requirements of the construction contract; and (2) valid lien waivers from all contractors, 


subcontractors and material suppliers performing work or providing material for which 


reimbursement is requested.  Within forty-five days after submittal of a complete application to 


the City Planning Director demonstrating entitlement to reimbursement under this Section, and 


subject to approval by the City Planning Director that the payment request is in conformity with 


the provisions of this Agreement, the City shall make its reimbursement payment to the 


contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers for whom payment is requested.   


 


2. Municipal Revenue Obligation for Public Improvement Costs.  Following the 


completion and City acceptance of the Public Improvements, Developer may provide to the City 


a written request for issuance of a Municipal Revenue Obligation in the amount of the actual cost 


of constructing the Public Improvements pursuant to the contract awarded under Section B.1(d) 


of this Agreement.  Developer's application shall include:  (1) a breakdown of all contractors, 


subcontractors and material suppliers who were engaged in constructing the Public 


Improvements,  an itemization of the work performed, and copies of all supporting invoices from 


all contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers who were engaged in constructing the 


Public Improvements, together with  a certification by Developer and Developer's engineer that 


the request for issuance of the Municipal Revenue Obligation is true and correct; and (2) 


documentation demonstrating the interest rate Developer will pay on Developer’s financing of 


the cost of constructing the Public Improvements.     Within forty-five days after submittal of a 


complete written request for issuance of the Municipal Revenue Obligation with the required 


certification and documentation, the City shall issue a Municipal Revenue Obligation to 


Developer, in the principal amount of the actual cost of constructing the Public Improvements so 







 


9 


demonstrated, and in the form attached hereto as Attachment C, under the following terms and 


conditions: 


 


(a) The Municipal Revenue Obligation shall bear interest at the lesser of five  


percent per annum or the rate Developer will pay on Developer’s financing of the cost of 


constructing the Public Improvements.   


 


(b) Any payment on the Municipal Revenue Obligation which is due on any 


Payment Date shall be payable solely from and only to the extent that the City has received as of 


such Payment Date Actual Tax Increment, and such Actual Tax Increment has been appropriated 


by the Common Council to payment of the Municipal Revenue Obligation.   


 


(c) For purposes of the Municipal Revenue Obligation, a “Payment Date” 


shall mean each of the Scheduled Payment Dates set forth on a schedule to be prepared by the 


City and attached to the Municipal Revenue Obligation when issued.  The scheduled payment 


dates shall be prepared such that the payments on the Municipal Revenue Obligation are 


amortized over the remaining number of years that tax increment generated by the District may 


lawfully be allocated to make payments on the Municipal Revenue Obligation.  On each of the 


Payment Dates, the City shall pay to Developer the Actual Tax Increment, up to the Scheduled 


Payment Amount shown on the schedule attached to the Municipal Revenue Obligation, together 


with such additional amounts, if any, deferred from prior years as may be payable on the 


Payment Date as provided under the terms of the Municipal Revenue Obligation, that has been 


appropriated for that purpose by the Common Council in accordance with the requirements for 


revenue obligations.   


 


(d) The City covenants and agrees that Actual Tax Increment held by the City 


as of a given Payment Date shall not be appropriated for any other use, if not appropriated for the 


Municipal Revenue Obligation due as of such Payment Date, until the City has paid the 


Municipal Revenue Obligation payment due on the Payment Date in that year (including the 


Scheduled Payment Amount plus any additional amounts deferred from prior years and payable 


on that Payment Date), or until said Municipal Revenue Obligation has been paid.  The District 


shall not be terminated until the Municipal Revenue Obligation has been paid, or until the 


District must be terminated by law, whichever first occurs.  


 


D. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO AGREEMENT OBLIGATIONS. 


 


All of the following must occur before either party’s obligations under this Agreement 


shall become effective.   


 


1. The City and Developer must approve and execute this Agreement. 


 


2. Developer must acquire fee simple title to the Phase 1 Land in accordance with 


the Purchase Agreement. 


 


3. Developer must deliver to the City the letter of credit required by Section 


B.1.(l)(1) of this Agreement. 







 


10 


 


4. [A Brownfield Grant must be awarded to Developer in an amount not less than 


$______________] 


 


5. The Materials Management Plan and Remedial Action Plans must be approved by 


the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 


 


If the events described in this Section D are not satisfied by July 1, 2021, then this Agreement 


shall be null and void. 


 


E. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. 


 


1. Authorization.  Developer warrants that Developer’s execution, delivery and 


performance of this Agreement have been duly authorized and do not conflict with, result in a 


violation of, or constitute a default under any provision of Developer’s articles of organization or 


membership agreements, or any agreement or other instrument binding upon Developer, or any 


law, governmental regulation, court decree, or order applicable to Developer or to the Property. 


 


F. GENERAL CONDITIONS. 


 


1. No Vested Rights Granted.  Except as provided by law, or as expressly provided 


in this Agreement, no vested rights to develop the Project shall inure to Developer by virtue of 


this Agreement.  Nor does the City warrant that Developer is entitled to any City approvals 


required for development of the Property or construction of the Project as a result of this 


Agreement. 


 


2. Binding Effect / Assignment.  The obligations of Developer and the City under 


this Agreement shall be binding on their respective successors and assigns.  Developer may not 


assign its benefits or obligations under this Agreement without the express prior written approval 


of the City, and any unapproved assignment is void. 


 


3. No Waiver.  No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed or 


constitute a waiver of any other provision, nor shall it be deemed or constitute a continuing 


waiver unless expressly provided for by a written amendment to this Agreement signed by the 


City, the RDA and Developer, nor shall the waiver of any default under this Agreement be 


deemed a waiver of any subsequent default or defaults.  Either party’s failure to exercise any 


right under this Agreement shall not constitute the approval of any wrongful act by the other 


party hereto. 


 


4. Amendment/Modification.  This Agreement may be amended or modified only by 


a written amendment approved and executed by the City, the RDA and Developer. 


 


5. Remedies upon Default.  A default is defined herein as a party’s breach of, or 


failure to comply with, the terms of this Agreement and the failure to cure such breach within 


thirty (30) days after the date of written notice from the non-defaulting party.  The parties reserve 


all remedies at law or in equity necessary to cure any default or remedy any damages or losses 







 


11 


under this Agreement.  Rights and remedies are cumulative, and the exercise of one or more 


rights or remedies shall not preclude the exercise of other rights or remedies.  Remedies include, 


but are not limited to, drawing on the letters of credit, and charging Developer, on all amounts 


due to the City not paid by the due date, interest at the rate of 2 percent over the rate then payable 


by the City under the City Borrowing, from the due date until the date the unpaid amounts are 


paid in full. 


 


6. Entire Agreement/Appendices Incorporated.  This written Agreement and the 


attachments hereto, and the Purchase Agreement, shall constitute the entire Agreement between 


Developer and the City as of the date hereof. 


 


7. Severability.  If any part, term, or provision of this Agreement is held by the 


courts to be illegal or otherwise unenforceable, such illegality or unenforceability shall not affect 


the validity of any other part, term, or provision and the rights of the parties will be construed as 


if the invalid part, term, or provision was never part of the Agreement.  


 


8. Immunity.  Nothing contained in this Agreement constitutes a waiver of the City’s 


sovereign immunity under applicable law. 


 


9. Indemnification.  Developer, and its successors and assigns, shall indemnify, hold 


harmless and defend the City and the RDA and their officers, agents and employees from any 


and all liability suits, actions, claims, demands, losses, costs, damages and expenses or liabilities 


of every kind and description, including attorney costs and fees, for claims of any character 


including liability and expenses in connection with the loss of life, personal injury or damage to 


property, or any of them, brought because of any injuries or damages received or sustained by 


any persons or property on account of or arising out of the construction of the Project or the 


Public Improvements occasioned wholly or in part by any act or omission on Developer's part or 


on the part of its agents, contractors, subcontractors, invitees or employees, at any time occurring 


on, at or in the Property or the Riverfront Site, except as are a result of the gross negligence or 


willful misconduct of any officer, agent or employee of the City or the RDA.  The City and the 


RDA shall be entitled to appear in any proceedings to defend themselves against such claims, 


and all costs, expenses and reasonable attorney fees incurred by the City or the RDA in 


connection with such defense shall be paid by Developer to the City or the RDA, as the case may 


be.  The foregoing indemnity provisions shall survive the cancellation or termination of this 


Agreement as to all matters arising or accruing prior to such cancellation or termination and the 


foregoing indemnity shall survive in the event the City or the RDA elect to exercise any of the 


remedies as provided under this Agreement following default hereunder.  Developer shall 


provide insurance coverage in compliance with the City’s Contract Insurance Requirements 


attached as Attachment D. 


 


10. Notice.  Any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be deemed 


effective given in writing and personally delivered or mailed by U.S. Mail as follows: 


 







 


12 


To Developer:   Curt Vaughn Brink LLC 


    701 E. Washington Ave., Ste. 105 


    Attention:  Curt Brink 


    Telephone:  608.575.4845 


    Email:  curtbrink@hotmail.com 


 


 


   Developer's Attorney Carlson Black O’Callaghan & Battenberg LL 


       222 West Washington Avenue, Suite705 


 Madison, WI 53703 


 Attn:  Daniel A. O’Callaghan 


 Telephone: 608.888.1685 


 Email: dan.ocallaghan@carlsonblack.com 


  


To the City:   Jamin Friedl, Finance Director 


City of Stoughton 


207 S. Forrest Street 


Stoughton, WI  53589 


Telephone:  608.873.6691 


Email: jFriedl@city.stoughton.wi.us  


 


   City Attorney   Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 


       222 W. Washington Avenue, Suite 900 


       P.O. Box 1784 


       Madison, WI 53701-1784 


       Attn:  Matthew P. Dregne 


       Telephone:  608.259-2618 


       Email:  mdregne@staffordlaw.com 


 


11. Recordation.  The City may record a copy of this Agreement, or a memorandum 


thereof, in the office of the Dane County Register of Deeds.  


 


12. Personal Jurisdiction and Venue.  Personal jurisdiction and venue for any civil 


action commenced by either party arising out of this Agreement shall be deemed to be proper 


only if such action is commenced in Circuit Court for Dane County unless it is determined that 


such Court lacks jurisdiction.  Developer hereby consents to personal jurisdiction in Dane 


County.  Developer also expressly waives the right to bring such action in, or to remove such 


action to, any other court whether state or federal, unless it is determined that the Circuit Court 


for Dane County lack jurisdiction. 


 


13. Ratification.  Developer hereby approves and ratifies all actions taken to date by 


the RDA and the City, their officers, employees and agents in connection with the District, and 


in connection with the zoning and other approvals relating to the Phase 1 Property and the 


Project. 


 







 


13 


14. Compliance with Laws.  Developer shall comply with all federal, state and local 


laws with respect to the Phase 1 Property, the Project, and the Public Improvements, including 


but not limited to laws governing building and construction, the environment, nondiscrimination, 


and employment and contracting practices, to the extent they are applicable. 


 


15. No Partnership.  The City and the RDA do not, in any way or for any purpose, 


become a partner, employer, principal, agent or joint venturer of or with Developer. 


 


16. Good Faith.  Both parties to this Agreement shall exercise good faith in 


performing any obligation that party has assumed under the terms of this Agreement including, 


but not limited to, the performance of obligations that require the exercise of discretion and 


judgment. 


 


17. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of the state of 


Wisconsin. 


 


18. No Private Right or Cause of Action.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be inter-


preted or construed to create any private right or any private cause of action by or on behalf of 


any person not a party hereto. 


 


19. Effective Date.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the date and year first 


written above. 


 


20. Term.  Except as provided in Section D, this Agreement shall continue in full 


force and effect until such time as Developer’s obligations under Section B of this Agreement, 


and the City’s obligations under Section C of this Agreement, have been fully satisfied, at which 


point this Agreement shall terminate and be of no further force or effect.  At that time, if this 


Agreement has been recorded the parties shall jointly execute and record a release of the 


Agreement. 


 


21. Construction of Agreement.  Each party participated fully in the drafting of each 


and every part of this Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be construed strictly in favor of or 


against either party.  It shall be construed simply and fairly to each party.  


 


 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the 


year and date first set forth above, and by so signing this Agreement, certify that they have been 


duly authorized by their respective entities to execute this Agreement on their behalf. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







 


14 


 


CITY: 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 


Dane County, Wisconsin 


 


 


By       


Timothy Swadley, Mayor 


 


CITY OF STOUGHTON REDEVELOPMENT 


AUTHORITY 
 


 


By       


Dale Reeves, Chair 


 


 


ATTEST: 


 


 


       


Holly Licht, City Clerk 


 


 







 


15 


 


 


 


DEVELOPER: 


CURT VAUGHN BRINK LLC 


 


 


By       


Curt Brink, Manager 


 


 


Provision has been made to pay the liability that will accrue under this Agreement: 


 


 


Countersigned: 


 


____________________________    ___________________ 


Jamin Friedl, Finance Director     Date 


 


 


 


 


 


Approved as to Form: 


Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 


 


 


__________________________ 


By:  Matthew P. Dregne 


City Attorney 


 


 


Attachments: 


A – Certified Survey Map 


B  Description of Public Improvements 


C  Form of Municipal Revenue Obligation 


D  City Contract Insurance Requirements 


 


 


 
 








16b-3Q87371-Summary of Main Elements (Development Agreement) 4 9  


0409211142  1 


Riverfront Redevelopment     


Agreement to Undertake Development - Phase 1 


Summary of Main Elements 


April 9, 2021 


 


1. Parties. 


 


a. Developer - Curt Vaughn Brink LLC 


b. Redevelopment Authority of City of Stoughton 


c. City of Stoughton  


 


2. Phase 1 land area.  See attached Exhibit A 


 


3. Riverfront Site.  See attached Exhibit B 


 


4. Developer Obligations. 


 


a. Design and construct Public Improvements needed for Phase 1.  Follow 


public bidding laws.  [Need a final list of Phase 1 Public Improvements.  


Expected to include street, sanitary sewer, water, storm sewer, stormwater 


management] 


 


b. Remediate environmental contamination on Phase 1 land and land on which 


Phase 1 public improvements are located.  Apply for WEDC Brownfields 


Grant, and cooperate to pursue other grant opportunities. 


 


c. Perform any pay the cost of any continuing obligations relating to the Phase 


1 land that are imposed in a closure approval letter. 


 


d. Provide a letter of credit (or performance bond?) to secure the completion of 


the Public Improvements.  [Note: surety would not include environmental 


work, because the City is responsible to pay for that work]. 


 


e. Pay impact fees. 


 


f. Construct the Project (multi-family buildings approved in PDD zoning 


process). 


 


5. City Obligations. 


 


a. Pay the cost of environmental remediation work that is not funded by grants.  


Perform and pay the cost of any continuing obligations relating to the Public 


Improvement lands. 







16b-3Q87371-Summary of Main Elements (Development Agreement) 4 9  


0409211142  2 


 


b. Provide a Municipal Revenue Obligation to Developer (“pay-as-you-go TIF 


funding”) in the amount of the cost of the Phase 1 Public Improvements. 


 


6. Contingencies that must be satisfied before Buyer or either Seller is required to 


perform agreement. 


 


a. Both parties must approve and execute Development Agreement. 


b. Developer must acquire Phase 1 land pursuant to the Purchase Agreement. 


c. Developer to deliver the letter of credit (performance bond?). 


d. WEDC must award Brownfields grant in amount not less than 


$___________. 


e. WDNR must approve Materials Management Plan and Remedial Action 


Plans. 


 







16b-3Q87371-Summary of Main Elements (Development Agreement) 4 9  


0409211142  3 


EXHIBIT A 


 


Phase 1 Land Area 


 


 
 







16b-3Q87371-Summary of Main Elements (Development Agreement) 4 9  


0409211142  4 


EXHIBIT B 


 


REDEVELOPMENT LAND AREA 


 


 








-1- 


REAL ESTATE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT 


THIS REAL ESTATE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is 


entered into between Curt Vaughn Brink LLC, a Wisconsin limited liability company (“Buyer”) 


and the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority, a body corporate and politic (the “RDA”) 


and the City of Stoughton, a Wisconsin municipal corporation (the “City”) (the RDA and the 


City, collectively, the “Seller”), dated effective as of the date of the last of the parties’ signatures 


hereto (the “Effective Date”). 


RECITALS: 


A. Seller owns fee simple title to an approximately 10.9-acre tract of real estate 


located in the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, bounded on the west by Fourth Street, on the east by 


Seventh Street, on the north by South Street and on the south by the Yahara River, which Seller 


has marketed for redevelopment (the “Riverfront Site”). 


B. Buyer desires to purchase a portion of the Riverfront Site from Seller and Seller 


desires to sell to Buyer such property in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth 


herein. 


AGREEMENT: 


1. Agreement to Purchase.  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 


Seller shall sell to Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase from Seller that certain portion of the 


Riverfront Site, together with all other rights and interests appurtenant thereto, depicted and 


described as Lot 1 (the “Phase 1 Land”) on the draft certified survey map attached hereto as 


Exhibit A (the “CSM”). 


2. Purchase Price.  The purchase price (the “Purchase Price”) for the Phase 1 Land 


shall be Four Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($400,000.00). The Purchase Price, subject 


to the adjustments and prorations set forth in Section 6 below, shall be paid by Buyer on the 


Closing Date by certified or cashier’s check or federal wire transfer. 


3. Contingencies.   


(a) Approvals.  Each party’s respective obligation to consummate the 


purchase and sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement is contingent upon satisfaction of 


all of the following (collectively, the “Contingencies”) no later than June 1, 2021 (the 


“Contingency Deadline”): 


(i) approval by the City of Stoughton Common Council of a certified 


survey map in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, subject to any modifications 


that may be mutually acceptable to Buyer and Seller; 


(ii) approval by the City of Stoughton Common Council of a Planned 


Development Zoning designation and a General Development Plan (“GDP”) for the Riverfront 


Site, and a Specific Implementation Plan (“SIP”) for the Phase 1 Land, sufficient to allow for 







-2- 


Buyer’s intended development of an approximately 80-unit multifamily building on the Phase 1 


Land, as generally depicted on the attached Exhibit B (the “Phase 1 Development”).  Buyer shall 


prepare the GDP and SIP, in consultation with the RDA and the City.  The City and the RDA 


shall be the applicant for Planned Development Zoning and for approval of a GDP, but no 


Planned Development Zoning Application and no GDP shall be submitted to the City for 


approval unless acceptable to Buyer and Seller.  Buyer shall be the applicant for approval of an 


SIP for the Phase 1 Land.  The City of Stoughton Common Council shall have the right, in its 


sole discretion, to approve or disapprove the GDP and the SIP; 


(iii) approval by the City of Stoughton Common Council and the RDA 


of a development agreement (the “TIF Development Agreement”) attached as Exhibit C, and 


delivery to the City of the surety required by Section B.1(l)(1) of the TIF Development 


Agreement.   


(iv) approval by the City of Stoughton Common Council (and the Joint 


Review Board, where required) of any resolutions, boundary amendments, project plans or other 


items necessary for the TIF Development Agreement to be implemented 


(v) The Wisconsin Economic Development Corporation (“WEDC”) 


must award the Brownfield Grant (defined below) in an amount not less than $______________, 


and the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources must approve the Materials Management 


Plan and the Remedial Action Plans described in the TIF Development Agreement. 


(b) Council Approval Required.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set 


forth herein, the City’s execution of this Agreement shall not be construed as a commitment by 


the City of Stoughton Common Council to approve the CSM, the GDP, the SIP, or the TIF 


Development Agreement (each, a “City Approval”).  The parties to this Agreement acknowledge 


that each City Approval is an independent action that may be taken by the City of Stoughton 


Common Council, in the proper exercise of its governmental authority, and the City’s entry into 


this Agreement in no way obligates or commits the City of Stoughton Common Council to grant 


any City Approval. 


(c) Termination.  If all of the Contingencies are not satisfied by the 


Contingency Deadline, this Agreement shall terminate and neither party shall have any further 


obligation hereunder. 


4. Buyer’s Condition Precedent.  In addition to satisfaction of all of the 


Contingencies set forth in Section 3 above, Buyer’s obligation to consummate the purchase and 


sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement is conditioned upon Buyer’s receipt of a 


commitment from a lender to provide the necessary construction financing for the Phase 1 


Development, acceptable to Buyer in the exercise of Buyer’s sole discretion.  In the event Buyer 


is unable to secure such commitment, Buyer may terminate this Agreement by written notice to 


Seller at any time prior to the Contingency Deadline. 


5. Title Insurance.  Within fifteen (15) days following the Effective Date of this 


Agreement, Seller shall deliver to Buyer a commitment (“Commitment”) prepared by the 







-3- 


Madison, Wisconsin officer of First American Title Insurance Company NCS (the “Title 


Company”) to issue a standard form ALTA owners’ policy of title insurance, including gap 


coverage, for the Phase 1 Land in the amount of the Purchase Price naming Buyer as the 


proposed insured, showing all liens, encumbrances and other matters of record.  The 


Commitment shall be delivered to Buyer together with legible copies of all documents that 


appear as exceptions to title.  Within thirty (30) days of Buyer’s receipt of the Title Commitment, 


Buyer shall notify Seller, in writing (“Buyer’s Title Notice”), of any objections to the Title 


Commitment.  Seller shall use diligent good faith efforts to remove any objections Buyer has 


with respect to the Title Commitment.  If one or more of such objections cannot be removed, 


Seller shall notify Buyer in writing (“Seller’s Notice”), within fifteen (15) days after Seller’s 


receipt of Buyer’s Title Notice, of which objections cannot be removed.  Buyer shall elect, in 


writing within ten (10) days thereafter, either to: (i) terminate and cancel the Agreement, in 


which case all Deposit shall be returned to Buyer and, except as set forth in this Agreement, 


neither party shall have further obligations hereunder; or (ii) waive the title objections and 


proceed to Closing.  If Seller fails to deliver Seller’s Notice within such fifteen- (15) day period, 


Seller shall be deemed to have agreed to cure all of Buyer’s objections.  Notwithstanding 


anything to the contrary contained herein, Seller shall be obligated to remove all monetary 


encumbrances from title at or before Closing.  Exceptions to title approved by Buyer hereunder 


shall be deemed to be “Permitted Exceptions.” 


6. Closing.   


(a) Closing Date.  Following the satisfaction of all Contingencies and any 


other conditions precedent set forth herein, the “Closing” shall occur at the offices of the Title 


Company on a date mutually acceptable to the parties no later than July 1, 2021 (such date, the 


“Closing Date”). 


(b) Closing Documents.  On or prior to the Closing Date, the parties shall 


execute the following documents:  (i) Seller will execute and record the CSM; (ii) Seller will 


execute and deliver to Buyer a general warranty deed (the “Deed”) conveying the Phase 1 Land 


to Buyer subject only to the Permitted Exceptions; (iii) Buyer and Seller will complete a 


Wisconsin Real Estate Transfer Return in the form that is required by state statute in order to 


record the Deed; (iii) Buyer and Seller will execute and deliver a closing statement setting forth 


the Purchase Price and any adjustments thereto as provided for in this Agreement; (iv) Seller will 


execute and deliver to Buyer a Non-Foreign Person Affidavit confirming that Seller is not a 


foreign person subject to certain federal withholding requirements; (v) the City and the Buyer 


will execute the TIF Development Agreement; and (vi) Buyer and Seller will execute and deliver 


any other documents that are necessary to consummate the transaction contemplated by this 


Agreement, including such documents as are necessary to cause title to be conveyed to Buyer in 


the form approved by Buyer pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 


(c) Costs and Expenses.  Seller shall be responsible for paying the Wisconsin 


real estate transfer fee, the cost of providing title insurance to Buyer and any recording fees 


related to satisfying any existing mortgages against the Phase 1 Land.  Buyer will pay any 


recording fees related to recording the Deed and to record any mortgages it grants on the Phase 1 







-4- 


Land.  The parties shall evenly share any cost of the Title Company to act as the closing agent.  


Each party will be solely responsible for paying its respective attorney’s fees. 


(d) Prorations and Adjustments. The following items shall be prorated and 


adjusted between Buyer and Seller as of 12:01 a.m. on the date of Closing as follows: 


(i) All utility charges, including, but not limited to, electricity, gas, 


water, sewer, steam and telephone shall be determined by actual meter readings, if available; 


otherwise they shall be estimated on the basis of the last billing available from the respective 


utilities.  Any utility deposits, standby charges or other prepayments, if assignable, shall be 


assigned to Buyer, who shall reimburse Seller therefor. 


(ii) General real estate taxes levied against the Phase 1 Land.  The 


proration shall be based on the net general real estate taxes for the year of Closing, if known, 


otherwise on the net general real estate taxes for the year prior to Closing. 


(iii) Assessments, either general or special, for improvements 


completed prior to Closing, whether matured or unmatured, shall be paid in full by Seller 


(including all principal and interest).  All other assessments shall be paid by Buyer. 


(iv) As between Seller and Buyer, Seller shall be responsible for all 


operating expenses for the Phase 1 Land allocable to the period prior to the date of Closing, and 


shall pay all such expenses when due; and Buyer shall be responsible for all operating expenses 


for the Project allocable to the period on and after the date of Closing. 


(v) Such other items as are required to be prorated pursuant to the 


terms hereof, or as are customarily prorated upon the transfer of ownership and possession of 


commercial rental real estate in Dane County. 


The parties agree to make such post-closing adjustments and readjustments as may be 


required due to errors and omissions in the closing adjustments.  If information is not available or 


if the parties agree that it is impracticable to make a particular adjustment on the date of Closing, 


that adjustment shall be made as soon as practicable after such information is available. 


7. Environmental Remediation.  


(a) Buyer and Seller acknowledge that, as of the Effective Date of this 


Agreement, various environmental contaminants exist on the Riverfront Site, including, without 


limitation, the contaminants described in the open DNR files identified as BRRTS number 02-


13-583169, 02-13-554724, and 02-13-585835; closed DNR files identified as BRRTS number 


02-13-579312, 02-13-258425; and general property DNR file identified as BRRTS number 07-


13-563581 (the “Existing Contamination”). 


(b) Promptly following the Effective Date of this Agreement, Buyer shall 


prepare and submit an application to WEDC’s Brownfields Grant Program seeking a grant 


(“Brownfield Grant”) to address some of the costs that will be incurred in remediating the 


Existing Contamination on the Phase I Land.  Buyer and Seller shall cooperate with one another 







-5- 


in pursuing the Brownfield Grant application and in seeking out and maximizing any other 


potential grant opportunities to address the Existing Contamination on the Phase I Land. 


(c) If Buyer proceeds with the transaction contemplated by this Agreement, 


Buyer shall be responsible for the remediation of the Existing Contamination on the Phase I Land 


through case closure with the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (“DNR”), subject to 


determinations from the DNR and any other applicable federal or state regulatory agency or 


authority pursuant to applicable requirements, including, but not limited to, Chapter NR 700, et 


seq., Wisconsin Administrative Code (“Case Closure”).  Buyer’s obligations with respect to 


pursuit of Case Closure shall be more fully set forth in the TIF Development Agreement to be 


negotiated by the parties prior to the Contingency Deadline. 


(d) To the extent not covered by the Brownfield Grant or any other grants that 


may be awarded for remediation of the Existing Contamination, Seller shall be responsible for all 


costs reasonably incurred by Buyer in the pursuit of Case Closure.  Seller shall promptly 


reimburse Buyer for any such costs within thirty (30) days of presentation of a reimbursement 


request from Buyer, together with reasonable supporting documentation. 


8. Development of Future Phases.   


(a) Buyer’s Right of First Opportunity.  Buyer was selected by Seller to 


pursue the acquisition and redevelopment of the Riverfront Site following a public evaluation 


process.  Buyer’s proposal (which is to be reflected in the GDP, subject to Common Council 


approval), involves a phased approach to development, beginning with the Phase 1 Land.  To 


allow the possibility for the overall redevelopment plan envisioned in Buyer’s initial submission 


to Seller to be realized, Seller hereby grants Buyer a right of first opportunity to acquire and 


develop the future phases of the Riverfront Site, according to the procedures set forth in this 


Section 7 (the “Right of First Opportunity”). 


(b) Term.  The Right of First Opportunity shall be in effect for a period of five 


(5) years following the Closing of Buyer’s acquisition of the Phase 1 Land (the “Term”), unless 


sooner terminated according to the procedures set forth herein. 


(c) Purchase Price.  During the Term, the purchase price to be paid by Buyer 


for each future phase of the Riverfront Site shall be an amount equal to Five Thousand and 


no/100 Dollars ($5,000) multiplied by the total number of dwelling units proposed to be 


developed by Buyer in each such phase of development. 


(d) Exclusivity.  Throughout the Term, provided Buyer is not in default of any 


of Buyer’s obligations under the TIF Development Agreement for the Phase 1 Land, Seller will 


not enter into any other agreements concerning the development of the Riverfront Site without 


first complying with the provisions set forth in this Section 7. 


(e) Buyer’s Right to Submit Proposals to Seller.  At any time during the Term, 


Buyer may initiate negotiations with Seller for development of future phases of the Riverfront 


Site upon written notice to Seller.  If, within six (6) months following Buyer’s notice to Seller, 







-6- 


such negotiations do not lead to a mutually acceptable and legally binding agreement between 


Buyer and Seller for the next phase of development, the Right of First Opportunity shall 


terminate and be of no further force or effect. 


(f) Seller’s Right to Solicit Proposals from Buyer.  At any time during the 


Term, after an occupancy permit has been issued for any building within the Phase 1 Land, Seller 


may initiate negotiations with Buyer for development of future phases of the Riverfront Site upon 


written notice to Seller.  If, within eight (8) months following Seller’s notice to Buyer, such 


negotiations do not lead to a mutually acceptable and legally binding agreement between Buyer 


and Seller for the next phase of development, the Right of First Opportunity shall terminate and 


be of no further force or effect. 


(g) Termination for Cause.  If Buyer is in default of any material obligation 


under the TIF Development Agreement for the Phase 1 Land beyond applicable notice and cure 


periods, Seller may terminate the Right of First Opportunity upon written notice to Buyer. 


(h) Survival.  The terms of this Section 7 shall survive the Closing of Buyer’s 


acquisition of the Phase 1 Land. 


9. Seller’s Representations and Warranties.  In order to induce Buyer to enter into 


this Agreement, Seller hereby makes the following representations and warranties to Buyer, each 


of which shall be deemed to be independently material and relied upon by Buyer, regardless of 


any investigation made by, or information known to, Buyer, and upon which Buyer has relied and 


without which Buyer would not have submitted this Agreement.  Seller covenants and agrees that 


each of the representations are true and correct on the date hereof and, as a condition precedent to 


Buyer’s obligation to close, Seller shall affirm that each of these representations continue to be 


true and correct on the date of Closing, and that such representations and warranties shall survive 


Closing: 


(a) Authority.  The sale of the Phase 1 Land pursuant to this Agreement is not 


in violation of any provision of any agreement to which Seller is bound. Seller has complete 


power and authority to enter into and perform the transaction contemplated by this Agreement 


according to its terms, and the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation 


thereof have been duly authorized by all required action.   


(b) Litigation, Court Orders.  There are no legal actions, condemnation 


proceedings, suits or other legal administrative proceedings, pending, or to the knowledge of 


Seller, threatened, against the Phase 1 Land, and there are no governmental agency or court 


orders requiring repairs, alterations or corrections of any existing conditions on the Phase 1 Land. 


10. Seller’s Covenants.   


(a) Access.  Following the Effective Date and up to and including the date of 


Closing, Seller shall grant Buyer access to the Phase 1 Land at reasonable times and upon 


reasonable notice for the purpose of making such investigations, studies, assessments and the like 


that Buyer deems necessary or desirable, consistent with good commercial practice. 







-7- 


(b) Continued Operation.  Following the Effective Date and up to and 


including the date of Closing, Seller shall maintain the Phase 1 Land in good condition and 


repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted and shall continue to operate the Phase 1 Land in its 


ordinary and normal course of business. 


11. Buyer’s Representations and Warranties.  Buyer covenants and agrees that the 


Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in current status under 


the laws of the State of Wisconsin.  The purchase of the Phase 1 Land pursuant to this Agreement 


is not in violation of any provision of Buyer’s articles of organization, operating agreement or 


any other agreement to which Buyer is bound.  Buyer has complete power and authority to enter 


into and perform the transaction contemplated by this Agreement according to its terms, and the 


execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation thereof have been duly 


authorized by all required company action.  The person (or those persons) signing below on 


behalf of Buyer personally warrant that they have the authority to act as Buyer’s agent or agents 


in the sale, transfer and conveyance of the Phase 1 Land from Seller. 


12. Notices.  All notices or directions desired or required to be given under this 


Agreement shall be in writing and personally delivered, sent by commercial overnight courier or 


delivered via email, directed as follows: 


If to Buyer:  Curt Vaughn Brink LLC 


701 E. Washington Ave., Ste. 105 


Attention:  Curt Brink 


Telephone: 608.575.4845 


Email: curtbrink@hotmail.com 


 


with a copy to: Carlson Black O’Callaghan & Battenberg LLP 


222 W. Washington Ave. Ste. 705 


Madison, WI  53703 


Attn: Daniel A. O’Callaghan 


Telephone:  608.888.1685 


Email:  dan.ocallaghan@carlsonblack.com 


 


If to Seller:  City of Stoughton 


207 S. Forrest St. 


Stoughton, WI 53589  


Attn: Finance Director 


Telephone: 608.873.6677 


Email: jfreidl@city.stoughton.wi.us 


 


and:   City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority 


207 S. Forrest St. 


Stoughton, WI 53589  


Attn: Executive Director 


Telephone: 608.873.6677 


Email: jfreidl@city.stoughton.wi.us 







-8- 


 


with a copy to: Stafford Rosenbaum LLP 


222 West Washington Avenue, Suite 900 


Madison, Wisconsin 53701-1784 


Attn: Matthew P. Dregne 


Telephone: 608.259.2618 


Email: MDregne@staffordlaw.com 


 


Notices personally delivered shall be deemed received when given.  Notices sent by email 


shall be deemed received when given, if prior to 5 PM, recipient’s local time, on a business day, 


otherwise on the next occurring business day.  Notices or demands sent by commercial overnight 


courier shall be deemed received on the next business day following deposit. 


13. Brokers.  Buyer and Seller represent and warrant that neither Buyer nor Seller 


have retained the services of any real estate broker or agent in connection with the purchase and 


sale under this Agreement and each agrees to indemnify and hold the other harmless from and 


against any and all liability or damages, including costs and attorney’s fees, resulting from any 


claim brought by any other real estate broker or agent for any real estate commission or finder’s 


fee due, or alleged to be due, as the result of the actions of such person. 


14. Adequacy of Consideration.  Buyer and Seller acknowledge that Buyer will 


expend material sums of money in reliance on Seller’s obligations under this Agreement, in 


connection with negotiating and executing this Agreement, conducting the due diligence 


activities contemplated by this Agreement and preparing for Closing, and that Buyer would not 


have executed the Agreement without the availability of the contingencies for due diligence 


activities described herein.  Buyer and Seller, therefore agree that adequate consideration exists 


to support each of the party’s obligations under this Agreement, and Seller and Buyer each waive 


any and all rights to challenge the enforceability of this Agreement on the basis that any of the 


conditions or contingencies set forth herein are at Seller’s or Buyer’s sole discretion or that any 


of the agreements contained herein are illusory. 


15. Miscellaneous.   


(a) Dates and Deadlines.  Unless otherwise specifically provided herein, in 


the computation of any period of time which shall be required or permitted hereunder or under 


any law for any notice or other communication or for the performance of any term, condition, 


covenant or obligation, the day from which such period runs shall be excluded and the last day of 


such period shall be included unless it is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, in which case the 


period shall be deemed to run until the end of the next day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or 


legal holiday. 


(b) Assignment.  Buyer may assign its rights and obligation under this 


Agreement at any time to an entity that is related to, and/or controlled by, Buyer.  This 


Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their permitted 


successors and assigns. 







-9- 


(c) Modifications.  This Agreement may only be modified in writing signed by 


both Seller and Buyer. 


(d) Further Assurances.  The parties each agree to do, execute, acknowledge 


and deliver all such further acts, instruments and assurances and to take all such further action 


before or after the Closing as shall be necessary or desirable to fully carry out the terms of this 


Agreement and to fully consummate the transaction contemplated hereby. 


(e) Captions.  The captions at the beginning of the several paragraphs and 


subparagraphs, respectively, are for convenience in locating the context only, and are not part of 


the text. 


(f) Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with 


the laws of the State of Wisconsin without giving effect to principles of conflicts of law thereof. 


(g) Severability.  In the event any term or provision of this Agreement shall be 


held illegal, invalid or unenforceable, or inoperative as a matter of law, the remaining terms and 


provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby but each such term and provision shall 


be valid and shall remain in full force and effect. 


(h) Attorney’s Fees.  If either party commences an action to enforce the terms 


of, or to resolve a dispute concerning, this Agreement, the substantially prevailing party in any 


such action shall be entitled to recover from the substantially non-prevailing party all costs and 


expenses incurred in connection with such action, including, but not limited to, reasonable 


attorney’s fees and court costs. 


(i) Counterparts; Facsimile.  This Agreement may be executed in any number 


of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all such counterparts together 


shall constitute one original instrument.  Signatures transmitted by facsimile or PDF by email 


shall be deemed to be original signatures for all purposes. 


[Signature page follows.] 







-10- 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective 


Date. 


BUYER: 


CURT VAUGHN BRINK LLP 


 


 


By:       Date:       


      Curt Brink, Manager 


 


 


 


SELLER: 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 


 


 


By:       Date:       


      Mayor Timothy Swadley 


 


 


CITY OF STOUGHTON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 


 


 


By:       Date:       


      Dale Reeves, Chair 


 


 


ATTEST: 


 


       


Holly Licht, City Clerk 


 


 


 


Approved as to form: 


STAFFORD ROSENBAUM LLP 


 


 


       


By:  Mathew Dregne, City Attorney 


 


 


 







 


EXHIBIT A 


DRAFT CSM 


[attached] 


 


 


EXHIBIT B 


PHASE 1 CONCEPT PLANS 


[attached] 








16d-3Q89690-Summary of Main Elements (Purchase Agreement) 4 9  


0409211143  1 


Riverfront Redevelopment     


Phase 1 Purchase Agreement 


Summary of Main Elements 


April 9, 2021 


 


1. Parties. 


 


a. Buyer:  Curt Vaughn Brink LLC 


b. Seller:  Redevelopment Authority of City of Stoughton 


c. Seller:  City of Stoughton  


 


2. Phase 1 land area.  See attached Exhibit A 


 


3. Redevelopment land area.  See attached Exhibit B 


 


4. Purchase price.   $400,000  


 


5. Contingencies that must be satisfied before Buyer or either Seller is required to 


close. 


 


a. CSM.  Approval by the City of a Certified Survey Map (“CSM”) creating the 


Phase 1 land area as a single lot that may be conveyed to Buyer.  Buyer shall 


be responsible to prepare the CSM, in consultation with the City and the 


RDA.  The City and RDA, as owners, shall be the applicants for approval of 


the CSM.   


 


b. Zoning.  Approval of Planned Development Zoning and a General 


Development Plan (“GDP”) for the Redevelopment Land Area, and a 


Specific Implementation Plan (“SIP”) for the Phase 1 land area.   


 


i. Buyer shall be responsible to prepare the GDP and SIP, in 


consultation with the City and the RDA.  The City and the RDA, as 


owners, will be the applicants for approval of the GDP.  Buyer shall 


be the applicant for approval of the SIP.   


 


ii. The City and RDA shall have the right, in their sole discretion, to 


decide whether the proposed GDP and is acceptable before the GDP 


is submitted for approval.   


 


iii. The City Common Council shall have the right, in its sole discretion, 


to approve or disapprove the GDP and the SIP. 


 


 







16d-3Q89690-Summary of Main Elements (Purchase Agreement) 4 9  


0409211143  2 


 


c. Development Agreement.  Approval of a TIF Development Agreement in the 


form provided with this summary. 


  


d. TIF Amendments.  Approval of any TIF Amendments needed for the 


project.Demonstrate financial ability to perform.  [None known to be needed 


at present] 


 


e. Developer Contingency.  Developer to obtain financing commitment on 


terms acceptable to Buyer. 


 


f. WEDC Grant.  To be awarded in an amount not less than $____________. 


 


g. DNR Approvals.  DNR to approve Materials Management Plan and 


Remediatial Action Plans. 


 


6. Closing deadline:  If the above contingencies are not satisfied and this closing is not 


completed by July 1, 2021, or such later date as the parties may mutually agree, the 


purchase agreement will terminate.  


 


7. Right of First Opportunity.  So long as Developer is not in default of any of 


Developer’s obligations under the Purchase Agreement and/or the Development 


Agreement, Developer shall have a right of first opportunity to negotiate with the 


City and RDA for additional agreements to develop the Redevelopment Land Area.  


Negotiation windows of 6 to 8 months may be triggered by notice by one party to 


another.  The City may not trigger the start of a negotiation period until occupancy 


permits have been issued for the buildings in Phase 1. 







16d-3Q89690-Summary of Main Elements (Purchase Agreement) 4 9  


0409211143  3 


EXHIBIT A 


 


Phase 1 Land Area 


 


 
 







16d-3Q89690-Summary of Main Elements (Purchase Agreement) 4 9  


0409211143  4 


EXHIBIT B 


 


REDEVELOPMENT LAND AREA 


 


 








Meeting of: MEETING OF COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 


STOUGHTON 


Date//Time: Tuesday, April 13, 2021 @ 7:00 p.m. The GoToMeeting line will be open at 


6:50 p.m. so everyone can get connected. No business will be conducted until 


7:00 p.m. 


Location: The meeting of the Common Council will be conducted virtually due to 


COVID-19. You can join the meeting from your computer tablet or smartphone: 


https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/928515573 . You can also dial in using 


your phone: +1 (571) 317-3116. Access Code: 928-515-573.    


The meeting can also be livestreamed on https://wsto.tv/live and 


Spectrum Channel 981. 


 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Ozzie Doom, Ben Heili, 


Regina Hirsch, Fred Hundt, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki, Tom Majewski, Lisa 


Reeves, and Brett Schumacher, Joyce Tikalsky 


ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF MEMBERS NEEDED FOR A QUORUM 


(EIGHT). The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to attend 


the meeting, please notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone (608)873-6677 or via email 


hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us  
 


CALL TO ORDER 
 


1. Roll Call:  


 


2. Minutes and Reports: 


Utilities (2/15/21); Finance (3/9/21); Landmarks (3/11/21); Public Safety (3/31/21)  


 


3. Public Comment Period: 


 If you would like to speak during public comment period, please fill out the form and 


submit it by 6:30 p.m. on April 13, 2021. http://speak.cityofstoughton.com.  
 


4. Communications and Presentations  
 Proclamation in Recognition of Petra Horst’s Service on the Library Board 
 Proclamation in Recognition of Sandra Black’s Service on the Library Board 
 Business Person of the Year Proclamation—Jimmy Brooks, Primal Fitness  
 Friend of Youth Proclamation—Brittney Rusch  
 Friend of Youth Proclamation—Mia Cabibo Croyle  
 Volunteer of the Year Proclamation—Meals on Wheels Volunteers 
 Volunteer of the Year Proclamation---Mia Cabibo Croyle   
 Riverfront Development Environmental Presentation by True North Consultants  


 


 


5. Consent Agenda 


 


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA 
Notice is hereby given that Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, will hold a 


regular or special meeting as indicated on the date and at the time and location given below. 


  


 



https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/928515573

tel:+15713173116,,928515573

https://wsto.tv/live

mailto:hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/





A. March 23, 2021 Council Minutes 


B. Stoughton Utilities February Payments Due List Report; Stoughton Utilities December 


Financial Summary; Stoughton Utilities January Financial Summary, Stoughton Utilities 


January Statistical Report  


 


OLD BUSINESS 


 


6. O-9-2021- Amending Chapter 78, Zoning Code as follows:  Amend Section 78-611, Repeal and 


Remove Table 78-611 and Repeal and Recreate Appendix B of the Stoughton Municipal Code 


          SECOND READING 
 


NEW BUSINESS 


 


7. R-39-2021-  Preliminary Resolution Declaring Intent to Exercise Special Assessment Powers for 


2021 Street and Sidewalk Projects (Finance recommended approval 4-1 on March 23, 2021)  


 


8. R-40-2021- Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) write off the 2019 Delinquent 


Personal Property tax bills that have proven to be uncollectable for a total amount of $253.51. 


(Finance recommended approval 5-0 on March 23, 2021)  


 


9. R-41-2021- Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve a Special Event License 


to the Stoughton Chamber of Commerce for Syttende Mai 2021 (Public Safety recommended 


approval 5-0 on March 31, 2021)  


 


10. R-42-2021-  Approving a Pilot Program to allow for designation of certain parking stalls in 


the downtown area as being reserved for Curbside Pickup (Public Safety recommended 


approval 5-0 on March 31, 2021)  


 


11. O-10-2021- Amending Sections 14-31(3)b.2, 3, and 4 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code 


Relating to Liquor Licensing Requirements (Public Safety recommended approval 5-0 on March 31, 


2021)          FIRST READING 


 


12. O-11-2021- Amending Section 14-42(c) and Creation of Section 14-46, Relating to Liquor 


Licensing Requirements (Public Safety recommended approval 5-0 on March 31, 2021)   


          FIRST READING 


 


13. R- 43-2021- Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to appoint Jennifer Wentela 


as the agent for Kwik Trip Inc., d/b/a Kwik Trip #738, located at 1231 E. Main St.  


 


14. R-44-2021- Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve a temporary 


premises description amendment for Mershonian Cidery, LLC d/b/a Mershon’s Cider located 


at 124 W Main St., for the duration of the declared state of emergency 


 


15. R-45-2021- Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to approve a temporary 


premises description amendment for Brown Wood, LLC  d/b/a Roxy’s Restobar located at 


208 W Main St., for the duration of the declared state of emergency 


 







16. Discussion only item: Purchase Agreement and Development Agreement among the City of 


Stoughton Redevelopment Authority (RDA), the City of Stoughton and Curt Vaughn Brink, 


LLC for the Riverfront Redevelopment—Phase 1***The Common Council may convene in 


closed session per State Statute 19.85(1)(e) for the purposes of deliberating or negotiating 


the purchase of public properties, the investing of public funds, or conducting other specified 


public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons deem a closed session 


necessary. The Common Council may reconvene in an open session to discuss and take 


action on the subject matter discussed in the closed session*** 


 


 


ADJOURNMENT 


Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 


aids and services. For information or to request such assistance, please call the City Hall at (608) 873-6677.By: 


Mayor Tim Swadley, Council President Regina Hirsch 








FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES  


March 9, 2020 @ 5:30 p.m.  


GoToMeeting 


 


Present: 


Schumacher, Jenson, Reeves, Doom and Mayor Swadley 


Also Present: 


Finance Director Friedl, Clerk Licht, Planning Director Scheel, Attorney Dregne, Utilities Director Weiss, 


Alder Hundt and RDA Chair Dale Reeves 


Call to Order: 


Schumacher called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.  


Approval of the February 23, 2021 Finance Committee Minutes 


Motion by Reeves, second by Doom to approve. Motion carried 5-0. 


Resolution approving additional work with True North Consultants for services related to 


environmental consulting for City & Redevelopment Authority (RDA) lands on Fourth Street and E. 


South St. 


Motion by Reeves, second by Jenson to recommend that council approve a Resolution approving 


additional work with True North Consultants for services related to environmental consulting for City & 


Redevelopment Authority (RDA) lands on Fourth Street and E. South St . Motion carried 5-0.  


Resolution to eliminate $70,000 from the City’s Assigned Fund Balance previously established for 


liability insurances losses 


Motion by Jenson, second by Reeves to recommend that council approve a Resolution to eliminate 


$70,000 from the City’s Assigned Fund Balance previously established for liability insurances losses. 


Motion carried 5-0. 


Resolution to forgive the amounts advanced to the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority from 


the City of Stoughton totaling $66,574 


Motion by Doom, second by Jenson to recommend that council approve  Resolution to forgive the 


amounts advanced to the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority from the City of Stoughton 


totaling $66,574. Motion carried 5-0. 


*** Summary of main elements of the proposed land purchase and sale agreement between the City 


of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority and Curt Brink *** 


Motion by Reeves, second by Jenson to go into closed session at 5:57 p.m. per State Statute 19.85(1)(e) 


for the purposes of deliberating or negotiating the purchase of public properties, the investing of public 


funds, or conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons deem 


a closed session necessary. The Finance Committee may reconvene in an open session to discuss and 


take action on the subject matter discussed in the closed session Motion carried 5-0 on roll call vote.  


Motion by Jenson, second by Reeves to go back into open session at 6:41 p.m. Motion carried 5-0. 







Discussion and possible action regarding the City collaborating with MadREP, Madison Development 


Corporation and regional Counties and Municipalities to participate in funding through the US EDA to 


establish a Revolving Loan Fund 


Representatives from MadREP presented the revolving loan fund options. No decision was made by the 


committee. This item will be back before the committee on March 23rd.  


Discussion and possible action regarding the timeline and process related to the creation of TIF No. 


9 and the HWY 51 West project 


The committee took no action on this item. It will be back before the committee on March 23rd.  


 


Adjournment: 


Motion by Jenson, second by Reeves to adjourn at 6:59 p.m. Motion carried 5-0. 


 


Respectfully Submitted,  


Holly Licht, City Clerk  


 


 


 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\04-13-2021\Minutes\Landmarks Minutes 3-11-21.docx 


Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


Thursday March 11, 2021 – 6:30 pm 


Virtual 
 


Members Present:  Todd Hubing; Greg Pigarelli, Secretary; Jean Ligocki and Alan Hedstrom, 


Vice-Chair; Peggy Veregin, Chair and Kristi Panthofer 


Staff:  Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator 


Absent: Kimberly Cook 


Guests: None 


Press: None 


 
1. Call to order.  Veregin called the meeting to order at 6:32 pm. 


 


2. Consider approval of the Landmarks Commission meeting minutes of February 11, 2021.   


Motion by Hedstrom to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Hubing.   
 
Veregin stated Kathleen Kelly’s last name ends with a y.  Stacey will correct. 
 
 Motion carried 5 - 0. 
 


3. Local Downtown District. 


Veregin is putting together a list of potential consultants and creating a request for proposals 


(RFP).  The RFP will then be sent to Stacey to send to the potential consultants via email. 


 


Panthofer arrived at 6:40 pm 


 


4. Depot Hill Historic District. 


Veregin stated she gave a presentation last night which is the first step in the process to 


potentially approve the district.  The next step is to send a packet of information to all property 


owners of the district to explain the benefits of being part of a National Registered District.  


Owners will have the ability to protest creation of the district by sending a sheet back in to the 


State Historical Society.  Owners will have 30 days to respond.  The State Historical Society will 


send information to all owner and give them another 45 days to protest the forming of the district.  


After that, if less than a majority of property owners protest the district is approved. 


 


5. Discuss creating a new Landmarks Commission website. 


Stacey sent the Commissioners several options of Wisconsin communities that have Landmark 


Commission websites. 


 


The one website most favored was the City of Oshkosh.  The Redevelopment Authority website 


was also mentioned as being pretty good. 


 


The Commission discussed the likes and dislikes of the Oshkosh site and other websites 


including what would be good for the Stoughton site. 


 


Most Commission members would like the content from the current site to be on the new site.  


Stacey will check with Derek Westby regarding copying content including pictures and for 


direction going forward. 







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


3/11/21 


Page 2 of 2 


 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2021 PACKETS\04-13-2021\Minutes\Landmarks Minutes 3-11-21.docx  


6. Historic Preservation Awards. 
Veregin provided a letter for all award recipients to Stacey who mailed them out.  Veregin plans 


to mail the 3 recipients a framed award and will be checking on a potential virtual presentation 


at an upcoming Common Council meeting.   


 


7. CLG grant. 


Veregin stated the Commission was awarded a $17,000 grant and at this point we are waiting 


for contract documents from the grant administrator.  Those documents will need to be review 


then approved by the City Finance Committee and Common Council, signed and sent back.  


 


Veregin is working on an RFP for the project and stated the grant can include City 


administrative costs. 


 


8. Mini-Grants 2020 and 2021. 
Stacey sent out the 2021 mini-grant letters and applications to all Local Landmark owners and 


noted one application has been returned already. 


 


Veregin plans to provide a letter for 101 S. Fifth Street who received a 2020 mini-grant but has 


not been heard from since.  The recipient can also request an extension. 


 


9. Commission Reports/Calendar.   
No discussion. 


 


10. Future agenda items.   
Nothing discussed. 


 


11. Adjournment. Motion by Pigarelli to adjourn at 7:16 pm, 2nd by Hedstrom.  Motion carried  


6 – 0. 


 


 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
Michael P. Stacey 







PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE MINUTES 


February 24, 2021 @ 6:00 p.m.  


GoToMeeting 


Present: 


Jenson, Ligocki, Tikalsky and Doom  


Absent and Excused: 


Mayor Swadley 


Also Present: 


Clerk Licht, Chief Leck and Callie LaPoint  


Call to Order: 


Jenson called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.   


Communications: 


None 


Approval of the January 27, 2021 Public Safety Committee 


Motion by Doom, second by Tikalsky to approve the minutes. Motion carried 4-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding a Special Event License application from the 


Stoughton Chamber of Commerce for Syttende Mai 2021 


Callie LaPoint highlighted some changes due to COVID. The Sunday parade would be a drive-


thru parade at Mandt Park. The races will still be on schedule for the Saturday. Food carts 


would be pre-order option and curbside pickup.  The committee took no action on this item. It 


will be back before the committee at its March meeting.  


Liquor License Revocation Follow-Up 


Chief Leck stated that he is working with the City Attorney to see if the Police Department still 


has the right to go in and inspect following a revocation.  


Discussion regarding a resolution opposing SB 22, known as the Cocktails-to-Go bill and SB 56 


which effectively preempts local Click & Collect Ordinances  


Chief Leck stated that this would be a temporary measure that probably wouldn’t go away after 


COVID and that it would take away local control. Motion by Tikalsky, second by Doom to 


recommend that council approve the resolution with the addition of the following language 


“we encourage residents and business owners to contact their state representatives.” Motion 


carried 4-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding a Curbside Pick Up Plan for the City of Stoughton  


Tikalsky gave an update and will have a final version ready for the next meeting.  







Future agenda Items: 


Liquor License ordinance changes, Syttende Mai, Pedlet 


Adjournment: 


Motion by Tikalsky, second by Doom to adjourn at 7:00 p.m. Motion carried 4-0. 


Respectfully Submitted,  


Holly Licht, City Clerk  





		01-March 9, 2021 Finance Minutes

		02-Landmarks Minutes 3-11-21

		03-Public Safety Minutes 2-24-21






 
 


 
Whereas, Stoughton is a community known for the dedication and commitment of 


its citizens; and 


Whereas, over the years our community has benefitted from countless volunteers 


and extraordinary business owners providing time, energy, and helping hands; and 


Whereas, library volunteers in our community are an integral part of the daily operation of 


our library; and 


Whereas, the support to the Director and staff is vital to the efficient operation of the 


library and programs; and 


Whereas, the efficiency of the qualified and dedicated volunteers who staff the library board is 


materially influenced by the people's attitude and understanding the importance of the work they 


perform; and 


Whereas, Stoughton has been the beneficiary of the many years dedicated by the 


volunteers of the Library Board projects; and  


Whereas, volunteerism proves to be a full circle, as those who receive are grateful, 


those who volunteer are humble, and those in our community are thankful; and 


Whereas, Petra Horst reflects the power that volunteers have to inspire by example—


volunteers both encourage those they help and motivate others to serve; now, 


 


Therefore, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, proclaim  


 


Petra Horst 


 


Served Stoughton’s Volunteer Library Board, in recognition for 9 years of                                             


work in the community. 


 


“Appreciation for work well done” 


 


Thank you for all that you do. 


 


In testimony whereof, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, hereunto set 


my hand and caused the great seal of the City of Stoughton to be affixed this twelfth 


day of April in the year two thousand and nineteen. 


 


 


Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton 


 
 








 
 


 
Whereas, Stoughton is a community known for the dedication and commitment of its 


citizens; and 


Whereas, over the years our community has benefitted from countless volunteers and 


extraordinary business owners providing time, energy, and helping hands; and 


Whereas, library volunteers in our community are an integral part of the daily operation of our 


library; and 


Whereas, the support to the Director and staff is vital to the efficient operation of the 


library and programs; and 


Whereas, the efficiency of the qualified and dedicated volunteers who staff the library board is 


materially influenced by the people's attitude and understanding the importance of the work they 


perform; and 


Whereas, Stoughton has been the beneficiary of the many years dedicated by the 


volunteers of the Library Board projects; and  


Whereas, volunteerism proves to be a full circle, as those who receive are grateful, those 


who volunteer are humble, and those in our community are thankful; and 


Whereas, Sandra Black reflects the power that volunteers have to inspire by example—


volunteers both encourage those they help and motivate others to serve; now, 


 


Therefore, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, proclaim  


 


Sandra Black 


 


Served Stoughton’s Volunteer Library Board, in recognition for 9 years of                                             


work in the community. 


 


“Appreciation for work well done” 


 


Thank you for all that you do. 


 


In testimony whereof, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, hereunto set my 


hand and caused the great seal of the City of Stoughton to be affixed this twelfth day of 


April in the year two thousand and nineteen. 


 


 


Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton 


 
 








 
 


 
Whereas, Stoughton is a community known for the dedication and commitment of its 


citizens; and 


Whereas, over the years our community has benefitted from countless volunteers and 


extraordinary business owners providing time, energy, and helping hands; and 


Whereas, volunteer efforts have kept our food pantry stocked, delivered meals to our 


homebound, and fund-raised monies to provide assistance when needed; and, 


Whereas, Stoughton has been the beneficiary of many volunteer projects such as the 


Opera House renovation, Youth Center projects, hospital expansion, and numerous park 
projects, to name only a few; and  


Whereas, volunteerism proves to be a full circle, as those who receive are grateful, 


those who volunteer are humble, and those in our community are thankful; and 


Whereas, National Volunteer Week reflects the power that volunteers and 


extraordinary business owners have to inspire by example—volunteers both encourage 
those they help and motivate others to serve; now, 
 


Therefore, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, proclaim  
 


Jimmy Brooks, Primal Fitness 
 


Stoughton’s Business Person of the Year of 2021, in recognition for                                            
work in the community.  


Thank you for all that you do. 
 


In testimony whereof, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, hereunto set my hand and caused 
the great seal of the City of Stoughton to be affixed this thirteenth day of April in the year two thousand 
and twenty one. 


 


 
Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton 
 


 








 
 


 
Whereas, Stoughton is a community known for the dedication and commitment of 


its citizens; and 


Whereas, over the years our community has benefitted from countless volunteers 


and extraordinary business owners providing time, energy, and helping hands; and 


Whereas, volunteer efforts have kept our food pantry stocked, delivered meals to 


our homebound, and fund-raised monies to provide assistance when needed; and, 


Whereas, Stoughton has been the beneficiary of many volunteer projects such as 


the Opera House renovation, Youth Center projects, hospital expansion, and 
numerous park projects, to name only a few; and  


Whereas, volunteerism proves to be a full circle, as those who receive are grateful, 


those who volunteer are humble, and those in our community are thankful; and 


Whereas, National Volunteer Week reflects the power that volunteers and 


extraordinary business owners have to inspire by example—volunteers both 
encourage those they help and motivate others to serve; now, 
 


Therefore, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, proclaim  
 


Brittney Rusch 
 


Stoughton’s Friend of Youth Year of 2021, in recognition for                                            
work in the community.  


Thank you for all that you do. 
 


In testimony whereof, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, hereunto set my hand and 
caused the great seal of the City of Stoughton to be affixed this thirteenth day of April in the year two 
thousand and twenty one. 


 


 
Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton 
 








 
 


 
Whereas, Stoughton is a community known for the dedication and commitment of 


its citizens; and 


Whereas, over the years our community has benefitted from countless volunteers 


and extraordinary business owners providing time, energy, and helping hands; and 


Whereas, volunteer efforts have kept our food pantry stocked, delivered meals to 


our homebound, and fund-raised monies to provide assistance when needed; and, 


Whereas, Stoughton has been the beneficiary of many volunteer projects such as 


the Opera House renovation, Youth Center projects, hospital expansion, and 
numerous park projects, to name only a few; and  


Whereas, volunteerism proves to be a full circle, as those who receive are grateful, 


those who volunteer are humble, and those in our community are thankful; and 


Whereas, National Volunteer Week reflects the power that volunteers and 


extraordinary business owners have to inspire by example—volunteers both 
encourage those they help and motivate others to serve; now, 
 


Therefore, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, proclaim  
 


                        Mia Cabibo Croyle 
 


Stoughton’s Friend of Youth Year of 2021, in recognition for                                            
work in the community.  


Thank you for all that you do. 
 


In testimony whereof, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, hereunto set my hand and 
caused the great seal of the City of Stoughton to be affixed this thirteenth day of April in the year two 
thousand and twenty one. 


 


 
Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton 
 








 
 


 
Whereas, Stoughton is a community known for the dedication and commitment of 


its citizens; and 


Whereas, over the years our community has benefitted from countless volunteers 


and extraordinary business owners providing time, energy, and helping hands; and 


Whereas, volunteer efforts have kept our food pantry stocked, delivered meals to 


our homebound, and fund-raised monies to provide assistance when needed; and, 


Whereas, Stoughton has been the beneficiary of many volunteer projects such as 


the Opera House renovation, Youth Center projects, hospital expansion, and 
numerous park projects, to name only a few; and  


Whereas, volunteerism proves to be a full circle, as those who receive are grateful, 


those who volunteer are humble, and those in our community are thankful; and 


Whereas, National Volunteer Week reflects the power that volunteers and 


extraordinary business owners have to inspire by example—volunteers both 
encourage those they help and motivate others to serve; now, 
 


Therefore, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, proclaim  
 


Meals on Wheels Volunteers 
 


Stoughton’s Volunteer of the Year of 2021, in recognition for                                            
work in the community.  


Thank you for all that you do. 
 


In testimony whereof, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, hereunto set my hand and 
caused the great seal of the City of Stoughton to be affixed this thirteenth day of April in the year two 
thousand and twenty one. 


 


 
Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton 
 








 
 


 
Whereas, Stoughton is a community known for the dedication and commitment of 


its citizens; and 


Whereas, over the years our community has benefitted from countless volunteers 


and extraordinary business owners providing time, energy, and helping hands; and 


Whereas, volunteer efforts have kept our food pantry stocked, delivered meals to 


our homebound, and fund-raised monies to provide assistance when needed; and, 


Whereas, Stoughton has been the beneficiary of many volunteer projects such as 


the Opera House renovation, Youth Center projects, hospital expansion, and 
numerous park projects, to name only a few; and  


Whereas, volunteerism proves to be a full circle, as those who receive are grateful, 


those who volunteer are humble, and those in our community are thankful; and 


Whereas, National Volunteer Week reflects the power that volunteers and 


extraordinary business owners have to inspire by example—volunteers both 
encourage those they help and motivate others to serve; now, 
 


Therefore, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, proclaim  
 


                          Mia Cabibo Croyle 
 


Stoughton’s Volunteer of the Year of 2021, in recognition for                                            
work in the community.  


Thank you for all that you do. 
 


In testimony whereof, I, Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton, hereunto set my hand and 
caused the great seal of the City of Stoughton to be affixed this thirteenth day of April in the year two 
thousand and twenty one. 


 


 
Tim Swadley, Mayor of the City of Stoughton 
 








Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street Pave Public Roa


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
ve


 
P
ub


li
c 


R
oa





TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


2


T220051


April 2021


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental Interest
(See map labels)


Former Railroad


Sanitation Sewer


Sanitary Manhole


Storm Sewer


Storm Inlet


Water Line


Water Valve


Gas Line


Gas Valve


Yahara River


2020 AECOM Soil Boring


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well


Approximate Property Boundary


LEGEND


Current landscape drawn
from Google Earth aerial
imagery dated 6/13/2020.
Overlay of previous buildings
adapted from Google Earth
aerial imagery dated
10/3/2018. Boring Locations
from GPS coordinates and
Historic Areas of
Environmental Interest
provided by AECOM. Utility
information from Survey
dated 9/5/2019. All
measurements and provided
scale are approximate.
*Additional Geolocation credit: 2020
Microsoft Corporation, 2020 Maxar,
CNES (2020) Distribution Airbus DS,
2020 HERE & Bing


NOTES


Existing


Power Plant


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring


2018 AECOM Soil Boring


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


E South Street Paved Public oad


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
ve


d 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


d


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


H
ydraulic G


radient Value


i  =
 0.02790


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


Groundwater Elevation Contour Map


T220051


April 2021


Former Areas of Environmental Interest
(See map labels)


Former Railroad


Approximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


True North Groundwater
Monitoring Well Location (2/3/21)


3


Elev=828.87'


Elev=834.06'


Elev=834.26'


Elev=834.77'


Elev=835.88'


Elev=836.11'


Groundwater Elevation in Feet


82
9 .00


'


82
9 .50


'


83
0 .0


0 '


83
0


.5
0


'


8
31


.0
0


'


8
31


.5
0


'


8
32


.0
0


'


8
32


.5
0


'8
33


.0
0


'


8
33


.5
0


'


8
34


.0
0


'


8
34


.5
0


'


8
35


.0
0


'


8
35


.5
0


'


8
36


.0
0


'


8
36


.5
0


'



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street (Paed Public oad)


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
(P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


d)


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


4


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


*Boring Markers filled  in Red E xceed NR 720
Residual Contaminant Level  C riteria - See
Call out and Legend for Details


A = Non-Industrial Direct Contact
B = Industrial Direct Contact
C = Protection of Groundwater Pathway


NR 720 RCL Criteria Legend:


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-2
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Naphthalene


381 (A)
539 (C)
397 (C)
887 (C)


683 (A, C)
937 (C)
734 (C)
171 (A)


Detected
(Eceeds)


2-3'1/26/2021 5-6'


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-3
ug/Kg


Benzo (a)anthracene
Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Dibenz(a,h)anthracene
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene
Naphthalene


6,600 (A)
7,480 (A,B,C)
10,700 (A,C)
9,140 (C)


2,270 (A,B)
6,510 (A)
1,150 (C)


6,960 (A)
8,120 (A,B,C)
10,600 (A,C)
8,360 (C)
1,860 (A)
5,540 (A)
962 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


2-3'1/26/2021 4-5'


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-4
ug/Kg


Benzo (a)anthracene
Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Benzo(k)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Dibenz(a,h)anthracene
Fluoranthene
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene
Naphthalene
Pyrene


3,070 (A)
3,150 (A,B,C)
4,580 (A,C)


3,960 (C)
702 (A)


2,040 (A)
1,090 (C)


173,000 (A,B)
119,000 (A,B,C)
122,000 (A,B,C)


49,800 (A)
138,000 (A,C)
16,500 (A,B)
339,000 (C)
48,900 (A,B)


491,000 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


2-3'1/26/2021 5-6'


600 (A,C)
507 (C)


650 (C)


7-8'
Detected
(Eceeds)


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-5
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene


513 (A,C)
866 (C)
683 (C)


3-4'1/26/2021


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-6
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)anthracene
Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Dibenz(a,h)anthracene
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene
Naphthalene


2,100 (A)
1,960 (A,C)
2,340 (A,C)
2,790 (C)
466 (A)
1,230 (A)
1,620 (C)


5-6'1/26/2021


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TNC-3
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Dibenz(a,h)anthracene


885 (A,C)
1,020 (C)
798 (C)
200 (A)


3-4'1/26/2021


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-1
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene
Chrysene


616 (A,C)
1,010 (C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-2
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)anthracene
Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Dibenz(a,h)anthracene
Naphthalene


6,880 (A)
3,480 (A,B,C)
2,310 (A,C)
13,000 (C)
1,020 (A)
735 (C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


DUP-1
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene
Chrysene


346 (A)
853 (C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-3
ug/Kg


Benzo (a)anthracene
Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Dibenz(a,h)anthracene


4,690 (A)
3,410 (A,B,C)
1,370 (A,C)


9,030 (A)
7,590 (A,B,C)
3,320 (A,C)


913 (C)
711 (A)


Detected
(Eceeds)


3-4'1/29/2020 16-17'


Detected (Eceeds)
Containant


DUP-2
ug/Kg


Benzo (a)anthracene
Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Dibenz(a,h)anthracene


15,500 (A)
8,610 (A,B,C)
5,870 (A,C)
19,400 (C)
841 (A)


16-17'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-4
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene
Chrysene


309 (A)
169 (C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-5
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene
Chrysene


433 (A)
478 (C)


1-2'1/29/2020
Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-6
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene 642 (A,C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-12
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene
Chrysene


130 (A)
351 (C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-14
ug/Kg


1-Methylnaphthalene
Benzo (a)anthracene
Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Dibenz(a,h)anthracene
Fluorene
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene
Naphthalene
Pyrene


14,800 (A)
12,700 (A,B,C)
4,900 (A,C)
10,100 (C)
1,430 (A)


1,120 (C)


50,700 (A)
33,100 (A,B)


20,900 (A,B,C)
12,200 (A,C)
70,300 (C)


34,000 (A,B)
57,000 (C)
81,900 (A,B)


266,000 (A,B,C)
93,500 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


1-2'1/29/2020 8-9'


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-15
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene
Chrysene


396 (A)
301 (C)


244 (A)
1,170 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


1-2'1/29/2020 5-6'


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-16
ug/Kg


Benzo(a)pyrene
Chrysene


233 (A)
239 (C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Soil Analytical PAHs



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street (Paed Public Road)


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
(P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 


R
oa


d)


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


5


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


*Boring Markers filled  in Red E xceed NR 720
Residual Contaminant Level  C riteria - See
Call out and Legend for Details


A = Non-Industrial Direct Contact
B = Industrial Direct Contact
C = Protection of Groundwater Pathway


NR 720 RCL Criteria Legend:


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


TMW-1
mg/Kg


Arsenic 1.6 (A,C)


5-6'1/26/2021


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


TMW-2
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Barium
Lead


6.7 (A,B,C)
168 (C)
72.3 (C)


5.8 (A,B,C)


77.7 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


2-3'1/26/2021 5-6'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


TMW-3
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Cadmium
Lead


7.9 (A,B,C)


270 (C)


10.0 (A,B,C)
1.0 (C)


59.4 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


2-3'1/26/2021 5-6'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


TMW-4
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Barium
Cadmium
Lead


14.2 (A,B,C)


5.9 (C)
117 (C)


1.9 (A,C)
210 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


2-3'1/26/2021 5-6'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


TMW-5
mg/Kg


Arsenic 1.9 (A,C) 2.4 (A,B,C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


3-4'1/26/2021 5-6'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


TMW-6
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Cadmium
Lead


8.1 (A,B,C)


102 (C)


22.1 (A,B,C)
1.4 (C)
375 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


3-4'1/26/2021 5-6'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


TNC-1
mg/Kg


Arsenic 1.6 (A,C)


2-3'1/26/2021


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


TNC-2
mg/Kg


Arsenic 2.5 (A,B,C) 2.6 (A,B,C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


2-3'1/26/2021 5-6'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


TNC-3
mg/Kg


Arsenic 1.5 (A,C)


5-6'1/26/2021


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-5
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Lead
Selenium


8.4 (A,B,C)
129 (C)
1.5 (C)


226 (C)
0.64 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


1-2'11/6/2018 4-5'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-13
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Lead
Selenium


4.9 (A,B,C)
47.9 (C)
2.2 (C)


10.0 (A,B,C)


2.2 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


1-2'11/6/2018 4-5'


10.5 (A,B,C)


2.5 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


4-5' D


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-1
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Barium
Cadmium
Lead
Selenium
Mercury


8.2 (A,B,C)
177 (C)
1.2 (C)
380 (C)


0.53 (C)


2.9 (A,B,C)


2.9 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


1-2'1/29/2020 11-12'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-3
mg/Kg


Arsenic 2.6 (A,B,C) 1.9 (A,C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


3-4'1/29/2020 16-17'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-4
mg/Kg


Arsenic 6.2 (A,B,C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


DUP-2
mg/Kg


Arsenic 1.9 (A,C)


11-12'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-5
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Cadmium


4.8 (A,B,C)
1.5 (C)


5-6'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-2
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Lead


3.9 (A,B,C)
178 (C)


1.5 (A,C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


1-2'1/29/2020 10-11'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


DUP-1
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Lead
Mercury


3.6 (A,B,C)
281 (C)
0.22 (C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-6
mg/Kg


Arsenic 9.5 (A,B,C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-11
mg/Kg


Arsenic 1.9 (A,C)


4-5'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-13
mg/Kg


Arsenic 2.1 (A,C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-14
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Lead


7.2 (A,B,C)
100 (C)


7.3 (A,B,C)
112 (C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


1-2'1/29/2020 5-6'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-15
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Lead
Mercury


4.1 (A,B,C)
203 (C)
0.38 (C)


2.2 (A,C)


Detected
(Eceeds)


1-2'1/29/2020 5-6'


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-16
mg/Kg


Arsenic
Cadmium


3.6 (A,B,C)
1.2 (C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Contaminant


GP-17
mg/Kg


Arsenic 4.3 (A,B,C)


1-2'1/29/2020


Soil Analytical RCRA Metals



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street (Pae Public oa)


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
(P


a
e


 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


)


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


Soil Analytical VOCs


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


6


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


*Boring Markers filled  in Red E xceed NR 720
Residual Contaminant Level  C riteria - See
Call out and Legend for Details


A = Non-Industrial Direct Contact
B = Industrial Direct Contact
C = Protection of Groundwater Pathway


NR 720 RCL Criteria Legend:


etecte
(Ecees)Contaminant


TMW-6
ug/Kg


Benzene
Naphthalene


23.2 (C)
931 (C)


3-4'1/27/2021


etecte
(Ecees)Contaminant


TMW-3
ug/Kg


Benzene
Naphthalene


201 (C)
685 (C)


etecte
(Ecees)


2-6'1/26/2021 6-7'


etecte
(Ecees)Contaminant


GP-14
ug/Kg


1,2,4-Trimethylbenzene
1,3,5-Trimethylbenzene


33,000 (C)
13,900 (C)


8-9'1/29/2020



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street (Paed Public oad)


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
(P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


d)


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


Groundwater Analytical PAHs


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


7


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


*Boring Markers filled  in Red E xceed NR 140
Contaminant Level  C riteria - See Call out and
Legend for Details


D = Enforcement Standard (ES)
E = Preventive Action Limit (PAL)


NR 140 Contaminant Levels Legend:


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-3
ug/L


Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene


0.043 (E)
0.082 (E)


3/4/2021


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-4
ug/L


Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Pyrene


10.0 (D,E)
8.2 (D,E)
13.3 (D,E)
50.6 (E)


2/3/2021


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-6
ug/L


Benzo(a)pyrene
Benzo(b)fluoranthene
Chrysene
Naphthalene


0.83 (D,E)
0.89 (D,E)
1.7 (D,E)
10.0 (E)


2/3/2021



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street (Paed Public Road)


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
(P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 


R
oa


d)


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


Groundwater Analytical RCRA Metals


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


8


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


*Boring Markers filled  in Red E xceed NR 140
Contaminant Level  C riteria - See Call out and
Legend for Details


D = Enforcement Standard (ES)
E = Preventive Action Limit (PAL)


NR 140 Contaminant Levels Legend:


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-1
ug/L


Arsenic 14.3 (D,E)


2/3/2021



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street (Paed Public oad)


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
(P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


d)


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


Groundwater Analytical VOCs


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


9


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


*Boring Markers filled  in Red E xceed NR 140
Contaminant Level  C riteria - See Call out and
Legend for Details


D = Enforcement Standard (ES)
E = Preventive Action Limit (PAL)


NR 140 Contaminant Levels Legend:


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-4
ug/L


Naphthalene
Tetrachloroethene


479 (D,E)
0.67 (E)


2/3/2021


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


TMW-6
ug/L


Benzene
Naphthalene
Tetrachloroethene


1.4 (E)
15.5 (E)
1.7 (E)


2/3/2021


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-9
ug/L


Naphthalene 659 (D,E)


2/7/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


GP-10
ug/L


Naphthalene
Tetrachloroethene
Trichloroethene


2,260 (D,E)
8.3 (D,E)
4.1 (E)


2/7/2020


Detected
(Eceeds)Containant


DUP-1
ug/L


Naphthalene 1,820 (D,E)


2/7/2020



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street Paed Public oad


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


d


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


10


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


NR 720 RCL Non-Industrial Direct Contact:


Soil PAHs Exceedance Contours: Non-Industrial Direct Contact


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >5,000 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >1,000 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >500 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >100 µg/Kg



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street Paed Public oad


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


d


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


10


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


NR 720 RCL Protection of Groundwater Pathway:


Soil PAHs Exceedance Contours: Protection of Groundwater Pathway


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >5,000 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >1,000 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >500 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >100 µg/Kg



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street Paed Public Road


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 


R
oa


d


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


12


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


Soil RCRA Metals Exceedance Contours: Non-Industrial Direct Contact


NR 720 RCL Non-Industrial Direct Contact:
Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >5 mg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >1 mg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >0.5 mg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >0.1 mg/Kg



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street Paed Public Road


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 


R
oa


d


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


13


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


Soil RCRA Metals Exceedance Contours: Protection of Groundwater Pathway


NR 720 RCL Protection of Groundwater Pathway:
Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >5 mg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >1 mg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >0.5 mg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >0.1 mg/Kg



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street Paed Public oad


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


d


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


14


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


Soil VOCs Exceedance Contours: Non-Industrial Direct Contact


NR 720 RCL Non-Industrial Direct Contact:
Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >5,000 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >1,000 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >500 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >100 µg/Kg



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


GP-1


GP-2


GP-3


GP-4


GP-5


GP-6


GP-7


GP-8


GP-9


GP-10


GP-11


GP-12


GP-13


GP-14


GP-15


GP-16


GP-17


E South Street Paed Public oad


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


d


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


TNC-3


TNC-2


TNC-1


GP-5


GP-13
B2


B1


B3


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


15


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


Soil VOCs Exceedance Contours: Protection of Groundwater Pathway


NR 720 RCL Non-Industrial Direct Contact:
Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >5,000 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >1,000 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >500 µg/Kg


Approximate Extent
of Contaminants at >100 µg/Kg



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


E South Street Paed Public oad


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


d


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


Groundwater PAHs Exceedance Contours


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


16


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


NR 140 Contaminant Levels:


Approximate Extent of Contaminants
Above Enforcement Standard Levels (ES)


Approximate Extent of Contaminants
Above Preventative Action Limit (PAL)



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


E South Street Paed Public Road


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 


R
oa


d


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


Groundwater RCRA Metals Exceedance Contours


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


17


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


NR 140 Contaminant Levels:


Approximate Extent of Contaminants
Above Enforcement Standard Levels (ES)


Approximate Extent of Contaminants
Above Preventative Action Limit (PAL)



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30







Former
Crude


Oil Tanks


Former Gas Plant


Former Transformer


Former Gas Holder


E South Street Paed Public oad


S
 4


th
 S


tr
ee


t
P


a
e


d 
P
ub


li
c 



oa


d


TMW-5


TMW-6


TMW-4


TMW-3


TMW-2


TMW-1


Stoughton Public Works Garage
501 & 515 South 4th Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


City of Stoughton
207 S Forrest Street
Stoughton, WI 53589


Groundwater VOCs Exceedance Contours


T220051


April 2021


Former RailroadApproximate Property Boundary


Former Building Footprint


Former Areas of Environmental
Interest (See map labels)


LEGEND


Existing


Power Plant


18


2020 AECOM Soil Boring*


2020 AECOM Soil Boring &
Temp Well*


2015 CGC Geotechnical Boring*


2018 AECOM Soil Boring*


2021 True North Soil Boring
Location*


2021 True North Soil Boring/
Monitoring Well Location*


NR 140 Contaminant Levels:


Approximate Extent of Contaminants
Above Enforcement Standard Levels (ES)


Approximate Extent of Contaminants
Above Preventative Action Limit (PAL)


GP-17


GP-1


GP-13


GP-6


DUP-1 (GP-2)


GP-9


GP-10



AutoCAD SHX Text

525 Junction Road,  Suite 1900 Madison, Wisconsin 53717



AutoCAD SHX Text

Site Location:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Client:



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE IN FEET



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

Figure:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Project Number:



AutoCAD SHX Text

Date:



AutoCAD SHX Text

30



AutoCAD SHX Text

30





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_2.1

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 2.1





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 3

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 3





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 4

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 4





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 5

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 5





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 6

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 6





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 7

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 7





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 8

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 8





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 9

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 9





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 10

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 10





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 11

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 11





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 12

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 12





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 13

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 13





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 14

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 14





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 15

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 15





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 16

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 16





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 17

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 17





		T220051 STOUGHTON WI_4-7-21-Figure 18

		Sheets and Views

		Figure 18










Meeting of: MEETING OF COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 


STOUGHTON 


Date//Time: Tuesday, March 23, 2021 @ 7:00 p.m. The GoToMeeting line will be open at 


6:50 p.m. so everyone can get connected. No business will be conducted until 


7:00 p.m. 


Location: The meeting of the Common Council will be conducted virtually due to 


COVID-19. You can join the meeting from your computer tablet or smartphone: 


https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/404893157. You can also dial in 


using your phone: +1 (646) 749-3129 . Access Code: 404-893-157.    


The meeting can also be livestreamed on https://wsto.tv/live and 


Spectrum Channel 981. 


 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Ozzie Doom, Ben Heili, 


Regina Hirsch, Fred Hundt, Greg Jenson, Jean Ligocki, Tom Majewski, Lisa 


Reeves, and Brett Schumacher, Joyce Tikalsky 


 


Roll Call:  


Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 7:05 p.m.  


 


Clerk Licht called the roll and noted there were 12 alders present.  


 


Minutes and Reports: the following minutes and reports were entered into the record.  


Landmarks (2/11/21): Plan Commission (2/8/21, 2/24/21); Parks & Rec (1/19/21); Rivers & Trails Task 


Force (11/2/20); Tree Commission (2/11/21); Finance (2/23/21)  


 


Public Comment Period: 


 If you would like to speak during public comment period, please fill out the form and 


submit it by 6:30 p.m. on March 23, 2021. http://speak.cityofstoughton.com.  


 


Communications and Presentations  


 $550,000 KPW Phase I Municipal Revenue Obligation Release 


 Director Friedl gave an update on Stimulus relief  


 


Consent Agenda 


A. March 9, 2021 Council Minutes 


 


Motion by Reeves, second by Tikalsky to approve the consent agenda. Motion carried 12-0. 


O-7-2021- Amending Sections 66-904 (8) of the Stoughton Municipal Code 


 


Motion by Majewski, second by Tikalsky to approve O-7-2021 Amending Sections 66-904 (8) of 


the Stoughton Municipal Code . Motion carried 12-0. 



https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/404893157

tel:+16467493129,,404893157

https://wsto.tv/live

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/





O-8-2021- Amending Sec. 2-67 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; Appointments 


Motion by Heili, second by Tikalsky to approve O-8-2021Amending Sec. 2-67 of the City of 


Stoughton Municipal Code; Appointments. Motion by Tikalsky, second Boersma to amend the 


ordinance to say up to 2 city of Stoughton residents “from different districts”. Motion carried 12-


0. Motion to amend by Tikalsky, second by Boersma after from districts who are not immediate 


family members of city council members appointed to the same standing committee.  Motion 


carried 12-0.  Motion by Tikalsky, second by Hundt to add no citizen member shall serve on the 


same committee for more than 3 consecutive years. Motion failed 3-9 with Tikalsky, Hundt and 


Boersma voting “yes”. Motion by Jenson, second by Hundt to put a sunset clause that we review 


these changes prior to reorganization in April 2022. Motion withdrew. Original motion carried 


12-0. 


O- 9-2021- Amending Chapter 78, Zoning Code as follows:  Amend Section 78-611, Repeal and 


Remove Table 78-611 and Repeal and Recreate Appendix B of the Stoughton Municipal Code 


Caravello read O-9-2021 as a first reading. It will be back before the council on April 13th.  


R-31-2021-  Approving a Conditional Use Permit request by Danny Senf for Pizza Hut at 1400 US 


Highway 51-138, Stoughton, Wisconsin.  (Site plan dated 3/3/21) 


 


Motion by Caravello, second by Majewski to approve R-31-2021 Approving a Conditional Use 


Permit request by Danny Senf for Pizza Hut at 1400 US Highway 51-138, Stoughton, Wisconsin.  (Site 


plan dated 3/3/21). Motion carried 12-0. 


R-32-2021- Review and Approval of the City’s Annual Storm Water Permit Report – WPDES Permit 


No. WI-S058416-4 


 


Motion by Majewski, second by Hundt to approve R-32-2021 Review and Approval of the City’s 


Annual Storm Water Permit Report – WPDES Permit No. WI-S058416-4.  Motion carried 12-0. 


R-33-2021- Resolution authorizing the City Finance Director to reclassify $70,000 currently assigned to 


Liability Loss Insurance in the City’s Fund Balance to Unassigned Fund Balance 


Motion by Schumacher, second by Jenson to approve R-33-2021 Resolution authorizing the City 


Finance Director to reclassify $70,000 currently Assigned to Liability Loss Insurance in the City’s Fund 


Balance to Unassigned Fund Balance. Motion carried 12-0. 


R-34-2021- Resolution to forgive the amounts advanced to the City of Stoughton Redevelopment 


Authority from the City of Stoughton totaling $66,574 


Motion by Schumacher, second by Jenson to approve R-34-2021 Resolution to forgive the 


amounts advanced to the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority from the City of 


Stoughton totaling $66,574. Motion carried 12-0. 


R-35-2021- Approval of the Fiber Optic Agreement and Grant of Indefeasible Right of Use 


(IRU) Between the City of Stoughton and TDS Metrocom 







Motion by Jenson, second by Schumacher to approve R-35-2021 Approval of the Fiber Optic 


Agreement and Grant of Indefeasible Right of Use (IRU) Between the City of Stoughton and 


TDS Metrocom. Motion carried 11-0 with Tikalsky abstaining.  


R-36-2021- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to approve the write-off of 


Stoughton Utilities delinquent account balances and invoices deemed uncollectible as of 


December 31, 2020 


 


Motion by Jenson, second by Reeves to approve R-36-2021. Authorizing and directing the 


proper City official(s) to approve the write-off of Stoughton Utilities delinquent account balances 


and invoices deemed uncollectible as of December 31, 2020. Motion carried 12-0. 


R-37-2021- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to enter into an agreement with 


Five Star Energy Services, LLC for the 2021 Lead Water Service Replacements Contract 4-2021 


Motion by Jenson, second by Schumacher to approve R-37-2021. Authorizing and directing the 


proper City official(s) to enter into an agreement with Five Star Energy Services, LLC for the 


2021 Lead Water Service Replacements Contract 4-2021. Motion carried 12-0. 


R-38-2021-Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to execute the Wisconsin 


Department of Natural Resources Principal Forgiven Financial Assistance Agreement. 


 


Motion by Jenson, second by Doom to approve R-38-2021 Authorizing and directing the proper 


City official(s) to execute the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources Principal Forgiven 


Financial Assistance Agreement. Motion carried 12-0. 


R-39-2021-Resolution approving the City of Stoughton Utilities' Committee Declaration of 


Intent to Borrow 2021-1 


 


Motion by Jenson, second by Schumacher to approve R-39-2021 Resolution approving the City 


of Stoughton Utilities' Committee Declaration of Intent to Borrow 2021-1. Motion carried 12-0. 


Adjournment:  


Motion be Jenson, second by Majewski to adjourn at 8:49 p.m. Motion carried 12-0. 


 


Respectfully Submitted,  


Holly Licht, City Clerk  


 


 


 





